Springer Monographs in Mathematics

Erling Størmer

Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras



Springer Monographs in Mathematics

For further volumes: www.springer.com/series/3733 Erling Størmer

Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras



Erling Størmer Department of Mathematics University of Oslo Oslo, Norway

ISSN 1439-7382 Springer Monographs in Mathematics ISBN 978-3-642-34368-1 ISBN 978-3-642-34369-8 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8 Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012954674

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 46L60, 46L70

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Clearance Center. Violations are liable to prosecution under the respective Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Introduction

The study of positive maps of C^* -algebras started around 1950 with Kadison's generalized Schwarz inequality and characterizations of isometries of C^* -algebras, [35, 36]. A few years later Stinespring introduced completely positive maps and showed his famous dilation theorem [70]. A little later Tomiyama proved some of the basic results on positive projections of von Neumann algebras onto von Neumann subalgebras, called conditional expectations [92]. After that the theory gradually developed, but with rather few people involved. A change came in the 1990's when it became clear that positive maps are important in the study of entanglement in quantum information theory. Since then the interest in the subject has increased considerably, as has the development of the theory.

The aim of the present book is to present the main part of the theory of positive maps as it stands today. We start with the basic results in Chap. 1 and prove in particular the Stinespring Theorem and the inequalities for positive maps that follow from it. It turns out that the order theory of C^* -algebras is closely related to Jordan algebras. In Chap. 2 we study positive maps from this point of view, and in particular study projection maps and their images. The unit ball of maps from one C^* -algebra into another is a convex set. As might be expected, many of the extreme points of this convex set have special properties. This topic will be treated in Chap. 3.

From Chap. 4 on much of the theory will be developed in finite dimensions. There are three main reasons for this; firstly, the main ideas come from finite dimensions, the extension to infinite dimensions are often unnecessarily technical, and the applications to quantum information theory are mostly in finite dimensions. The reader who is mainly interested in this part may skip Chaps. 2 and 3 on first reading.

Since we shall mainly be interested in properties of positive maps, and each C^* algebra can be considered as a subalgebra of B(H)—the bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space H, we shall mostly restrict attention to maps into B(H). If a map is from B(K) into B(H) with K finite dimensional, a very useful technique was introduced by Choi [7] and Jamiolkowski [30], namely the Choi matrix for a map. This matrix yields an isomorphism of the linear maps of B(K) into B(H)onto $B(K \otimes H)$, identified with $B(K) \otimes B(H)$. Thus problems on positive maps are reformulated in terms of matrices. Their basic properties will be studied in Chap. 4. In Chap. 5 we introduce cones of maps in P(H)—the positive maps of B(H) into itself—called mapping cones, and positivity of maps into B(H) with respect to mapping cones. An important result in this connection is a Hahn-Banach type theorem for maps positive with respect to a mapping cone, which implies that we may restrict attention to maps of B(K) into B(H). This will be done in the three last chapters, which are all to a great extent inspired by quantum information theory. In Chap. 6 we study the dual cones of mapping cones, in Chap. 7 applications to states, and in Chap. 8 we consider different norms on positive maps.

In order to reach a more general audience the mathematical level of the book is kept as elementary as possible. We have therefore avoided proofs which require much of the theory of von Neumann algebras and the second dual of C^* -algebras. Therefore some results appear in less generality than is possible. In the Appendix we include some results and references which will be used in the text.

Since our main goal is the study of positive maps as such, we have omitted theory of more general type and closely related results concerning maps which are not positive.We have therefore not included results on completely bounded maps. For this see the book [59]. Furthermore, we have not included results on the facial structure of P(H), nor the dual action on the state spaces of C^* -algebras given by unital positive maps. For a survey on the facial structure see [45]. For exposed maps see e.g. [13, 19]. Another area where positive maps appear, is in operator spaces. In that context the maps are usually completely positive, see [14]. However, there is a close connection with positive maps of C^* -algebras, which is shown in [34].

Most of the results in this book have not appeared in book form before. The exceptions are the basic theory of completely positive maps, which is well treated in Paulsen's book [59] and partly in Effros and Ruan's book [14]. Furthermore parts of the content of Chaps. 4, 6 and 7 are considered in the book [2] by Bengtsson and Zyczkowski, but then in a more descriptive form. For a survey of the theory as it was prior to 1974 see the survey article [75] by the author.

Contents

1	Gen	eralities for Positive Maps		
	1.1	Basic Definitions		
	1.2	Completely Positive Maps		
	1.3	Inequalities		
	1.4	The Adjoint Map		
	1.5	Notes		
2	Jordan Algebras and Projection Maps			
	2.1	Jordan Properties of Positive Maps 13		
	2.2	Projection Maps		
	2.3	Spin Factors		
	2.4	Notes		
3	Extremal Positive Maps			
	3.1	General Properties of Extremal Maps		
	3.2	Jordan Homomorphisms		
	3.3	Maps which Preserve Vector States		
	3.4	Nonextendible Maps		
	3.5	A Radon-Nikodym Theorem 44		
	3.6	Notes		
4	Cho	i Matrices and Dual Functionals 49		
	4.1	The Choi Matrix		
	4.2	The Dual Functional of a Map		
	4.3	Notes		
_	M			
3		ping Cones		
	5.1 5.2	Basic Properties 03 The Extension Theorem 70		
	5.2 5.3	Ine Extension meorem 70 Notes 73		
	5.5	Notes		
6	Dua	l Cones		
	6.1	Basic Results		

	6.2	Examples of Dual Cones		
	6.3	Maps on the 2×2 Matrices		
	6.4	Tensor Products		
	6.5	Notes		
7	State	es and Positive Maps		
	7.1	Positivity Properties of Linear Functionals		
	7.2	PPT-States		
	7.3	The Choi Map		
	7.4	Entanglement		
	7.5	Super-positive Maps		
	7.6	Notes		
8	Nori	ns of Positive Maps		
	8.1	Norms of Maps		
	8.2	Notes		
Appendix				
••	A.1	Topologies on $B(H)$		
	A.2	Tensor Products		
	A.3	An Extension Theorem		
References				
List of Notations				
Index				

Chapter 1 Generalities for Positive Maps

In this chapter we introduce the basic notions of positive maps. We show the main results on completely positive maps, inequalities and norm properties, plus the adjoint map.

1.1 Basic Definitions

It is expected that the reader knows the basic elements of operator algebra theory. But for the reader's convenience we shall state the main definitions and results we need, in the Appendix. Since there are different notations and conventions in use for the main concepts, we first introduce the basic ones used in this book.

The inner product on a complex Hilbert space H is denoted by

$$(\xi, \eta), \xi, \eta \in H.$$

The inner product is linear in the left variable and conjugate linear in the right.

We denote by B(H) the bounded linear operators on H. $M_n = M_n(\mathbb{C})$ denotes the complex $n \times n$ -matrices. It is identified with $B(\mathbb{C}^n)$. If A is a C^* -algebra we also use the notation $M_n(A)$ for the $n \times n$ -matrices with entries in A. The transpose map is denoted by t, so that $t((a_{ij})) = (a_{ij})^t = (a_{ji})$. Tr will always denote the trace on M_n which takes the value 1 at minimal projections. The notation is independent of n, but will be clear from the context.

Definition 1.1.1 Let *A* and *B* be C^* -algebras. A linear map $\phi : A \to B$ is said to be *positive*, written $\phi \ge 0$, if $\phi(a) \ge 0$ whenever $a \ge 0$.

When we say a map is positive we always implicitly assume it is linear. Note that the definition makes sense in much more general circumstances, e.g. when A is an *operator system*, i.e. a linear subspace $A \subset B(H)$ such that $a \in A$ implies $a^* \in A$ and $1 \in A$. We shall often use the notation B(A, H) for the linear space of bounded linear maps of A into B(H) and $B(A, H)^+$ for the positive maps in B(A, H). Since each self-adjoint operator is the difference of two positive operators with orthogonal supports, a positive map ϕ carries self-adjoint operators to self-adjoint operators. If a = b + ic with b and c self-adjoint in A, we get

$$\phi(a^*) = \phi(b) - i\phi(c) = \phi(a)^*,$$

so ϕ preserves adjoints, and is often referred to as a *self-adjoint* linear map. If *A* has an identity 1 and $a \in A$ is self-adjoint, then $-||a||1 \le a \le ||a||1$, so $-||a||\phi(1) \le \phi(a) \le ||a||\phi(1)$. Thus the norm of the restriction $\phi|_{A_{sa}}$ of ϕ to the self-adjoint part of *A*, is $||\phi(1)||$. If *A* does not contain 1 then we can extend ϕ to \tilde{A} —the *C**-algebra *A* with 1 adjoined, i.e. $\tilde{A} = A + \mathbb{C}1$, and define $\phi(1)$ to be $||\phi|_{A_{sa}}||1$. If a = b + icas above we have

$$\|\phi(a)\| \le \|\phi(b)\| + \|\phi(c)\| \le 2\|\phi(1)\|\|a\|,$$

because ||b||, $||c|| \le ||a||$. Thus every positive map is bounded and therefore continuous. We shall see later that $||\phi|| = ||\phi(1)||$.

A linear functional ρ on a C^* -algebra A is called a *state* if it is positive on positive operators and has norm 1. In particular if $1 \in A$, $\rho(1) = 1$. If $A = M_n$ the *density matrix* for ρ is the positive matrix h such that $\rho(a) = Tr(ha)$ for $a \in A$. If ρ is a state on $M_n \otimes M_m$, ρ is said to be a *product state* if there are states ρ_1 on M_n and ρ_2 on M_m such that $\rho = \rho_1 \otimes \rho_2$. ρ is said to be *separable* if it is a convex sum of product states.

1.2 Completely Positive Maps

Positive maps are divided into several classes of which the completely positive maps have been the most important. This has also been the case in applications to physics, see [49]. See the Appendix for a discussion of tensor products.

Definition 1.2.1 Let $\phi : A \to B$ be a linear map, and let $k \in \mathbb{N}$ —the natural numbers. Then ϕ is *k*-positive if $\phi \otimes i_k : A \otimes M_k \to B \otimes M_k$ is positive, i_k denotes the identity map on M_k . ϕ is said to be *completely positive* if ϕ is *k*-positive for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

A restatement of the definition of *k*-positivity is that if $(a_{ij}) \in M_k(A)^+$ —the positive elements in $M_k(A)$ —then $(\phi(a_{ij})) \in M_k(B)^+$. Note also that since the flip map $A \otimes M_k \to M_k \otimes A$, defined by $a \otimes b \mapsto b \otimes a$, is an isomorphism, ϕ is also *k*-positive if and only if $i_k \otimes \phi : M_k \otimes A \to M_k \otimes B$ is positive.

We next list some properties of *k*-positive, and hence completely positive maps. But first recall that a *-*anti-homomorphism* is a self-adjoint linear map ϕ such that $\phi(ab) = \phi(b)\phi(a)$. We shall often drop the prefix * when we say a map is a *-homomorphism or an *-anti-homomorphism. If *K* and *H* are Hilbert spaces, and $V: H \to K$ is a bounded linear operator, then AdV denotes the map of B(K) into B(H) defined by

$$AdV(a) = V^*aV.$$

Since every C^* -algebra can be imbedded in B(H) for some Hilbert space H, we can often replace the C^* -algebra B in Definition 1.2.1 by B(H).

Lemma 1.2.2 Let $A \subset B(K)$ and $B \subset B(H)$ be C^* -algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a self-adjoint linear map.

- (i) If $\phi = AdV$ for a bounded operator $V : H \to K$, then ϕ is completely positive.
- (ii) If ϕ is a *-homomorphism then ϕ is completely positive.
- (iii) If A_0 and B_0 are C^* -algebras, ϕ k-positive and $\alpha : A_0 \to A$, $\beta : B \to B_0$ are k-positive then $\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha$ is k-positive.
- (iv) If in (iii) α and β are *-anti-homomorphisms and ϕ k-positive, then $\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha$ is k-positive.

Proof (i) This follows since $AdV \otimes i_k = Ad(V \otimes 1_k)$ is positive, where i_k is the identity map on M_k .

(ii) Similarly if ϕ is a homomorphism, then so is $\phi \otimes i_k$, hence is positive.

(iii) Since

$$(\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha) \otimes i_k = (\beta \otimes i_k) \otimes (\phi \otimes i_k) \otimes (\alpha \otimes i_k)$$

is a composition of positive maps, $\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha$ is *k*-positive.

(iv) Similarly if α and β are anti-homomorphisms then

 $(\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha) \otimes i_k = (\beta \otimes t) \circ (\phi \otimes i_k) \otimes (\alpha \otimes t),$

as $t^2 = i_k$. Since $\alpha \otimes t$ and $\beta \otimes t$ are *-anti-homomorphisms they are positive maps, so again $\beta \circ \phi \circ \alpha$ is *k*-positive.

If $(a_{ij}), (b_{ij}) \in M_n$ then their Schur product is the matrix $(a_{ij}b_{ij}) \in M_n$.

Lemma 1.2.3 If $(a_{ij}) \in M_n^+$ then the Schur product $(b_{ij}) \mapsto (a_{ij}b_{ij})$ is a completely positive map $M_n \to M_n$.

Proof By spectral theory we may assume (a_{ij}) is of rank 1, hence of the form $(\overline{a_i}a_j)$. Let V denote the diagonal matrix with diagonal entries a_1, \ldots, a_n . Then $(a_{ij}b_{ij}) = (\overline{a_i}b_{ij}a_j) = V^*(b_{ij})V$, so the lemma follows from Lemma 1.2.2 part (i).

If either A or B is abelian then a positive map $\phi : A \to B$ is completely positive. In the next two theorems we prove this.

Theorem 1.2.4 Let A and B be C^{*}-algebras with B abelian. Then every positive map $\phi : A \rightarrow B$ is completely positive. In particular, each state on A considered as a positive map of A into \mathbb{C} is completely positive.

Proof We first show that if ρ is a pure state on $B \otimes M_k$ then ρ is a product state. Indeed, since $B \otimes \mathbb{C}1$ is the center of $B \otimes M_k$, if $0 \le b \le 1$ in $B \otimes \mathbb{C}1$ then for all $a \ge 0$ in $B \otimes M_k$, $\rho(ba) \le \rho(a)$. Since ρ is pure it follows that $\rho(ba) = \rho(b)\rho(a)$. Thus, if $\omega = \rho|_{B \otimes \mathbb{C}1}$ and $\eta = \rho|_{\mathbb{C}1 \otimes M_k}$ then for $b \in B$, $a \in M_k$,

$$\rho(b \otimes a) = \rho((b \otimes 1)(1 \otimes a)) = \rho(b \otimes 1)\rho(1 \otimes a)$$
$$= \omega(b)\eta(a) = \omega \otimes \eta(b \otimes a),$$

proving the assertion.

Let now $\phi : A \to B$ be a positive map. Let ρ be a pure state of $B \otimes M_k$. With ω and η as above

$$\rho \circ (\phi \otimes i_k) = (\omega \circ \phi) \otimes (\eta \circ i_k)$$

is the tensor product of two positive linear functionals, hence is positive. Since this holds for all pure states ρ , $\phi \otimes i_k$ is positive, so ϕ is completely positive.

Theorem 1.2.5 Let A and B be C^{*}-algebras with A abelian. Then every positive map $\phi : A \rightarrow B$ is completely positive.

We first give a simple proof when A is finite dimensional. In that case let e_1, \ldots, e_m be the minimal projections in A, so $Ae_i = \mathbb{C}e_i$. Define $\phi_i(a) = \phi(ae_i)$. Then ϕ_i is the composition of the homomorphism $a \mapsto ae_i$ and a positive map $\mathbb{C} \to B(H)$, so is clearly completely positive, hence so is $\phi = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \phi_i$.

Proof of Theorem 1.2.5 We may assume $A = C_0(X)$ —the continuous complex functions vanishing at infinity on a locally compact Hausdorff space, or if A is unital that A = C(X)—the continuous functions on a compact Hausdorff space. Let $a = (f_{ij}) \in M_n(A)^+$. Assume $B \subset B(H)$, and let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n be vectors in H. We wish to show

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left(\phi(f_{ij})\xi_j, \xi_i \right) = \left(\left(\phi(f_{ij}) \right) \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \vdots \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \vdots \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix} \right) \ge 0.$$
(1.1)

By the Riesz-Markoff Theorem there exists a regular measure *m* on *X* such that $\sum_{i=1}^{n} (\phi(f)\xi_i, \xi_i) = \int f \, dm$ for all $f \in A$. Then by the Riesz-Markov and Radon-Nikodym theorems there exist measurable functions h_{ij} such that

$$(\phi(f)\xi_j,\xi_i) = \int fh_{ij}dm \quad \text{for all } f \in A.$$
 (1.2)

1.2 Completely Positive Maps

Let $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n \in \mathbb{C}$. Then we have for $f \ge 0$,

$$\int f(\gamma) \left(\begin{pmatrix} h_{ij}(\gamma) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_n \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_n \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix} dm$$

$$= \int f(\gamma) \sum_{i,j} h_{ij}(\gamma) \lambda_j \overline{\lambda_i} dm$$

$$= \sum_{i,j} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(f)\xi_j, \xi_i \end{pmatrix} \lambda_j \overline{\lambda_i}$$

$$= \left(\begin{pmatrix} \phi(f) & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & \phi(f) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1\xi_1 \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_n\xi_n \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1\xi_1 \\ \vdots \\ \lambda_n\xi_n \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

$$\geq 0,$$

since $\phi(f) \ge 0$ when $f \ge 0$. It follows that for each $\lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$, $((h_{ij}(\gamma))\lambda, \lambda) \ge 0$ almost everywhere. Letting λ run through a countable dense set in \mathbb{C}^n we conclude that $(h_{ij}(\gamma)) \ge 0$ almost everywhere.

Since the evaluation $f \mapsto f(\gamma)$ is a state for $\gamma \in X$, it is completely positive by Theorem 1.2.4, so the matrix $(f_{ij}(\gamma)) \in M_n^+$ for all $\gamma \in X$. Therefore by Lemma 1.2.3 the Schur product

$$(f_{ij}(\gamma)h_{ij}(\gamma)) \ge 0$$

almost everywhere, and so

$$\sum_{i,j} f_{ij}(\gamma) h_{ij}(\gamma) \ge 0 \quad \text{almost everywhere}$$

Thus from (1.1) and (1.2)

$$\sum_{i,j} \left(\phi(f_{ij}) \xi_j, \xi_i \right) = \int \sum_{i,j} f_{ij}(\gamma) h_{ij}(\gamma) \, dm \ge 0,$$

completing the proof.

Remark 1.2.6 An alternative proof of the above theorem would be to show that the cone $(A \otimes M_k)^+$ of positive operators in $A \otimes M_k$ equals the cone $A^+ \otimes M_k^+$ generated by operators $a \otimes b$ with $a \in A^+$, $b \in M_k^+$. In that case, if $a \in (A \otimes M_k)^+$ then *a* is of the form $a = \sum a_i \otimes b_i$, $a_i \in A^+$, $b_i \in M_k^+$, so $(\phi \otimes \iota_k)(a) = \sum \phi(a_i) \otimes b_i \ge 0$, and therefore ϕ is completely positive.

The main result on completely positive maps is the Stinespring Theorem, which is an extension of the GNS construction for states to completely positive maps.

Theorem 1.2.7 Let A be a unital C^* -algebra and $\phi : A \to B(H)$. Then ϕ is completely positive if and only if there exist a Hilbert space K, a bounded linear operator $V : H \to K$ and a *-homomorphism $\pi : A \to B(K)$ such that

$$\phi(a) = V^* \pi(a) V \quad \text{for all } a \in A.$$

Furthermore $||V||^2 \le ||\phi(1)||$.

Proof If ϕ is of the above form then ϕ is completely positive by Lemma 1.2.2.

The proof of the converse is a generalization of the proof of the GNS-representation for a state. We define a sesquilinear form on $A \otimes H$ by

$$\left\langle \sum_{j} b_{j} \otimes \eta_{j}, \sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes \xi_{i} \right\rangle = \sum (\phi(a_{i}^{*}b_{j})\eta_{j}, \xi_{i}),$$

for $a_i, b_j \in A$, $\eta_j, \xi_i \in H$, i = 1, ..., k, j = 1, ..., l. In particular, if $\eta = (\eta_1, ..., \eta_l)$, then

$$\left\langle \sum_{i}^{l} b_{j} \otimes \eta_{j}, \sum_{j} b_{i} \otimes \eta_{i} \right\rangle = \sum_{i}^{l} (\phi(b_{i}^{*}b_{j})\eta_{j}, \eta_{i})$$
$$= ((\phi(b_{i}^{*}b_{j}))\eta, \eta) \ge 0,$$

since ϕ is in particular *l*-positive, and

$$(b_i^*b_j) = \begin{pmatrix} b_1^* & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_l^* & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & \cdots & b_l \\ 0 & & 0 \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in M_l(A)^+.$$

We therefore have a positive semidefinite sesquilinear form, and if we let

$$N = \{ u \in A \otimes H : \langle u, u \rangle = 0 \}$$

then \langle , \rangle induces a Hilbert space inner product on $(A \otimes H)/N$. We let *K* denote the completion of the pre-Hilbert space $(A \otimes H)/N$.

For each $a \in A$ we let $\pi(a)$ be the linear map on $A \otimes H$ defined by

$$\pi(a)\Big(\sum a_j\otimes\xi_j\Big)=\sum aa_j\otimes\xi_j.$$

If $\sum a_j \otimes \xi_j \in A \otimes H$ let $\xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_k)$. We then have

$$\left\langle \pi(a) \left(\sum_{j} a_{j} \otimes \xi_{j} \right), \pi(a) \left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes \xi_{i} \right) \right\rangle$$
$$= \sum \left(\phi(a_{i}^{*} a^{*} a a_{j}) \xi_{j}, \xi_{i} \right)$$

$$= ((\phi(a_i^*a^*aa_j))\xi,\xi)$$

$$\leq \|a\|^2((\phi(a_i^*a_j))\xi,\xi)$$

$$= \|a\|^2 \langle \sum a_j \otimes \xi_j, \sum a_i \otimes \xi_i \rangle.$$

In particular $\pi(a)$ maps N into itself. $\pi(a)$ therefore determines a bounded linear operator, also denoted by $\pi(a)$, of $A \otimes H/N$ into itself. It is clear that $||\pi(a)|| \le ||a||$. Thus $\pi(a)$ extends to a linear operator on K, which we again denote by $\pi(a)$. It is easy to check that $\pi: A \to B(K)$ is a unital *-homomorphism.

Define $V: H \to K$ by

$$V\xi = 1 \otimes \xi + N.$$

Then

$$\|V\xi\|^{2} = \langle V\xi, V\xi \rangle = \langle 1 \otimes \xi, 1 \otimes \xi \rangle = (\phi(1)\xi, \xi)$$
$$\leq \|\phi(1)\| \|\xi\|^{2},$$

so in particular, V is bounded and $||V||^2 \le ||\phi(1)||$. Finally, if $a \in A$ and ξ , $n \in H$ then

Finally, if
$$a \in A$$
 and $\xi, \eta \in H$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \left(V^* \pi(a) V \xi, \eta \right) &= \left\langle \pi(a) (1 \otimes \xi), 1 \otimes \eta \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle a \otimes \xi, 1 \otimes \eta \right\rangle \\ &= \left(\phi(a) \xi, \eta \right). \end{aligned}$$

Thus $\phi(a) = V^* \pi(a) V$, completing the proof.

For more on the Stinespring Theorem see Sect. 3.5.

The Stinespring Theorem has immediate formulations to other classes of maps, as we shall now see.

Definition 1.2.8 Let *A* be a *C**-algebra and $\phi : A \rightarrow B(H)$. We say that ϕ is *copositive* if $t \circ \phi$ is completely positive, where *t* is the transpose map on B(H). ϕ is *decomposable* if ϕ is the sum of a completely positive and a copositive map. Otherwise ϕ is *indecomposable*.

Remark 1.2.9 Note that if t' is the transpose map on B(H) with respect to another orthonormal basis, then there is a unitary operator $u \in B(H)$ such that $t' = Adu \circ t$. Thus by Lemma 1.2.2 the definition of copositive maps is independent of the choice of basis, and thus of t.

The same is the situation with maps of the form $t \circ \phi$ with ϕ *k*-positive. We shall come back to these and *k*-positive maps in Chaps. 6 and 8, where it will be shown that they fit well into the classification scheme for positive maps. The remaining class which is very poorly understood, is that of atomic maps, where a positive map

 $\phi : A \to B(H)$ is said to be *atomic* if it cannot be written as a sum $\phi = \phi_1 + t \circ \phi_2$ with ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 two 2-positive maps.

Definition 1.2.10 Let *A* and *B* be *C*^{*}-algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a self-adjoint linear map. We say that ϕ is a *Jordan homomorphism* if $\phi(a^2) = \phi(a)^2$ for all self-adjoint operators $a \in A$.

Note that since $ab + ba = (a + b)^2 - a^2 - b^2$, a Jordan homomorphism preserves the Jordan product $a \circ b = \frac{1}{2}(ab + ba)$.

Theorem 1.2.11 Let A be a unital C^* -algebra and $\phi : A \to B(H)$ a positive map. *Then*

- (i) If φ is copositive then there exist a Hilbert space K, a bounded linear operator V : H → K and an anti-homomorphism π : A → B(K) such that φ(a) = V*π(a)V for a ∈ A.
- (ii) If ϕ is decomposable then there exist K and V as in (i) and a Jordan homomorphism $\pi : A \to B(K)$ such that $\phi(a) = V^* \pi(a) V$ for $a \in A$.

Proof (i) Let K_0 be a Hilbert space such that $A \subset B(K_0)$, and let t_0 denote the transpose on $B(K_0)$ and *t* the transpose on B(H). Let $B = t_0(A)$. Then *B* is a C^* -algebra anti-isomorphic to *A*. Define $\phi' : B \to B(H)$ by $\phi'(b) = \phi(t_0(b))$. This is well-defined because $t_0 = t_0^{-1}$. Since ϕ is copositive, $t \circ \phi$ is completely positive, hence by Lemma 1.2.2 (iv) $\phi' = t \circ (t \circ \phi) \circ t_0$ is completely positive. Therefore by the Stinespring Theorem, 1.2.7, there exist *V* and π' as in the statement of the Stinespring Theorem such that $\phi' = V^* \pi' V$. Then if $a \in A$,

$$\phi(a) = \phi \circ t_0 \circ t_0(a) = \phi'(t_0 a) = V^* \pi'(t_0(a)) V = V^* \pi(a) V,$$

where π is a *-anti-homomorphism, proving (*i*).

(ii) Suppose $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$ with $\phi_1 : A \to B(H)$ completely positive and $\phi_2 : A \to B(H)$ copositive. By the Stinespring Theorem and (i) there exist Hilbert spaces K_i , a homomorphism $\pi_1 : A \to B(K_1)$, and an anti-homomorphism $\pi_2 : A \to B(K_2)$ such that $\phi_i = V_i^* \pi_i V_i$ where $V_i : H \to K_i$. Let $V : H \to K_1 \oplus K_2$ by

$$V\xi = V_1\xi \oplus V_2\xi.$$

Define $\pi : A \to B(K_1 \oplus K_2)$ by

$$\pi(a) = \pi_1(a) + \pi_2(a).$$

Thus π is a Jordan homomorphism, and for $a \in A$,

$$V^*\pi(a)V = V_1^*\pi_1(a)V_2 + V_2^*\pi_2(a)V_2 = \phi_1(a) + \phi_2(a) = \phi(a),$$

completing the proof of the theorem.

1.3 Inequalities

The Stinespring Theorem, 1.2.7, yields several inequalities for positive maps. From the theorem it follows that if $\phi = V^* \pi V$, then $\|V\|^2 \le \|\phi\|$, hence if $\|\phi\| \le 1$ then $||V|| \le 1.$

Theorem 1.3.1 Let A be a C^{*}-algebra and $\phi : A \to B(H)$ be a positive map with $\|\phi\| < 1$. Then for $a \in A$ we have:

- (i) If A is unital and ϕ is completely positive then $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^* \phi(a)$.
- (ii) If a is a normal operator then $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^*\phi(a)$.
- (iii) If a is a self-adjoint operator then $\phi(a^2) > \phi(a)^2$.

(iv) $\phi(a^*a + aa^*) > \phi(a)^*\phi(a) + \phi(a)\phi(a)^*$.

Proof (i) If ϕ is completely positive, $\phi = V^* \pi V$ as in the Stinespring Theorem with $||V|| \leq 1$. Thus

$$\phi(a^*a) = V^*\pi(a^*a)V = V^*\pi(a)^*\pi(a)V \ge V^*\pi(a)^*VV^*\pi(a)V$$

= $\phi(a)^*\phi(a)$.

(ii) If a is a normal operator in A then the C^* -algebra C(a) generated by a and 1 is abelian and ϕ has a positive extension to C(A) with norm $\|\phi\| < 1$. Then the restriction of ϕ to C(a) is completely positive by Theorem 1.2.5. Hence (ii) follows from (i). (iii) is immediate from (ii). (iv) The operators $a + a^*$ and $i(a - a^*)$ are self-adjoint. Thus by (iii)

$$\phi((a+a^*)^2) + \phi((i(a-a^*))^2) \ge \phi(a+a^*)^2 + \phi(i(a-a^*))^2.$$

A straightforward computation now yields the desired result.

Corollary 1.3.2 Let A be a unital C^* -algebra and ϕ a 2-positive map with $\|\phi\| \leq 1$ of A into B(H). Then $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^*\phi(a)$ for all $a \in A$.

Proof Let ι_2 denote the identity map on M_2 . Since $\phi \otimes \iota_2$ is positive, Theorem 1.3.1 (iii) implies

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi(a^*a) & 0\\ 0 & \phi(aa^*) \end{pmatrix} = \phi \otimes \iota_2 \begin{pmatrix} a^*a & 0\\ 0 & aa^* \end{pmatrix} = \phi \otimes \iota_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^*\\ a & 0 \end{pmatrix}^2 \\ \ge \phi \otimes \iota_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a^*\\ a & 0 \end{pmatrix}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a)^*\phi(a) & 0\\ 0 & \phi(a)\phi(a)^* \end{pmatrix},$$
ving that $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^*\phi(a)$.

proving that $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^*\phi(a)$.

In Sect. 1.1 we showed that if ϕ is positive $\|\phi\| \le 2\|\phi(1)\|$. Using Theorem 1.3.1 we can now improve this.

Theorem 1.3.3 Let A be a unital C*-algebra and $\phi : A \to B(H)$ a self-adjoint linear map. If ϕ is positive then $\|\phi\| = \|\phi(1)\|$. Conversely, if $\phi(1) = 1$ and $\|\phi\| = 1$, then ϕ is positive.

Proof Multiplying ϕ by a scalar we may assume $\|\phi\| = 1$. By the Russo-Dye Theorem, see Appendix A1.5, the unit ball of *A* is the closed convex hull of the unitary operators in *A*. Thus $1 = \sup \|\phi(u)\|$, where the sup is taken over all unitary operators in *A*. But by Theorem 1.3.1(ii) if ϕ is positive, then

$$\|\phi(u)\|^2 = \|\phi(u)^*\phi(u)\| \le \|\phi(u^*u)\| = \|\phi(1)\| \le 1.$$

Thus $1 = \sup \|\phi(u)\|^2 \le \|\phi(1)\| \le 1$, so $\|\phi(1)\| = 1 = \|\phi\|$. Conversely if ϕ is a self-adjoint linear map such that $\phi(1) = 1$, and $\|\phi\| = 1$, then for each state ρ of B(H), $\rho \circ \phi$ is a state, hence is positive. Since this holds for all states, ϕ is positive.

1.4 The Adjoint Map

If *K* and *H* are finite dimensional Hilbert spaces, then B(K) and B(H) with the Hilbert-Schmidt inner product $\langle a, b \rangle = Tr(ab^*)$ are Hilbert spaces. Thus a linear map $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$ can be considered as a bounded operator between Hilbert spaces and therefore has an adjoint map defined by

$$Tr(\phi(a)b) = Tr(a\phi^*(b)), \quad a \in B(K), b \in B(H).$$
(1.3)

In the infinite dimensional case we must assume ϕ is *normal*, i.e. if $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in I}$ is an increasing net in $B(K)^+$ with least upper bound *a*, so $a_{\alpha} \nearrow a \in B(K)$, implies $\phi(a_{\alpha}) \nearrow \phi(a)$, then ϕ is weakly continuous on bounded sets, see Appendix A.1. Since every normal state on B(H) is defined by a density operator, which is a positive trace class operator, a normal positive map ϕ has an *adjoint map* ϕ^* mapping the trace class operators $\mathcal{T}(H)$ on H into $\mathcal{T}(K)$, defined by (1.3).

Definition 1.4.1 Let *M* be a von Neumann algebra and $\phi : M \to B(H)$ be a normal positive map. Then the *null space of* ϕ is the sup of all projections $e \in M$ such that $\phi(e) = 0$. If *f* is the null space of ϕ then 1 - f is the *support of* ϕ , denoted by supp ϕ . We say ϕ is *faithful* if the null space of ϕ is 0, i.e. if $a \ge 0$ and $\phi(a) = 0$ then a = 0.

Proposition 1.4.2 *Let K and H be Hilbert spaces and* ϕ : $B(K) \rightarrow B(H)$ *a normal positive map. Then we have:*

- (i) $\phi^* : \mathscr{T}(H) \to B(K)$ is positive.
- (ii) $\phi(1) = 1$ if and only if $Tr_K \circ \phi^* = Tr_H$, where Tr_K and Tr_H are the traces on B(K) and B(H) respectively.

- (iii) Let $e = \operatorname{supp} \phi$. Then $e\phi^*(b)e = \phi^*(b)$ for all $b \in \mathcal{T}(H)$.
- (iv) If $V : H \to K$ is linear then $(AdV)^* = AdV^*$.

Proof (i) This follows since $a \in B(K)$ is positive if and only if $Tr(ab) \ge 0$ for all positive $b \in \mathcal{T}(K)$.

(ii) $Tr_H(\phi(1)b) = Tr_K(\phi^*(b))$ for all $b \in \mathcal{T}(H)$. Thus (ii) follows.

(iii) Since $\phi(e) = \phi(1)$ we have for $b \in \mathcal{T}(H)$

$$0 = Tr((1-e)\phi^*(b)) = Tr((1-e)\phi^*(b)(1-e)).$$

Hence for all $b \ge 0$ in $\mathscr{T}(H)$, $(1-e)\phi^*(b)(1-e) = 0$, so that $(1-e)\phi^*(b) = 0$ for all positive *b*, and therefore $\phi^*(b) = e\phi^*(b) = (e\phi^*(b))^* = \phi^*(b)e$. Thus (iii) follows easily, since the positive operators span $\mathscr{T}(H)$.

(iv) This follows since

$$Tr(AdV(a)b) = Tr(V^*aVb) = Tr(aVbV^*) = Tr(aAdV^*(b)).$$

If *H* is finite dimensional then $\mathscr{T}(H) = B(H)$, so $1 \in \mathscr{T}(H)$. Then we can add the following to Proposition 1.4.2.

Proposition 1.4.3 *Let H be finite dimensional and* ϕ : $B(K) \rightarrow B(H)$ *be weakly continuous on bounded sets. Then we have:*

- (i) ϕ is positive if and only if ϕ^* is positive.
- (ii) If $f = \operatorname{supp} \phi^*$ then $\phi^* : f B(H) f \to e B(K) e$ is faithful, where $e = \operatorname{supp} \phi$.
- (iii) ϕ is k-positive if and only if ϕ^* is k-positive. Hence ϕ is completely positive if and only if ϕ^* is completely positive.
- (iv) If ϕ is faithful then the range projection of $\phi^*(1)$ equals 1.

Proof (i) This follows by the argument of Proposition 1.4.2(i).

(ii) If $f = \operatorname{supp} \phi^*$ then $\phi^*(b) = \phi^*(fbf)$, so by Proposition 1.4.2(iii) $\phi^*(fbf) = e\phi^*(b)e$, and (ii) follows by definition of $\operatorname{supp} \phi^*$.

(iii) We have $(\phi \otimes \iota_k)^* = \phi^* \otimes \iota_k^* = \phi^* \otimes \iota_k$. Thus by (i) ϕ is *k*-positive if and only if ϕ^* is *k*-positive.

(iv) If the range projection of $\phi^*(1)$ is not the identity then there exists a 1-dimensional projection p orthogonal to $\phi^*(1)$. Then $Tr(\phi(p)) = Tr(p\phi^*(1)) = 0$. Since ϕ is faithful p = 0, completing the proof.

1.5 Notes

The main results in the present chapter are closely related to completely positive maps. The definition is due to Stinespring [70], who proved Theorem 1.2.7. As the reader can see, the proof is a generalization of the proof of the GNS construction for states. Our proof follows closely the proof in the book by Effros and Ruan [14]. The theorem has been extended to *-algebras of unbounded operators by Timmermann [90].

The ideas of the Stinespring Theorem go back to Naimark [52], who proved the theorem in the case when the map is from an abelian C^* -algebra into B(H). Thus Theorem 1.2.5 is due to him. Our proof follows closely the one due to Stinespring. The other theorem on positive maps being automatically completely positive, Theorem 1.2.4, is due to the author [71], see also [85]. Among the inequalities in Theorem 1.3.1 the most famous is the third, $\phi(a^2) \ge \phi(a)^2$. This inequality was proved by Kadison [36] and is usually referred to as the Kadison-Schwarz inequality. Corollary 1.3.2 is due to Choi [6], and Theorem 1.3.3 to Russo and Dye [65].

Chapter 2 Jordan Algebras and Projection Maps

The order structure in C^* -algebras is closely related to Jordan algebras. In this chapter we shall study this connection. In the first part we shall study general positive maps, and in the second and third projection maps, i.e. positive idempotent maps of C^* -algebras into themselves.

2.1 Jordan Properties of Positive Maps

The class of Jordan algebras which we shall encounter, are contained in C^* -algebras.

Definition 2.1.1 A *JC-algebra J* is a norm closed real linear subspace of the selfadjoint operators in B(H) for a Hilbert space H, such that $a, b \in J$ implies $a \circ b = \frac{1}{2}(ab + ba) \in J$.

 $a \circ b$ is called the *Jordan product* of a and b. Since $2a \circ b = (a + b)^2 - a^2 - b^2$, one could equivalently just require that $a \in J$ implies that $a^2 \in J$. Thus the self-adjoint part A_{sa} of a C^* -algebra A is a JC-algebra.

Definition 2.1.2 Let A and B be C^* -algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a self-adjoint linear map. Then ϕ is an *order-isomorphism* if ϕ is bijective and $\phi(a) \ge 0$ if and only if $a \ge 0$.

The close relation between the order-structure and the Jordan structure is clear from the following theorem.

Theorem 2.1.3 Let A and B be unital C^* -algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a unital selfadjoint linear map. Then ϕ is an order-isomorphism if and only if ϕ is a Jordan isomorphism.

Proof Since a self-adjoint operator is positive if and only if it is of the form a^2 with *a* self-adjoint, it is clear that a Jordan isomorphism is an order-isomorphism.

Conversely assume ϕ is an order-isomorphism. By the Kadison-Schwarz inequality, Theorem 1.3.1(iii), $\phi(a^2) \ge \phi(a)^2$ for all self-adjoint $a \in A$. Since the inverse map ϕ^{-1} is also positive and unital, it also satisfies the Kadison-Schwarz inequality, hence for *a* self-adjoint in *A*,

$$a^{2} = \phi^{-1}(\phi(a^{2})) \ge \phi^{-1}(\phi(a)^{2}) \ge \phi^{-1}(\phi(a))^{2} = a^{2},$$

so that $\phi(a^2) = \phi(a)^2$, hence ϕ is a Jordan isomorphism.

Definition 2.1.4 Let *A* and *B* be *C*^{*}-algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a positive map. The *definite set* for ϕ is the set $D = \{a \in A_{sa} : \phi(a^2) = \phi(a)^2\}$. The *multiplicative domain* for ϕ is the set $M_{\phi} = \{a \in A : \phi(ba) = \phi(b)\phi(a)\}$ for all $b \in A$.

We say ϕ is a *Schwarz map* if it satisfies the Schwarz inequality $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)^*\phi(a)$ for all $a \in A$. Then ϕ is in particular a contraction, since $\phi(1) \ge \phi(1)^2$. By Corollary 1.3.2 each 2-positive contraction is a Schwarz map.

Proposition 2.1.5 Let A and B be C^* -algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a Schwarz map. Suppose $a \in A$ satisfies

$$\phi(a^*)\phi(a) = \phi(a^*a).$$

Then

$$\phi(b^*a) = \phi(b)^*\phi(a)$$
 and $\phi(a^*b) = \phi(a)^*\phi(b)$

for all $b \in A$. Hence a belongs to the multiplicative domain M_{ϕ} for ϕ .

Proof With *a* and *b* as above and $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have, using the assumption on *a*,

$$t(\phi(a)^*\phi(b) + \phi(b)^*\phi(a))$$

= $\phi(ta + b)^*\phi(ta + b) - t^2\phi(a)^*\phi(a) - \phi(b)^*\phi(b)$
 $\leq \phi((ta + b)^*(ta + b)) - t^2\phi(a)^*\phi(a) - \phi(b)^*\phi(b)$
 $\leq t\phi(a^*b + b^*a) + (\phi(b^*b) - \phi(b)^*\phi(b)).$

Since this holds for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$\phi(a)^* \phi(b) + \phi(b)^* \phi(a) = \phi(a^*b + b^*a).$$
(2.1)

Replacing *b* by -ib and then multiplying by *i* gives

$$\phi(a)^*\phi(b) - \phi(b)^*\phi(a) = \phi(a^*b - b^*a).$$
(2.2)

Adding (2.1) and (2.2) and then subtracting one from the other yields the two equations in the proposition.

The last statement is obvious from the first of the two equations. \Box

Corollary 2.1.6 Let A and B be C^{*}-algebras and $\phi : A \rightarrow B$ a Schwarz map. Then the multiplicative domain M_{ϕ} for ϕ is a subalgebra of A.

Proof If $a, b \in M_{\phi}$ and $c \in A$, then

$$\phi((ab)c) = \phi(a(bc)) = \phi(a)\phi(bc) = \phi(a)\phi(b)\phi(c)$$
$$= \phi(ab)\phi(c),$$

hence $ab \in M_{\phi}$. Since M_{ϕ} is clearly a linear set it is an algebra.

Proposition 2.1.7 Let A and B be C*-algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ positive with $\|\phi\| \leq 1$. Suppose a belongs to the definite set D for ϕ . Then for all $b \in A_{sa}$ we have

- (i) $\phi(a \circ b) = \phi(a) \circ \phi(b)$.
- (ii) $\phi(aba) = \phi(a)\phi(b)\phi(a)$.

Furthermore, D is a JC-subalgebra of Asa.

Proof In the proof of Proposition 2.1.5 we use the Schwarz inequality only for operators a, b, and ta + b, so when they are self-adjoint we only needed the Kadison-Schwarz inequality. Therefore (i) follows from (2.1).

(ii) follows from (i) via the identity

$$aba = 2(a \circ b) \circ a - a^2 \circ b.$$

To show *D* is a JC-algebra let $a, b \in D$. Then by (i) and (ii)

$$\begin{aligned} 4\phi((a \circ b)^2) &= \phi(abab + ab^2a + ba^2b + baba) \\ &= 2\phi(a \circ (bab)) + \phi(ab^2a) + \phi(ba^2b) \\ &= 2\phi(a) \circ \phi(bab) + \phi(ab^2a) + \phi(ba^2b) \\ &= 2\phi(a) \circ \phi(b)\phi(a)\phi(b) + \phi(a)\phi(b)^2\phi(a) + \phi(b)\phi(a)^2\phi(b) \\ &= 4(\phi(a) \circ \phi(b))^2 \\ &= 4\phi(a \circ b)^2, \end{aligned}$$

so that $a \circ b \in D$. We have

$$\phi((a+b)^2) = \phi(a^2 + 2a \circ b + b^2) = \phi(a)^2 + 2\phi(a) \circ \phi(b) + \phi(b)^2$$
$$= (\phi(a) + \phi(b))^2 = \phi(a+b)^2,$$

hence $a + b \in D$.

Proposition 2.1.7 raises a natural problem, namely, what kind of JC-algebra is the definite set D for different kinds of positive maps. In the finite dimensional

case the irreducible JC-algebras are: $(M_n)_{sa}$, the real symmetric matrices in M_n ; if the quaternions \mathbb{Q} are represented by 2×2 -matrices, the self-adjoint block matrices $M_n(\mathbb{Q})_{sa}$ in $M_{2n}(\mathbb{C})$ with entries in \mathbb{Q} , and the spin factors to be defined in Sect. 2.3.

A JC-algebra *J* is said to be *reversible* if it is closed under symmetric products, i.e. if $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in J$ then

$$a_1a_2\ldots a_k+a_ka_{k-1}\ldots a_1\in J$$

In this case if R is the real algebra generated by J then $R_{sa} = J$. In the above examples only the spin factors are not reversible.

Proposition 2.1.8 *Let* A *be a* C^* *-algebra and* $\phi : A \to B(H)$ *a unital positive map. Let* D *be the definite set of* ϕ *. Then we have:*

- (i) If ϕ is decomposable then D is a reversible JC-algebra of A_{sa} .
- (ii) If ϕ is completely positive then D is the self-adjoint part of a C*-subalgebra of A.

Proof (i) By Proposition 2.1.7 *D* is a JC-subalgebra of A_{sa} . By Theorem 1.2.11 there exist a Hilbert space *K*, a bounded linear operator $V : H \to K$, and a Jordan homomorphism $\pi : A \to B(K)$ such that $\phi(a) = V^*\pi(a)V$ for $a \in A$. Then for $a \in D$,

$$V^*\pi(a)^2 V = V^*\pi(a^2) V = \phi(a^2) = \phi(a)^2 = (V^*\pi(a)V)^2.$$

Since $V^*V = \phi(1) = 1$, $e = VV^*$ is a projection, and if we set $\pi(a) = x$, we have $ex^2e = exexe$, so

$$\left((1-e)xe\right)^*(1-e)xe = ex^2e - exexe = 0,$$

hence (1 - e)xe = 0, so that $xe = exe = (exe)^* = ex$, hence $\pi(a) = x \in \{e\}'$, the commutant of *e*.

Conversely, if $a \in A_{sa}$ with $\pi(a)e = e\pi(a)$, then

$$\phi(a^2) = V^* \pi(a)^2 V = V^* \pi(a) e \pi(a) V = V^* \pi(a) V V^* \pi(a) V = \phi(a)^2.$$

Then $D = \pi^{-1}(\{e\}' \cap \pi(A_{sa})).$

Since π is the sum of a homomorphism and an anti-homomorphism, as was shown in the proof of Theorem 1.2.11, we have for $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A_{sa}$

$$\pi\left(\prod_{1}^{n} a_{i} + \prod_{n}^{1} a_{i}\right) = \prod_{1}^{n} \pi(a_{i}) + \prod_{n}^{1} \pi(a_{i}).$$

In particular if $a_i \in D$, by the above characterization of D, $\pi(\prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i + \prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i)$ commutes with e and hence belongs to $\pi(D)$, so $\prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i + \prod_{i=1}^{n} a_i \in D$, hence D is reversible, proving (i).

(ii) If in the above proof ϕ is completely positive, by the Stinespring Theorem 1.2.7, π is a homomorphism. Thus

$$D = \left\{ a \in A_{sa} : \pi(a)e = e\pi(a) \right\},\$$

hence if $a, b \in D$ then $\pi(ab)e = \pi(a)\pi(b)e = e\pi(ab)$. It follows that each a in the C^* -algebra $C^*(D)$ generated by D satisfies $\pi(a)e = e\pi(a)$. Thus $D = C^*(D)_{sa}$ proving (ii).

2.2 Projection Maps

Definition 2.2.1 Let A be a C^* -algebra and $P : A \to A$ a positive map with $||P|| \le 1$. Then P is a projection map if $P^2 = P \circ P = P$. If P(A) is a C^* -subalgebra of A then P is called a *conditional expectation*.

These maps, and especially conditional expectations, have been very important in the theory of von Neumann algebras. We shall mainly be interested in their structure and as examples of positive maps. For simplicity of the arguments we shall mostly consider faithful projection maps.

Theorem 2.2.2 Let A be a C^{*}-algebra and $P : A \rightarrow A$ a faithful projection map. *Then*

- (i) $P(A_{sa})$ is a JC-subalgebra of A_{sa} contained in the definite set for P.
- (ii) If P is a Schwarz map then P(A) is a C^{*}-subalgebra of A contained in the multiplicative domain for P.

Proof We first show (ii), because (i) follows by the same arguments. So assume *P* is a Schwarz map, and let $a \in P(A)$. Then

$$P(P(a^*a) - a^*a) = P(a^*a) - P(a^*a) = 0.$$

From the Schwarz inequality

$$P(a^*a) - a^*a \ge P(a)^*P(a) - a^*a = a^*a - a^*a = 0,$$

so by faithfulness of P, $P(a^*a) = P(a)^*P(a) = a^*a$, so by Proposition 2.1.5 *a* belongs to the multiplicative domain for P. Thus P(ba) = P(b)a for all $b \in A$. In particular, if $b \in P(A)$, then $ab = P(ab) \in P(A)$, so P(A) being closed under the *-operation, is a C^* -subalgebra of the multiplicative domain.

To show (i) apply the above arguments to $a \in A_{sa}$. Then it follows that $P(a^2) = a^2 = P(a)^2$, so *a* belongs to the definite set for *P*, and as in the proof of (ii) it follows from Proposition 2.1.7 that $P(A_{sa})$ is a JC-subalgebra of A_{sa} , and $P(a \circ b) = a \circ P(b)$ for all $b \in A$.

We make the following observation.

Lemma 2.2.3 If A is a unital C^* -algebra and $P : A \to A$ is a faithful projection map, then P(1) = 1.

Proof Since $||P|| \le 1$, $P(1) \le 1$. But P(1 - P(1)) = 0, so by faithfulness of P, P(1) = 1.

Theorem 2.2.4 Let A be a unital C^* -algebra, $A \subset B(H)$, and $P : A \to A$ a faithful decomposable projection map. Then $P(A_{sa})$ is a reversible JC-algebra.

Proof By Proposition 2.1.8 and Lemma 2.2.3 the definite set D of P is a reversible JC-subalgebra, and by Theorem 2.2.2, $P(A_{sa}) \subset D$. By the definition of D, the restriction $P|_D$ is a Jordan homomorphism.

Let $P = V^* \pi V$ as in the proof of Proposition 2.1.8. Since π is the sum of a homomorphism and an anti-homomorphism, so is the restriction of P to D. Hence P preserves symmetric products, so that if $a_1, \ldots, a_k \in D$ then

$$\prod_{1}^{n} P(a_{i}) + \prod_{n}^{1} P(a_{i}) = P\left(\prod_{1}^{n} a_{i} + \prod_{n}^{1} a_{i}\right) \in P(D) = P(A_{sa}).$$

Thus $P(A_{sa})$ is a reversible JC-algebra.

We have now seen how the image of a projection map depends on positivity properties of the map. A natural problem is whether there are results in the converse direction. This is true for Theorem 2.2.4, i.e. if $P(A_{sa})$ is reversible then P is decomposable, see [76], but we shall not prove this because the proof is too much of a detour into Jordan algebra theory to belong here. It was shown by Robertson [64] that the assumption in Theorem 2.2.4 can be weakened, because if P is the sum of a 2-positive and a 2-copositive map, then P is automatically decomposable.

However, if the image is a C^* -algebra, a converse is easier to prove. Remember, since each completely positive map is a Schwarz map by Theorem 1.3.1 it follows by Theorem 2.2.2 that the image of a faithful completely positive projection map is a C^* -algebra. We first prove a simple lemma.

Lemma 2.2.5 Let A be a C^{*}-algebra. Then every positive operator in $M_n(A)$ is a sum of n positive operators of the form $(a_i^*a_i)$ for $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$.

Proof Let $b \in M_n(A)$ be the matrix whose *k*th row is a_1, \ldots, a_n and the other entries are 0. Then $b^*b = (a_i^*a_j)$, so each operator $(a_i^*a_j)$ is positive. Now let $a \in M_n(A)^+$. Then $a = b^*b$ for $b \in M_n(A)$. Write $b = b_1 + \cdots + b_n$ where b_k is the *k*th row of *b* and 0 elsewhere. Then $b_i^*b_j = 0$ when $i \neq j$, so $a = b^*b = \sum_{i=1}^n b_i^*b_i$, is of the form desired.

If $B \subset B(H)$ is a C^* -algebra and $\xi \in H$ we denote by $[B\xi]$ the orthogonal projection of H onto the closure of the subspace of H consisting of vectors $b\xi, b \in B$. Since $ab\xi \in B\xi$ for a and $b \in B$, $[B\xi]$ is invariant under B, hence belongs to the commutant B' of B. If $[B\xi] = 1$ then ξ is said to be a *cyclic vector* for B.

Theorem 2.2.6 Let $B \subset A$ be unital C^* -algebras. Suppose $P : A \rightarrow B$ is a surjective projection map. Then P is completely positive.

Proof We may assume $A \subset B(H)$. Assume first there exists a unit vector η_0 in H cyclic for B. We have to show that if $a \in M_n(A)^+$ then $P \otimes \iota_n(a) \in M_n(A)^+$, where we identify $M_n(A)$ with $A \otimes M_n$. By Lemma 2.2.5 we may assume $a = (a_i^*a_j)$ with $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$. Let $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in H$. We have to show

$$\sum_{i,j=0}^{n} \left(P(a_i^* a_j) \xi_j, \xi_i \right) \ge 0,$$
(2.3)

see (1.1).

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since η_0 is cyclic for *B* there exist $b_i \in B$ such that

$$\|b_i\eta_0 - \xi_i\| < \varepsilon/n^2 \max \|\xi_i\|, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

By Proposition 2.1.5 applied to the b_i 's we get

$$\sum_{i,j} (P(a_i^*a_j)\xi_j,\xi_i) \ge \sum_{i,j} (P(a_i^*a_j)b_j\eta_0,b_i\eta_0) - \varepsilon$$
$$= \sum_{i,j} (P(b_i^*a_i^*a_jb_j)\eta_0,\eta_0) - \varepsilon$$
$$= (P\left(\sum_{i,j} (a_ib_i)^*(a_jb_j)\eta_0,\eta_0\right) - \varepsilon$$
$$\ge -\varepsilon.$$

Since ε is arbitrary, (2.3) follows.

In the general case there exists a sequence (η_k) in H such that $\sum_k [B\eta_k] = 1$, where $[B\eta_k]$ denotes the projection onto the closure of the set $\{b\eta_k : b \in B\}$. Then we have by the above, since $[B\eta_k] \in B'$,

$$\sum_{i,j} (P(a_i^* a_j)\xi_j, \xi_i) = \sum_{i,j,k} ([B\eta_k]P(a_i^* a_j)[B\eta_k]\xi_j, \xi_i)$$
$$= \sum_{i,j,k} (P(a_i^* a_j)[B\eta_k]\xi_j, [B\eta_k]\xi_i),$$

which is nonnegative by the first part of the proof, since η_k is cyclic for $[B\eta_k]B[B\eta_k]$ as acting on $[B\eta_k]H$.

Corollary 2.2.7 Let A be a unital C^* -algebra and $P : A \to A$ a faithful projection which is a Schwarz map. Then P is completely positive.

Proof By Theorem 2.2.2 P(A) is a C^* -subalgebra of A. By Lemma 2.2.3 P is unital, and by Theorem 2.2.6 P is completely positive.

When we described the ranges of projection maps we assumed the maps were faithful. We shall now see what happens when they are not faithful. It is then simplest to replace the C^* -algebras by von Neumann algebras and assume the projection maps to be normal. By a *JW*-algebra we mean a weakly closed JC-algebra.

Proposition 2.2.8 Let M be a von Neumann algebra and $P: M \to M$ be a normal unital projection map. Let e denote the support of P (Definition 1.4.1). Then P_e defined by $P_e(a) = eP(eae)e$ is a faithful projection map of eMe onto eP(M)e, hence $eP(M_{sa})e$ is a JW-algebra.

Proof We first show P_e is a projection map. Let $a \in M$. Then since P(eae) = P(a),

$$P_e^2(a) = eP(eP(eae)e)e = eP(P(a))e = eP(a)e = eP(eae)e = P_e(a),$$

so P_e is a projection map. To show P_e is faithful on eMe assume $a \ge 0$ and $P_e(a) = 0$. Then, using that P is faithful on eMe, we have

$$0 = eP(eae)e = P(eae)e = P(P(eae)) = P(eae),$$

so that eae = 0, and $P_e(eM_{sa}e)$ is a JC-algebra by Theorem 2.2.2. Since *P* is normal, *P* is weakly continuous on bounded sets, see Appendix A.1, hence P(M) is weakly closed. Thus $eP(M_{sa})e$ is a JW-algebra.

Proposition 2.2.9 Let M be a von Neumann algebra and $P: M \to M$ a normal unital projection map. Let e be the support of P and $N = P(M_{sa})$. Then e belongs to the commutant N' of N, and $N + f M_{sa} f$ is a JW-subalgebra of M_{sa} , where f = 1 - e.

Proof Let $a \in N$. By Proposition 2.1.7,

$$P(aea) = aP(e)a = a^2 = P(a^2),$$

so P(a(1-e)a) = 0. Hence by definition of the support ea(1-e)ae = 0. Therefore ea(1-e) = 0, and so ea = eae = ae.

By Proposition 2.2.8 eNe is a JW-subalgebra of $eM_{sa}e$. Thus by the above

$$N = Ne + Nf \subset eNe + fM_{sa}f,$$

so that $N + f M_{sa} f$ is a JW-subalgebra of M_{sa} .

It should be remarked that in both of the last two propositions we could have assumed M to be a JW-algebra rather than a von Neumann algebra. The proofs would be the same.

2.2 Projection Maps

There are many theorems in the literature showing the existence of projection maps of C^* - or von Neumann algebras into themselves. We shall need one, which we for simplicity state for finite dimensional algebras, even though the result is true under much more general circumstances.

Proposition 2.2.10 Let A be a C*-algebra acting on a finite dimensional Hilbert space. Let Tr be a faithful trace on A, and let B be a JC-subalgebra of A_{sa} . Then there exists a faithful projection map $P : A \rightarrow B + iB$ given by the formula Tr(ab) = Tr(P(a)b) for all $b \in B$.

Proof With the inner product $\langle a, b \rangle = Tr(ab^*)$, *A* becomes a pre-Hilbert space, and B + iB is a complex subspace. If $a \in A$ the map $b \mapsto Tr(ab)$ is a continuous linear functional on B + iB, so by the Riesz representation theorem there exists an operator $P(a) \in B + iB$ such that

$$Tr(ab) = Tr(P(a)b), \quad b \in B.$$

Clearly *P* so defined is linear, unital, and idempotent. If $a \ge 0$ then $Tr(P(a)b) \ge 0$ for all $b \in B^+$. If P(a) were not positive, by spectral theory there would exist non zero projections commuting with P(a), $e, f \in B$ with e + f = 1, such that $P(a)e \ge 0, 0 \ne P(a)f \le 0$. But then

$$0 \le Tr(P(a)f) < 0,$$

a contradiction. Thus $P(a) \ge 0$, and P is a projection map. Finally, if $a \ge 0$ and P(a) = 0, then Tr(a) = Tr(P(a)) = 0, so a = 0, since Tr is faithful, and therefore P is faithful.

If ϕ is a unital positive map of a C^* -algebra into itself, then its fixed point set has Jordan structure. Our next result describes this in more detail.

Theorem 2.2.11 Let M be a von Neumann algebra and $\phi : M \to M$ a normal unital positive map. Let $M^{\phi} = \{a \in M : \phi(a) = a\}$ be the fixed point set for ϕ . Then we have:

(i) There exists a projection map $P: M \to M^{\phi}$.

Assume that there exists a faithful normal state on M such that $\omega \circ \phi = \omega$. Then we have:

(ii) *P* is normal, faithful, and M_{sa}^{ϕ} is a JW-subalgebra of M_{sa} .

(iii) If ϕ is 2-positive then M^{ϕ} is a von Neumann subalgebra of M.

Proof For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ let $\phi_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \phi^k$. Since the unit ball in the set of positive maps of M into itself is BW-compact, see Appendix A.1.1, there is a subnet (ϕ_{n_α}) of (ϕ_n) which converges pointwise weakly to a positive unital map $P : M \to M$. Then we have for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\phi^{n}(P(a)) = \phi^{n}\left(\lim_{\alpha} \frac{1}{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{k=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \phi^{k}(a)\right)$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \frac{1}{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{1}^{n_{\alpha}} \phi^{n+k}(a)$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \frac{1}{n_{\alpha}} \left(\sum_{1}^{n_{\alpha}} \phi^{k}(a) - \sum_{1}^{n} \phi^{k}(a) + \sum_{1}^{n} \phi^{k+n_{\alpha}}(a)\right)$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \frac{1}{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{1}^{n_{\alpha}} \phi^{k}(a)$$
$$= P(a).$$

In particular, $\phi_n(P(a)) = P(a)$, and we have

$$P^{2}(a) = P(P(a)) = \lim_{\alpha} \phi_{n_{\alpha}}(P(a)) = P(a),$$

so *P* is a projection. Clearly $\phi(a) = a$ implies P(a) = a. Conversely, if P(a) = a, then by the above, $a = P(a) = \phi(P(a)) = \phi(a)$, so $a \in M^{\phi}$. Thus $P(M) = M_{\phi}$, and we have proved (i).

Now assume there is a faithful normal state ω such that $\omega \circ \phi = \omega$. Then clearly $\omega \circ \phi_n = \omega$, and since ω is weakly continuous on the unit ball of M by the Appendix A.1, $\omega \circ P = \omega$. Let (a_α) be an increasing net in M^+ such that $a_\alpha \nearrow a \in M$. Then

$$0 = \lim \omega (a - a_{\alpha}) = \omega (P(a) - P(a_{\alpha})).$$

Since *P* is positive, $P(a_{\gamma}) \leq P(a)$, so $x = \sup_{\alpha} P(a_{\alpha}) \leq P(a)$, hence $P(a) = \sup_{\alpha} P(a_{\alpha})$, proving that *P* is normal. If $a \geq 0$ and P(a) = 0 then $0 = \omega(P(a)) = \omega(a)$, so a = 0, thus *P* is faithful. Since the support of *P* is 1, $M_{sa}^{\phi} = P(M_{sa})$ is a JW-algebra by Proposition 2.2.8, proving (ii).

(iii) If ϕ is 2-positive, then, since the composition of two 2-positive maps is 2-positive, it follows that *P* is 2-positive, hence by Corollary 1.3.2, *P* is a Schwarz map. But then by Theorem 2.2.2 $M^{\phi} = P(M)$ is a von Neumann subalgebra of *M*.

2.3 Spin Factors

The canonical anticommutation relations give rise to an interesting class of JCalgebras, called spin factors. Algebraically they are quite different from the reversible ones we have encountered so far. We shall in the present section study projections onto spin factors and show they have properties which are very different from the others we have considered. **Definition 2.3.1** Let *H* be a Hilbert space. A *spin system* in *B*(*H*) is a collection \mathscr{P} of at least two symmetries, i.e. self-adjoint unitary operators different from ± 1 such that $s \circ t = \frac{1}{2}(st + ts) = 0$ whenever $s \neq t$ in \mathscr{P} . A JC-algebra *A* is called a *spin factor* if it is the real linear span of 1 and a spin system.

Given a spin system \mathscr{P} let H_0 be its real linear span. Then any two elements $a, b \in H_0$ can be written as $a = \sum_i \alpha_i s_i$, $b = \sum_i \beta_i s_i$, $\alpha_i, \beta_i \in \mathbb{R}$, $s_i \in \mathscr{P}$ distinct. From this we get

$$a \circ b = \left(\sum_i \alpha_i \beta_i\right) 1,$$

from which it follows that H_0 is a real pre-Hilbert space with inner product defined by

$$\langle a, b \rangle 1 = a \circ b.$$

It is clear that $H_0 + \mathbb{R}^1$ is a Jordan subalgebra of $B(H)_{sa}$, whose norm closure is the spin factor obtained from \mathscr{P} . It is also clear that if \mathscr{P}_1 and \mathscr{P}_2 are two spin systems with the same number of symmetries, then the spin factors are Jordan isomorphic; just take a bijection between \mathscr{P}_1 and \mathscr{P}_2 and extend it linearly.

In order to give an example of a spin factor let

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i \\ -i & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

be the Pauli spin matrices in M_2 . Let $\sigma_3^{\otimes k}$ denote the *k*-fold tensor product $\sigma_3 \otimes \cdots \otimes \sigma_3$ of σ_3 with itself *k* times in M_{2^k} , and let similarly $1^{\otimes k}$ denote the *k*-fold tensor product of 1 with itself in M_{2^k} . Let

$$s_{1} = \sigma_{1} \otimes 1^{\otimes n-1},$$

$$s_{2} = \sigma_{2} \otimes 1^{\otimes n-1},$$

$$s_{3} = \sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{1} \otimes 1^{\otimes n-2},$$

$$s_{4} = \sigma_{3} \otimes \sigma_{2} \otimes 1^{\otimes n-2},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$s_{2n-1} = \sigma_{3}^{\otimes n-1} \otimes \sigma_{1},$$

$$s_{2n} = \sigma_{3}^{\otimes n-1} \otimes \sigma_{2}.$$
(2.4)

Then $\mathscr{P}_k = \{s_1, \ldots, s_k\}, k \in \{2n - 1, 2n\}$ is a spin system in M_{2^n} , and the real linear span V_k of \mathscr{P}_k and 1 is a k + 1 dimensional spin factor. We say a JC-algebra is *irreversible* if it is not reversible.

Lemma 2.3.2 *The spin factors* V_4 *and* V_k , $k \ge 6$, *are irreversible.*

Proof V_4 is the span of s_1, \ldots, s_4 and 1, so it is of dimension 5. Suppose $\frac{1}{2}(s_1s_2s_3s_4 + s_4s_3s_2s_1) \in V_4$, and let $s = s_1s_2s_3s_4$. Since $s_is_j = -s_js_i$ for $i \neq j$, $s^* = s_4s_3s_2s_1 = s$, and $s^2 = 1$, so *s* is a symmetry in V_4 . Furthermore $s \circ s_i = 0$, so $\mathscr{P} = \{s_1, s_2, s_3, s_4, s\}$ is a spin system such that the span of \mathscr{P} and 1 is of dim6, contradicting the fact that dim $V_4 = 5$, hence $s = \frac{1}{2}(s_1s_2s_3s_4 + s_4s_3s_2s_1) \notin V_4$, so V_4 is not reversible.

Let \mathscr{P}_k and V_k be as above with $k \ge 6$, and suppose $s \in V_k$. Let l > k. Then $s_l \circ s_i = 0$ for all $s_i \in \mathscr{P}_k$, and thus

$$s_l s = s_l s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4 = s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4 s_l = s_s s_l$$

Since $s \in V_k$, $s = \alpha 1 + \sum_{i=1}^k \alpha_i s_i$ with $\alpha, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus

$$\alpha s_l - \sum \alpha_i s_i s_l = \alpha s_l + \sum \alpha_i s_l s_i = s_l s = s_l = \alpha s_l + \sum \alpha_i s_i s_l$$

Thus $\sum \alpha_i s_i s_l = 0$. Since s_l is a symmetry, $\sum \alpha_i s_i = 0$. But s_1, \ldots, s_k are linearly independent, so $\alpha_i = 0$ for all *i*, hence $s = \alpha 1$, contradicting the fact that $\{s, s_1, \ldots, s_4\}$ is a spin system. It follows that $s \notin V_k$, so V_k is irreversible.

By Proposition 2.2.10 if $V_k \subset M_n$, $k \ge 2$, then there exists a faithful projection P of M_n onto V_k . By Theorem 2.2.4 and Lemma 2.3.2 this projection cannot be decomposable unless $k \in \{2, 3, 5\}$. We thus have

Proposition 2.3.3 Let k = 4 or $k \ge 6$, and $V_k \subset M_n$. Then the projection map $P : M_n \rightarrow V_k + i V_k$ given by $Tr(P(a)b) = Tr(ab), a \in M_n, b \in V_k$, is indecomposable.

We thus have an infinite family of indecomposable maps. However, a stronger result is true. Recall that a map is atomic if it is not of the form $\phi_1 + \phi_2 \circ t$ for ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 both 2-positive.

Theorem 2.3.4 Let $P: M_n \to M_n$ be a faithful projection map such that $P(M_n)_{sa}$ is a spin factor of dimension 5 or greater than or equal to 7. Then P is atomic.

In order to prove the theorem we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3.5 Let M be a von Neumann algebra and B a JW-subalgebra of M_{sa} . Suppose $\phi : M \to M$ is a positive map such that $\phi(x) \le x$ for all $x \in B^+$. Then

$$\phi(b) = \phi(1)b = b\phi(1)$$
 for all $b \in B$.

Proof Given a projection $e \in B$ we have $0 \le \phi(e) \le e$, so that $(1 - e)\phi(e) = 0$. Replacing *e* by 1 - e gives $e\phi(1 - e) = 0$, and subtraction of these two equations results in $\phi(e) = e\phi(1)$, and taking adjoints $\phi(e) = \phi(1)e$. Since *B* is the weakly closed linear span of its projections, the lemma follows. *Proof of Theorem* 2.3.4 We can assume $P(M_n)_{sa} = V_k$ with k = 4 or $k \ge 6$, and the spin system is the one defined in (2.4). Let *A* be the *C**-algebra generated by *V*₄. Then *A* is isomorphic to $M_4 = M_2 \otimes M_2$. Let *t* denote the transpose on M_2 such that $\sigma_i^t = \sigma_i$, i = 1, 2, and let $\beta = Ad\sigma_3$. Since $\sigma_3^t = -\sigma_3$ and $\beta(\sigma_i) = -\sigma_i$, i = 1, 2, it follows that the map $\alpha(a) = (t \otimes t \circ \beta)(a)$ is a *-anti-automorphism of *A* such that $\alpha(a) = a$ for $a \in V_4$.

In order to prove the theorem we assume *P* is not atomic and will produce a contradiction. So assume $P = \phi + \psi$ with ϕ 2-positive and $\psi = \psi' \circ t'$, with ψ' 2-positive, *t'* being the transpose on M_n extending *t*. By Theorem 2.2.6 and Proposition 2.2.10 there exists a completely positive projection map $P_1 : M_n \to A$. Then $Q = \alpha \circ P_1$ is a projection map of M_n onto *A* such that $Q \circ t'$ is 2-positive and Q(a) = a for all $a \in V_4$.

Let $0 < \varepsilon < 1/2$, and let

$$P_{\varepsilon} = (1 - 2\varepsilon)P + \varepsilon\iota + \varepsilon Q$$

where ι is the identity map on M_n . Then

 $P_{\varepsilon} = \phi_0 + \psi_0,$

where $\phi_0 = (1 - 2\varepsilon)\phi + \varepsilon\iota$ is 2-positive, and $\psi_0 = (1 - 2\varepsilon)\psi + \varepsilon Q$ is such that $\psi_0 \circ t'$ is 2-positive. Moreover, $h = \phi_0(1)^{1/2}$, $k = \psi_0(1)^{1/2}$ are invertible. We then have unital positive maps $\phi_1, \psi_1 : M_n \to M_n$ such that

$$\phi_1(a) = h^{-1}\phi_0(a)h^{-1}, \qquad \psi_1 = k^{-1}\psi_0(1)k^{-1}.$$

Then ϕ_1 and $\psi_1 \circ t'$ are 2-positive, and

$$P_{\varepsilon}(a) = h\phi_1(a)h + k\psi_1(a)k = \phi_0(a) + \psi_0(a).$$

Now $P_{\varepsilon}(a) = a$ for all $a \in V_4$. Thus by Lemma 2.3.5

$$\phi_0(a) = h^2 a = ah^2$$
, $\psi_0(a) = k^2 a = ak^2$, for all $a \in V_4$.

It follows that ha = ah and ka = ak for all $a \in V_4$. Therefore

$$\phi_1(a) = a = \psi_1(a)$$
 for all $a \in V_4$.

Since ϕ_1 is positive and unital and $\phi_1(s_i) = s_i$, i = 1, ..., 4, $\phi_i(s_i^2) = \phi_i(1) = 1 = s_i^2$, s_i belongs to the multiplicative domain for ϕ_1 . Hence by iterated use of Proposition 2.1.5, since ϕ_1 is a Schwarz map by Corollary 1.3.2, we have for $s = s_1 s_2 s_3 s_4$,

$$\phi_1(s) = \phi_1(s_1s_2s_3s_4) = s_1s_2s_3s_4 = s_1s_2s_3s_4 = s_2s_3s_4 = s_2s_4 =$$

Similarly, by the same result for maps satisfying the inequality $\phi(a^*a) \ge \phi(a)\phi(a)^*$, we get $\psi_1(s) = s$. Now *h* and *k* commute with all operators in V_4 , hence with *s*. Thus we get

$$P_{\varepsilon}(s) = h\phi_1(s)h + k\psi_1(s)k = hsh + ksh = (h^2 + k^2)s = s,$$

since $h^2 + k^2 = P_{\varepsilon}(1) = 1$. Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ we get

$$P(s) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} P_{\varepsilon}(s) = s \in V_k.$$

But from the proof of Lemma 2.3.2, $s \notin V_k$, so we have obtained the desired contradiction.

2.4 Notes

Some of the results in this chapter have been part of the theory of C^* -algebras for several years. Theorem 2.1.3 was proved by Kadison [35] already in 1952. Definite sets and multiplicative domains appeared later. Proposition 2.1.7 on definite sets was shown by Broise [3] in 1967. Multiplicative domains were introduced by Choi [6] and Proposition 2.1.5 is due to him. Proposition 2.1.8 is due to Robertson [62]. For further work on multiplicative domains see [33].

Projection maps, and especially conditional expectations, have been important in von Neumann algebra theory since the paper of Tomiyama [92] in 1957. In our treatment of projection maps we have avoided the applications of von Neumann algebras, because that would divert our attention more than desired from the emphasis on positivity properties of the maps. See Takesaki's book [87] for some of this theory. In the case of automorphism groups of C^* -algebras there often exist invariant projection maps onto the fixed point algebra, see e.g. [40, 61, 74].

Among the results in Sect. 2.2, Theorem 2.2.2 can be traced back to [92], while Theorem 2.2.4 is due to the author [76]. Theorem 2.2.6 is due to Nakamura, Takesaki and Umegaki [54]. Proposition 2.2.9 can be found in [15] and the same with Proposition 2.2.10, but that result and its generalizations were known before, see for example [86].

For the theory of JC-algebras, and in particular spin factors see the book of Hanche-Olsen and the author [22]. Proposition 2.3.3 appeared in [76], and is the first example of an infinite family of indecomposable map in different dimensions found in the literature. Other such families were later exhibited by Terhal [89], see Theorem 7.4.8 below and Tanashashi and Tomiyama [88], see Remark 7.3.7. Theorem 2.3.4 is due to Robertson [63], see also [18].

Chapter 3 Extremal Positive Maps

The unit ball of the set of positive maps from a C^* -algebra into another C^* -algebra is a convex set, and it is natural to expect that the maps which are extreme points, have special properties. We shall in the present chapter study different classes of extremal maps.

Section 3.1 is on general results and the most obvious extremal maps. Section 3.2 is devoted to Jordan homomorphisms, Sect. 3.3 to maps such that the composition with pure states are pure states, and Sect. 3.4 to maps called nonextendible maps, which have strong extremality properties.

Finally, in Sect. 3.5 we prove a Radon-Nikodym theorem for completely positive maps together with its applications to extremal maps.

3.1 General Properties of Extremal Maps

Definition 3.1.1 Let *A* and *B* be *C*^{*}-algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a positive map. We say that ϕ is *extremal* if the only positive maps $\psi : A \to B$, such that $\phi - \psi$ is positive, are of the form $\lambda \phi$ with $0 \le \lambda \le 1$.

Thus if ϕ is positive with $\|\phi\| \le 1$, ϕ cannot be the convex combination $\lambda\psi_1 + (1-\lambda)\psi_2$ of two positive maps ψ_1 and ψ_2 of norms less than or equal to 1 unless both ψ_1 and ψ_2 are positive multiples of ϕ . We list some simple properties of extremal maps.

Lemma 3.1.2 Let $\phi : A \to B$ be a positive map, A and B being C^{*}-algebras. Then we have:

- (i) If e is a projection in A such that $\phi(e) = \phi(1)$, then the restriction of ϕ to eAe is an extremal map $eAe \rightarrow B$ if and only if ϕ is extremal.
- (ii) If $\alpha : B \to C$ with C another C^{*}-algebra, is an order-isomorphism of B onto C, then $\alpha \circ \phi$ is extremal if and only if ϕ is extremal.

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8_3, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 *Proof* (i) Assume ϕ is extremal and $\psi : eAe \to B$ a positive map such that $0 \le \psi \le \phi|_{eAe}$. Extend ψ to a map ψ_0 on A defined by $\psi_0(a) = \psi(eae)$.

If $0 \le a \in A$ then, since $\phi(a) = \phi(eae)$ from the assumption on ϕ ,

$$0 \le \psi_0(a) = \psi(eae) \le \phi(eae) = \phi(a).$$

Since ϕ is extremal, $\psi_0 = \lambda \phi$, hence $\psi = \lambda \phi|_{eAe}$ for some $\lambda \ge 0$.

Conversely, if $0 \le \psi \le \phi$ then $0 \le \psi|_{eAe} \le \phi|_{eAe}$, so extremality of $\phi|_{eAe}$ implies $\psi|_{eAe} = \lambda \phi|_{eAe}$. Since $0 \le \psi(1-e) \le \phi(1-e) = 0$, it follows that

$$\psi(a) = \psi(eae) = \lambda \phi(eae) = \lambda \phi,$$

so ϕ is extremal.

(ii) This is obvious, since $0 \le \psi \le \alpha \circ \phi$ if and only if $0 \le \alpha^{-1} \circ \psi \le \phi$. \Box

As remarked in Sect. 1.1 we use the notation B(A, H) (resp. $B(A, H)^+$) for the bounded linear (resp. positive) maps of A into B(H).

Proposition 3.1.3 Let H and K be Hilbert spaces and $V : H \to K$ a bounded linear operator. Then the map $AdV(a) = V^*aV$ is extremal in $B(B(K), H)^+$.

Proof We first consider the case when K = H and V = 1, so $AdV = \iota$ —the identity map. Suppose ψ is a positive map of B(H) into itself such that $\psi \le \iota$. Let f be projection in B(H). Then $\psi(f) \le f$, hence by Lemma 2.3.5 applied to M = B(H), $B = B(H)_{sa}$, $\psi(a) = \psi(1)a$ for all $a \in B(H)$. In particular $\psi(1)$ commutes with a for all $a \in B(H)$, so $\psi(1) = \lambda 1$, and $\psi = \lambda \iota$, proving that ι is extremal.

We next consider the case when V is invertible. Then AdV is an orderisomorphism, so by the above paragraph and Lemma 3.1.2, $AdV = \iota \circ AdV$ is extremal.

Let $e = \text{range } V^* = \text{support } V$, and $f = \text{range } V = \text{support } V^*$. Thus $AdV : fB(K)f \to eB(H)e$. If $V : eH \to fK$ is invertible, then $AdV : fB(K)f \to eB(H)e$ is extremal in $B(fB(K)f, eH)^+$ by the previous paragraph. Since any positive map $\psi \leq AdV$ maps 1 - f to 0 and $e\psi(a)e = \psi(a)$ for all a, it follows that AdV is extremal in $B(B(K), H)^+$.

Finally, if *V* is not invertible on *eH* choose an increasing net (e_{γ}) of projections converging strongly to *e* such that Ve_{γ} is invertible on $e_{\gamma}H$. Let $f_{\gamma} = \text{range } Ve_{\gamma}$. Then by Appendix A.1 $f_{\gamma} \rightarrow f$ strongly. If $\psi \leq AdV$ is a map in $B(B(K), H)^+$ then $\psi \circ Adf_{\gamma} \leq AdV \circ Adf_{\gamma} = Adf_{\gamma}V$, so by the previous paragraph, $\psi \circ Adf_{\gamma} = \lambda_{\gamma}Adf_{\gamma}V$ for a number $\lambda_{\gamma} \geq 0$. Let λ be a limit point for (λ_{γ}) , then

$$\psi = \lim_{\gamma} \psi \circ Adf_{\gamma} = \lim_{\gamma} \lambda_{\gamma} Adf_{\gamma} V = \lambda AdV,$$

proving that AdV is extremal.

Proposition 3.1.4 *Let A and B be* C^* *-algebras and* $\phi : A \rightarrow B$ *be an extreme point of the convex set of positive unital maps of A into B. Let* $a \in A$ *belong to the center of*
A and assume $\phi(a)$ belongs to the center of *B*. Then a belongs to the multiplicative domain for ϕ .

Proof We have

$$a = \frac{1}{2}(a + a^*) + \frac{1}{2i}i(a - a^*).$$

Since a^* satisfies the same assumptions as a, we may assume a is self-adjoint and ||a|| < 1. Then $||\phi(a)|| < 1$, so 1 - a and $1 - \phi(a)$ are positive and invertible. Define $\psi : A \to B$ by

$$\psi(b) = \phi((1-a)b)(1-\phi(a))^{-1}$$

Since 1 - a and $(1 - \phi(a))^{-1}$ belong to the centers of *A* and *B* respectively, there is $\lambda > 0$ such that $0 \le \psi \le \lambda \phi$. Furthermore

$$\psi(1) = \phi(1-a) \left(1 - \phi(a)\right)^{-1} = 1,$$

so by assumption on ϕ as an extreme point, $\psi = \phi$. Thus $(1 - \phi(a))\phi(b) = \phi(1 - a)b$, hence $\phi(a)\phi(b) = \phi(ab)$ for all $b \in A$.

Our next result is contained in Theorems 3.4.3 and 3.4.4 in Sect. 3.4, but will be needed in Sect. 3.3.

Proposition 3.1.5 Let A and B be unital C^* -algebras and ϕ a Jordan homomorphism of A into B. Then ϕ is an extreme point of the unit ball of positive maps from $A \rightarrow B$.

Proof We may assume $\phi(1) = 1$. Suppose $\phi = \frac{1}{2}(\psi + \eta)$ with ψ , η belonging to the unit ball of positive maps of *A* into *B*, and suppose there exists a self-adjoint operator $a \in A$ such that $\psi(a) \neq \eta(a)$. Then by the Kadison-Schwarz inequality, Theorem 1.3.1,

$$\begin{split} \phi(a^2) &= \phi(a)^2 = \frac{1}{4} \big(\psi(a) + \eta(a) \big)^2 = \frac{1}{2} \big(\psi(a)^2 + \eta(a)^2 \big) - \frac{1}{4} \big(\psi(a) - \eta(a) \big)^2 \\ &< \frac{1}{2} \big(\psi(a)^2 + \eta(a)^2 \big) \le \frac{1}{2} \big(\psi(a^2) + \eta(a^2) \big) \\ &= \phi(a^2). \end{split}$$

This is a contradiction so $\psi(a) = \eta(a)$, and hence $\psi = \eta = \phi$.

Corollary 3.1.6 Let A and B be unital abelian C^* -algebras. Let $\phi : A \to B$ be a unital positive map. Then ϕ is a homomorphism if and only if ϕ is an extreme point of the convex set of unital positive maps of A into B.

Proof This is immediate from Propositions 3.1.4 and 3.1.5.

We conclude this section with a characterization of automorphisms of B(H). Recall the notation $[A\xi]$ for the projection onto the closed subspace generated by vectors $a\xi$, $a \in A$, $\xi \in H$. If $A = \mathbb{C}$ we use the notation $[\xi]$ instead of $[\mathbb{C}\xi]$ for the 1-dimensional projection on the subspace generated by the vector ξ .

Proposition 3.1.7 Let ϕ be an automorphism of B(H). Then there exists a unitary operator U such that $\phi = AdU$.

Proof Since ϕ maps minimal projections onto minimal projections, for each $\xi \in H$ there is $\eta \in H$ such that $\phi([\xi]) = [\eta]$. Composing ϕ by an inner automorphism AdU, we may assume $\phi([\xi]) = [\xi]$ for a unit vector ξ . Each unit vector in B(H) is cyclic, so $[B(H)\xi] = 1$. Define an operator $V \in B(H)$ by

$$Va\xi = \phi(a)\xi, \quad a \in B(H). \tag{3.1}$$

Then

$$Vab\xi = \phi(ab)\xi = \phi(a)\phi(b)\xi = \phi(a)Vb\xi$$

Thus

$$Va = \phi(a)V$$
, for all $a \in B(H)$. (3.2)

Since $\phi([\xi]) = [\xi]$,

$$\|Va\xi\|^{2} = (Va\xi, Va\xi) = (\phi(a)\xi, \phi(a)\xi) = (\phi(a^{*}a)\xi, \xi) = (\phi([\xi]a^{*}a[\xi])\xi, \xi)$$
$$= (a^{*}a\xi, \xi)(\phi([\xi])\xi, \xi) = (a^{*}a\xi, \xi) = \|a\xi\|^{2}.$$

Thus *V* is an isometry, which by (3.1) is surjective. Thus *V* is unitary, so by (3.2) $\phi(a) = VaV^*$. Let $U = V^*$. Then $\phi = AdU$.

3.2 Jordan Homomorphisms

An important class of maps is that of Jordan homomorphisms. It follows from a result of Jacobson and Rickart [29] together with some structure theory for von Neumann algebras and second dual techniques for C^* -algebras, that each Jordan homomorphism of a C^* algebra into another is the sum of a homomorphism and an anti-homomorphism much like that of the proof of Theorem 1.2.11, see [72] hence they are not extremal, even though they are extreme points of the unit ball. To simplify our approach we shall restrict our attention to the simpler case of Jordan automorphisms of B(H), where we can use more elementary techniques together with the extremality properties we have shown for Jordan homomorphisms. We start with the $n \times n$ matrices M_n and in particular M_2 . Let $(e_{ij})_{i,j=1}^n$ denote a complete set of matrix units for M_n .

Lemma 3.2.1 Let ρ be a linear functional on M_n . Then

- (i) The density matrix for ρ is $(\rho(e_{ij}))^t$.
- (ii) If ρ is a state then ρ is pure if and only if

$$\left|\rho(e_{ij})\right|^2 = \rho(e_{ii})\rho(e_{jj}) \text{ for all } 1 \le i, j \le n.$$

Proof (i) follows since $Tr((\rho(e_{ij}))^t e_{kl}) = \rho(e_{kl})$ for all k, l.

(ii) ρ is a pure state if and only if its density matrix is a 1-dimensional projection, hence by (i) if and only if ($\rho(e_{ij})$) is a 1-dimensional projection, so (ii) follows. \Box

Lemma 3.2.2 Denote by C_2 the convex set of unital positive maps of M_2 into itself. Let ϕ be an extreme point of C_2 . Then there exists a pure state ρ of M_2 such that $\rho \circ \phi$ is a pure state.

Proof Let ρ be a linear functional on M_2 . Then its density operator is positive if and only if ρ is positive, hence by Lemma 3.2.1 if and only if $\rho(e_{11}) \ge 0$, $\rho(e_{22}) \ge 0$ and $|\rho(e_{12})|^2 \le \rho(e_{11})\rho(e_{22})$. Suppose there is no pure state ρ such that $\rho \circ \phi$ is a pure state. Then for all pure states ρ , by Lemma 3.2.1(ii),

$$\rho(\phi(e_{11}))\rho(\phi(e_{22})) > |\rho(\phi(e_{12}))|^2.$$

Since the set of pure states on M_2 is compact there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that

$$\alpha \leq \rho \big(\phi(e_{11}) \big) \rho \big(\phi(e_{22}) \big) - \big| \rho \big(\phi(e_{12}) \big) \big|^2$$

for all pure states ρ . Since $|\rho(\phi(e_{12}))|^2 \le 1$

$$(1\pm\alpha)\big|\rho\big(\phi(e_{12})\big)\big|^2\leq\rho\big(\phi(e_{11})\big)\rho\big(\phi(e_{22})\big).$$

Define two maps ψ^+ and ψ^- of M_2 into itself as follows; ψ^{\pm} is linear, $\psi^{\pm}(e_{ii}) = \phi(e_{ii}), i = 1, 2, \text{ and}$

$$\psi^{\pm}(e_{12}) = (1 \pm i\delta)\phi(e_{12}), \qquad \psi^{\pm}(e_{21}) = (1 \mp i\delta)\phi(e_{21}),$$

where $0 < \delta < \alpha^{1/2}$, so that $|1 \pm i\delta|^2 = 1 + \delta^2 < 1 + \alpha$. By the characterization of positive linear functionals in the beginning of the proof $\rho \circ \psi^{\pm}$ is a positive linear functional for all states ρ , hence ψ^{\pm} is a positive map. Furthermore $\psi^{\pm}(1) = \phi(1) = 1$, so $\psi^{\pm} \in C_2$. Since $\phi = \frac{1}{2}(\psi^+ + \psi^-)$, and ϕ is extreme, $\psi^+ = \psi^-$, so that $\phi(e_{12}) = 0$. Then $\phi(e_{22}) = 1 - \phi(e_{11})$, so the range of ϕ is an abelian subalgebra of M_2 . Composing ϕ by AdV for a suitable unitary operator V, we can by an application of Lemma 3.1.2 assume the range of ϕ is contained in the diagonal algebra D_2 . If $\phi(M_2) \subset \mathbb{C}1$, then ϕ is a state, so pure since ϕ is extreme, a case which is ruled out. Thus $\phi(M_2) = D_2$. Therefore $\phi(e_{11}) = xe_{11} + ye_{22}$, $\phi(e_{22}) = (1 - x)e_{11} + (1 - y)e_{22}$.

There are two cases. Assume first one of the four entries is 0; say y = 0. Then 1 - y = 1. Thus $Tr(e_{22}\phi(e_{11})) = 0$, $Tr(e_{22}\phi(e_{22})) = 1$, so the state $\omega(a) = Tr(e_{22}\phi(a))$

is pure, a case which is ruled out. Assume next 0 < x < 1, and 0 < y < 1. Then there exists $\alpha > 0$ such that $\phi(e_{ii}) \ge \alpha 1$, i = 1, 2. Thus $\phi(a) \ge \alpha Tr(a)1$ for all $a \ge 0$. By extremality $\phi(a) = \frac{1}{2}Tr(a)$ for all a, which is impossible since ϕ is extremal. We have thus obtained a contradiction to the assumption that $\rho \circ \phi$ is never pure for ρ a pure state. The proof is complete.

Lemma 3.2.3 Let ϕ be extreme in C_2 . Then there is a unitary operator U such that

$$AdU \circ \phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \alpha b + \beta c \\ \overline{\alpha}c + \overline{\beta}b & \gamma a + \varepsilon b + \overline{\varepsilon}c + \delta d \end{pmatrix},$$

where $0 \le \gamma \le 1$, $\delta = 1 - \gamma$.

Proof Write ϕ in the form $\phi(a) = \sum \phi_{ij}(a)e_{ij}$, where ϕ_{ij} is a linear functional on M_2 . By Lemma 3.2.2 we can compose ϕ by AdU for a suitable unitary U so we can assume ϕ_{11} is the pure state $\phi_{11}((a_{ij})) = a_{11}$. Thus $\phi_{11}(e_{22}) = 0$, so $\phi_{12}(e_{22}) = 0 = \phi_{12}(e_{11})$. Thus ϕ is of the form described in the lemma.

Theorem 3.2.4 Let ϕ be a normal Jordan automorphism of B(H). Then ϕ is either an automorphism or an anti-automorphism, hence is of the form AdU or AdU \circ t for a unitary operator U.

Proof We first assume dim H = 2, so $B(H) = M_2$. By Proposition 3.1.5 ϕ is extreme in C_2 , hence we can assume ϕ is of the form described in Lemma 3.2.3, i.e.

$$\phi \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a & \alpha b + \beta c \\ \overline{\alpha}c + \overline{\beta}b & \gamma a + \varepsilon b + \overline{\varepsilon}c + \delta d \end{pmatrix},$$

with $\gamma + \delta = 1$. In particular

$$\phi\begin{pmatrix}0&1\\0&0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}0&\alpha\\\overline{\beta}&\varepsilon\end{pmatrix},$$

hence

$$0 = \phi\left(\begin{pmatrix} & 1 \\ 0 & \end{pmatrix}^2\right) = \phi\begin{pmatrix} & 1 \\ 0 & \end{pmatrix}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha \overline{\beta} & \alpha \varepsilon \\ \varepsilon \overline{\beta} & \alpha \overline{\beta} + \varepsilon^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, $\alpha \overline{\beta} = \alpha \varepsilon = \varepsilon \overline{\beta} = \alpha \overline{\beta} + \varepsilon^2 = 0$. There are three cases.

(i) $\alpha = 0$. Then $\varepsilon \overline{\beta} = \varepsilon^2 = 0$, so

$$\phi\begin{pmatrix}0&1\\0&0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}0&0\\\overline{\beta}&0\end{pmatrix}, \qquad \phi\begin{pmatrix}0\\1\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\beta\\0\end{pmatrix}.$$

(ii) $\beta = 0$. Then similarly

$$\phi\begin{pmatrix}0&1\\0&0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}0&\alpha\\0&0\end{pmatrix}, \qquad \phi\begin{pmatrix}0&0\\1&0\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}0\\\overline{\alpha}\end{pmatrix}.$$

(iii) $\varepsilon = 0$. Then $\alpha \overline{\beta} = 0$, so one of the two cases (i) or (ii) occurs. In case (i) $\phi \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta \\ \overline{\beta} \end{pmatrix}$, so the square is 1, hence $|\beta| = 1$. In case (ii) $|\alpha| = 1$. It follows that in case (i) ϕ is an anti-automorphism, and in case (ii) an automorphism.

Now consider the general case. Let p be a 1-dimensional projection. Then p is a minimal projection, so $\phi(p)$ is a minimal projection, hence is a 1-dimensional projection. Let e be a 2-dimensional projection. Then it is the sum of two 1dimensional projections, so $\phi(e)$ is a 2-dimensional projection, and $\phi : eB(H)e \rightarrow \phi(e)B(H)\phi(e)$ is a Jordan isomorphism, hence by the first part of the proof applied to the composition of ϕ by an isomorphism of $\phi(e)B(H)\phi(e)$ onto eB(H)e, ϕ is either an isomorphism or an anti-isomorphism. Let now p and q be distinct 1dimensional projections in B(H) and $e = \operatorname{span}(p, q)$. Then e is a 2-dimensional projection, and so is $\phi(e)$. By the above applied to e, if ϕ is an isomorphism, $\phi(pq) = \phi(p)\phi(q)$, and in the anti-isomorphism case $\phi(pq) = \phi(q)\phi(p)$.

Let X_p (resp. Y_p) be the set of 1-dimensional projections q in B(H) such that $0 \neq pq \neq p$ and $\phi(pq) = \phi(p)\phi(q)$ (resp. $\phi(pq) = \phi(q)\phi(p)$). Then either X_p or Y_p is non-empty, say $X_p \neq \emptyset$. Let $q \in X_p$. Then q is an interior point of X_p . Indeed, let $\gamma = \|pq\|$,

$$c = \left\| \phi(pq) - \phi(q)\phi(p) \right\|.$$

Then $\gamma > 0$, c > 0. Let f be a 1-dimensional projection such that $f \neq p$ and

$$||f - q|| \le \delta = \min(c/4, \gamma/2).$$

Then $||fp|| \ge ||qp|| - ||(f-q)p|| \ge \gamma/2$. Furthermore,

$$c = \|\phi(pq) - \phi(q)\phi(p)\|$$

$$\leq \|\phi(pq) - \phi(pf)\| + \|\phi(pf) - \phi(f)\phi(p)\| + \|(\phi(f) - \phi(q))\phi(p)\|$$

$$\leq \delta + \|\phi(pf) - \phi(f)\phi(p)\| + \delta.$$

Hence

$$\|\phi(pf) - \phi(f)\phi(p)\| \ge c - c/2 = c/2.$$

Then $f \in X_p$, proving that q is an interior point of X_p .

Let $g \neq p$ be a 1-dimensional projection such that $gp \neq 0$. Let ψ, ξ, η be unit vectors such that $p = [\psi], g = [\xi], q = [\eta]$. Multiplying ξ and η by scalars we may assume $(\xi, \psi) > 0, (\eta, \psi) > 0$. Let

$$\xi(t) = (1-t)\eta + t\xi, \quad t \in [0,1],$$

be the line segment in *H* from η to ξ . Then $||\xi(t)|| \le 1$, and $(\xi(t), \psi) = (1 - t)(\eta, \psi) + t(\xi, \psi) > 0$, so $p[\xi(t)] \ne 0$. It follows from the previous paragraph applied to $q = [\xi(0)]$ and thus to each $[\xi(t)]$ that the set of *t* such that $[\xi(t)] \in X_p$ is open. Since the set is trivially closed, it follows that $g = [\xi(1)] \in X_p$.

We have thus shown that every 1-dimensional projection with $gp \neq 0$ belongs to X_p . Since each projection $g \perp p$ obviously satisfies the identity $\phi(pg) = \phi(p)\phi(g)$, this identity is therefore shown for all 1-dimensional projections g. Since p was arbitrary, it follows by linearity and normality of ϕ that ϕ is an isomorphism. Similarly, if $Y_p \neq \emptyset$, ϕ is an anti-isomorphism.

The last statement follows from Proposition 3.1.7, and the fact that the transpose *t* is an anti-automorphism of B(H), and the composition of two anti-isomorphisms is an isomorphism.

3.3 Maps which Preserve Vector States

In Lemma 3.2.2 we saw that for each extreme point ϕ of the convex set of unital maps of M_2 into itself, there is a pure state ϕ of M_2 such that $\rho \circ \phi$ is a pure state. A natural problem is to study maps in the extreme converse direction, i.e. maps $\phi : A \to B$, with $A, B C^*$ -algebras, such that $\rho \circ \phi$ is a pure state for all pure states ρ of B. It was shown in [71] that for all such maps $\pi \circ \phi$ is either a pure state, or an anti-homomorphism or homomorphism of A for all irreducible representations of B. We shall in the present section restrict ourselves to maps of B(K) into B(H) for which $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi$ is a vector state of B(K) for all vector states ω_{ξ} of B(H) defined by $\omega_x(a) = (a\xi, \xi)$. We then apply this to maps which carry positive rank 1 operators to positive rank 1 operators.

Lemma 3.3.1 Let K and H be Hilbert spaces and $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ a unital positive map such that for each vector state ω_{η} of B(H) there is a vector state ω_{ξ} of B(K) such that $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$. For such a pair ξ , η , either $\phi([\eta]) = [\xi]$ or $\phi([\eta]) = 1$. In the latter case $\phi(a) = \omega_{\eta}(a)1$ for all $a \in B(H)$. Furthermore ϕ is weakly continuous.

Proof We first show ϕ is weakly continuous. Let $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in J}$ be a net in B(K) such that $a_{\alpha} \to a$ is weakly. Let ξ be a unit vector in H and η a unit vector in K such that $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$. Then $\omega_{\xi}(\phi(a_{\alpha})) = \omega_{\eta}(a_{\alpha}) \to \omega_{\eta}(a) = \omega_{\xi}(\phi(a))$.

Since each weakly continuous linear functional on B(H) is a linear combination of vector states, $(\phi(a_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in J}$ converges weakly to $\phi(a)$, so ϕ is weakly continuous.

Let ξ and η be as above. Then $0 \le \phi([\eta]) \le 1$ and $\omega_{\xi}(\phi([\eta])) = 1$. Thus $\phi([\eta])[\xi] = [\xi] \le \phi([\eta])$. To prove the lemma we first assume $n = \dim H < \infty$, and use induction on n. If n = 1 the lemma is trivial.

Suppose n = 2 and $\phi([\eta]) \neq [\xi]$. We may then assume $B(H) = M_2$ and

$$\phi([\eta]) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & p \end{pmatrix}, \tag{3.3}$$

with $0 . Let <math>\mu$ be a unit vector in K orthogonal to $[\eta]$. Let $f = [\eta] + [\mu]$. Then $f B(K) f \cong M_2$. Let $(e_{ij}), i, j = 1, 2$, denote the matrix units in M_2 such that $[\eta] = e_{11}, [\mu] = e_{22}$. If ω_ρ is a vector state of M_2 then $\omega_\rho \circ \phi = \omega_\tau$ for a unit vector $\tau \in K$, so its restriction to f B(K) f is $\omega_{f\tau}$, which is a scalar multiple of a vector state, so by Lemma 3.2.1 satisfies the equality

$$\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{11})\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{22}) = \left|\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{12})\right|^{2}.$$
(3.4)

In particular this holds for $\rho = \eta$. Since also $0 \le \phi(e_{11} + e_{22}) \le 1$, we have

$$\phi(e_{22}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & q \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \phi(e_{12}) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & r \\ s & t \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $\rho = (\rho_1, \rho_2)$ is a vector in \mathbb{C}^2 the following equations hold, cf. (3.3):

$$\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{11}) = |\rho_1|^2 + p|\rho_2|^2,$$

$$\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{22}) = q|\rho_2|^2,$$

$$\omega_{\rho} \circ \phi(e_{12}) = t|\rho_2|^2 + r\overline{\rho_1}\rho_2 + s\rho_1\overline{\rho_2}$$

Thus, using (3.4)

$$|t|\rho_{2}|^{2} + r\overline{\rho_{1}}\rho_{2} + s\rho_{1}\overline{\rho_{2}}|^{2}$$

$$= |t|^{2}|\rho_{2}|^{4} + (|r|^{2} + |s|^{2})|\rho_{1}|^{2}|\rho_{2}|^{2} + 2\Re((r\overline{t} + \overline{s}t)|\rho_{2}|^{2}\overline{\rho_{1}}\rho_{2}) + 2\Re(r\overline{s}(\overline{\rho_{1}}\rho_{2})^{2})$$

$$= q|\rho_{2}|^{2}(|\rho_{1}|^{2} + p|\rho_{2}|^{2}).$$
(3.5)

Now, if f_1 , f_2 , f_3 are complex valued functions of the two complex variables ρ_1 and ρ_2 such that

$$f_1(|\rho_1|, |\rho_2|) = \Re(f_2(|\rho_1|, |\rho_2|)\overline{\rho_1}\rho_2 + f_3(|\rho_1|, |\rho_2|)(\overline{\rho_1}\rho_2)^2),$$

then it is easily verified that $f_1 = f_2 = f_3 = 0$. With

$$f_1(|p_1|, |\rho_2|) = (|\rho_1|^2 + p|\rho_2|^2)q|\rho_2|^2 - |t|^2|\rho_2|^4 - (|r|^2 + |s|^2)|\rho_1|^2|\rho_2|^2$$

and f_2 and f_3 the two real parts in (3.5), we get

$$r\overline{t} + \overline{s}t = 0 = r\overline{s}, \qquad |t|^2 = pq, \qquad |r|^2 + |s|^2 = q$$

Thus q = 0, and $\phi([\mu]) = \phi(e_{22}) = 0$. Since this holds for every unit vector $[\mu]$ orthogonal to η , and since ϕ is weakly continuous, $\phi([\eta]) = 1$, as asserted.

Suppose $n \ge 3$, and assume the lemma is proved whenever dim $H \le n - 1$. Let *e* be a projection in B(H) containing ξ , and dim e = k < n. Then $Ade \circ \phi$ has the same properties as ϕ with respect to composition with vector states,

$$Ade \circ \phi : B(K) \rightarrow eB(H)e$$

and $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$. By induction assumption $e\phi([\eta])e$ equals $[\xi]$ or e. If $e\phi([\eta])e = [\xi]$ then

$$0 = e(\phi([\eta]) - [\xi])e = ((\phi([\eta]) - [\xi])^{1/2}e)^*((\phi([\eta]) - [\xi])^{1/2}e).$$

so $(\phi([\eta]) - [\xi])e = 0$, hence $\phi([\eta])e = [\xi] = e\phi([\eta])$, taking adjoints. Similarily, if $e\phi([\eta])e = e$, then $e(1 - \phi([\eta]))e = 0$, and $e\phi([\eta]) = \phi([\eta])e = e$. Thus $\phi([\eta])$ commutes with every projection containing ξ . Since $n \ge 3$ this is possible only if $\phi([\eta])$ equals $[\xi]$ or 1.

If *H* is not finite dimensional it follows from the above that $\phi([\eta])$ commutes with every finite dimensional projection containing [ξ]. Hence $\phi([\eta])$ equals [ξ] or 1.

Theorem 3.3.2 Let *K* and *H* be Hilbert spaces and $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be a positive unital map such that for each unit vector $\xi \in H$ there is a unit vector $\eta \in K$ such that $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$. Then either $\phi(a) = \omega_{\rho}(a)1$ for a vector $\rho \in K$, or there is a linear isometry $V : H \to K$ such that $\phi = AdV$ or $\phi = AdV \circ t$, t being the transpose on B(K).

Proof By Lemma 3.3.1 ϕ is weakly continuous. Let *Tr* denote the trace on either *B*(*K*) or *B*(*H*). Thus if $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$ we have for $a \in B(K)$

$$Tr(\phi^*([\xi])a) = Tr([\xi]\phi(a)) = \omega_{\xi} \circ \phi(a)$$
$$= \omega_{\eta}(a) = Tr([\eta]a).$$

Thus $\phi^*([\xi]) = [\eta]$, and $\phi^* : B(H) \to B(K)$ is faithful and maps 1-dimensional projections to 1-dimensional projections. Let ξ and μ be mutually orthogonal unit vectors in *H*. Let η and ρ be unit vectors in *K* such that $\omega_{\xi} \circ \phi = \omega_{\eta}$, and $\omega_{\mu} \circ \phi = \omega_{\rho}$. By Lemma 3.3.1 either $\phi([\eta]) = 1$, in which case support $\phi = [\eta]$, so that $\phi(a) = \phi([\eta]a[\eta]) = \omega_{\eta}(a)1$, so ϕ is a vector state, or $\phi([\eta]) = [\xi], \phi([\rho]) = [\mu]$. In the latter case

$$0 \le \omega_{\eta}([\rho]) = \omega_{\xi}(\phi([\rho])) = \omega_{\xi}([\mu]) = 0,$$

so η and ρ are orthogonal. Since $\phi^*([\xi]) = [\eta]$ and $\phi^*([\mu]) = [\rho]$, it follows that ϕ^* maps mutually orthogonal 1-dimensional projections onto mutually orthogonal projections. Thus ϕ^* is a Jordan isomorphism on finite rank operators in B(H) into those of B(K). Thus for each finite dimensional projection $e \in B(H)$, ϕ^* is a Jordan isomorphism of eB(H)e into $\phi^*(e)B(K)\phi^*(e)$, and onto, since they have the same dimensions. It follows from Theorem 3.2.4 that ϕ^* is either an isomorphism or anti-isomorphism of eB(H)e onto $\phi^*(e)B(K)\phi^*(e)$, and implemented by a unitary operator $U : eK \to \phi^*(e)H$. By Proposition 1.4.2 the adjoint map of AdU is AdU^* , and the adjoint of the transpose map t is t. Thus $\phi : \phi^*(e)B(K)\phi^*(e) \to eB(H)e$ is either an isomorphism or an anti-isomorphism. Let $f = \bigvee_e \phi^*(e)$, where the span is over all finite dimensional projections in B(H). Since ϕ is weakly continuous it is either an isomorphism or anti-isomorphism of fB(K)f onto B(H).

Remark 3.3.3 Theorem 3.3.2 has a generalization to C^* -algebras. Recall that if ρ is a state of a C^* -algebra *B* then there are a Hilbert space H_ρ , a *-representation π_ρ of *B* on H_ρ and a vector $\xi_\rho \in H_\rho$ such that $\rho(a) = \omega_{\xi_\rho} \circ \pi_\rho(a)$ for $a \in B$.

Furthermore, ρ is a pure state if and only if π_{ρ} is irreducible. Then the generalization of Theorem 3.3.2 states, see [71]: Let *A* and *B* be unital *C**-algebras and $\phi : A \to B$ a positive unital map. Then $\rho \circ \phi$ is a pure state of *A* and for all pure states ρ of *B* if and only if for each irreducible representation ψ of *B* on a Hilbert space *H*, $\psi \circ \phi$ is either a pure state of *A* or $\psi \circ \phi = V^* \pi V$, where *V* is a linear isometry of *H* into a Hilbert space *K*, and π is an irreducible *-homomorphism or *-anti-homomorphism of *A* into *B*(*K*).

Many problems on maps of operator algebras are what are called preserver problems. Then one studies maps which preserve selected properties. For a treatment on this topic we refer the reader to the book [51] of Molnár. Our next result, which is close to Theorem 3.3.2, is of this type.

Theorem 3.3.4 Let K and H be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces and $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ a positive map such that rank $\phi(p) \leq 1$ for all 1-dimensional projections $p \in B(K)$. Then one of the following three conditions holds:

- (i) There exist a state ω on B(K) and a positive rank 1 operator $q \in B(H)$ such that $\phi(a) = q\omega(a)$ for $a \in B(K)$.
- (ii) $\phi = AdU$ with $U : H \to K$ a bounded linear operator.
- (iii) $\phi(a) = (AdU(a))^t$ for $a \in B(K)$, t is the transpose on B(H).

Proof Let e = support of ϕ . Then $\phi : eB(K)e \to B(H)$ is faithful, so we may restrict attention to eB(K)e and assume ϕ is faithful. By Proposition 1.4.3(iv) $\phi^*(1)$ is invertible. Let $h = \phi^*(1)^{-1/2}$. Then $h\phi^*(1)h = 1$, so the map $\psi(a) = h\phi^*(a)h$ is unital and positive. Then for $a \in B(K)$, $b \in B(H)$ we have

$$Tr(a\psi(b)) = Tr(hah\phi^*(b)) = Tr(\phi(hah)b).$$

If *p* is a 1-dimensional projection in B(K) then $hph = \lambda q$ for a 1-dimensional projection *q*, so by the assumption on ϕ , $\phi(hph) = \lambda \phi(q)$ is positive of rank 1. It follows that the functional

$$\omega'(a) = Tr(p\psi(a)) = Tr(ph\phi^*(a)h) = Tr(\phi(hph)a) = \lambda Tr(\phi(q)a)$$

for $a \in B(H)$, is a scalar multiple of a pure state on B(H). Furthermore, $\omega'(1) = Tr(p\psi(1)) = Tr(p) = 1$, so ω' is a pure state. Thus $\psi : B(H) \to B(K)$ preserves vector states. By Theorem 3.3.2 and 3.2.4 ψ is either

- (i) a vector state, i.e. $\psi(a) = \omega_{\xi}(a)1$.
- (ii) $\psi(a) = V^* a V, V : K \to H$ is a linear isometry of K into H.
- (iii) $\psi(a) = V^* a^t V$, with V as in (ii).

If ρ is a state on B(K) with density operator d then for $a \in B(H)$

$$Tr(a\rho^*(b)) = Tr(\rho(a)b) = Tr(Tr(da)b) = Tr(daTr(b)),$$

so that $\rho^*(b) = dTr(b)$. By construction, $\phi^* = h^{-1}\psi h^{-1}$. Thus we have in case (i), $\psi(a) = Tr(qa)$ for a 1-dimensional projection q, so that

$$Tr(\phi(a)b) = Tr(ah^{-1}\psi(b)h^{-1})$$
$$= Tr(ah^{-1}Tr(qb)h^{-1})$$
$$= Tr(ah^{-2})Tr(qb)$$
$$= Tr(qTr(ah^{-2})b),$$

so that $\phi(a) = qTr(ah^{-2})$ is as in (i) in the theorem.

In case (ii)

$$Tr(\phi(a)b) = Tr(ah^{-1}\psi(b)h^{-1}) = Tr(h^{-1}ah^{-1}V^*bV) = Tr((Vh^{-1})a(Vh^{-1})^*b),$$

so that $\phi(a) = AdU$ with $U^* = Vh^{-1} : H \to K$.

In case (iii) we similarly have

$$Tr(\phi(a)b) = Tr(h^{-1}ah^{-1}V^*b^tV) = Tr((AdU(a))^tb),$$

so that $\phi(a) = t \circ AdU$.

It turns out that 2-positive and 2-copositive extremal maps in $B(B(K), H)^+$ are of the form described in Theorem 3.3.4. We conclude the section with a proof of this. Assume for simplicity that *K* and *H* are finite dimensional. Recall that if ξ is a vector in an *n*-dimensional Hilbert space, $\xi = (\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n)$ then ξ can be identified with the $1 \times n$ column matrix

$$\xi = \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 \\ \vdots \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $\xi^* = [\overline{\xi_1}, \dots, \overline{\xi_n}]$. If η is another vector we get

$$\xi^*\eta = \langle \eta, \xi \rangle,$$

and if they are unit vectors, $\xi \eta^*$ is the partial isometry from η to ξ . In particular $\xi \xi^*$ is the projection [ξ].

Lemma 3.3.5 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be of the form $\phi(x) = AxA^*$ with $A : K \to H$ non-zero. Choose unit vectors $\xi \in K, \omega \in H$ and $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\phi(\xi\xi^*)\omega = \lambda\omega.$$

Define $B: K \to H$ by

$$B\eta = \lambda^{-1/2} \phi(\eta \xi^*) \omega.$$

Then $B = e^{it}A$ for some $t \in [0, 2\pi)$.

Proof By assumption

$$\lambda \omega = A\xi \xi^* A^* \omega = A\xi (A\xi)^* \omega = A\xi \langle \omega, A\xi \rangle.$$

Thus $A\xi = z\omega$ for some $z \in \mathbb{C}$. Since

$$|z|^{2}\omega = z\omega\langle\omega, z\omega\rangle = A\xi\{\omega, A\xi\} = \lambda\omega,$$

 $|z| = \lambda^{1/2}$. Let $\eta \in K$. Then

$$B\eta = \lambda^{-1/2} A\eta \xi^* A^* \omega = \lambda^{-1/2} A\eta \langle \omega, A\xi \rangle = \lambda^{-1/2} \overline{z} A\eta = e^{it} A\eta,$$

where t satisfies $\lambda^{-1/2}\overline{z} = e^{it}$. Thus $B = e^{it}A$.

Proposition 3.3.6 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)^+$. Let λ , ξ , ω , B be defined by ϕ as in Lemma 3.3.5. Let $\psi \in B(B(K), H)^+$ be the map $\psi(x) = BxB^*$. Then $\psi \leq \phi$ if and only if for all $\eta \in K$, $\rho \in H$ we have the inequality

$$\left|\left\langle\phi(\eta\xi^*)\omega,\rho\right\rangle\right|^2\leq\left\langle\phi(\xi\xi^*)\omega,\omega\right\rangle\left\langle\phi(\eta\eta^*)\rho,\rho\right\rangle.$$

Proof Clearly $\psi \leq \phi$ if and only if for all $\eta \in K$, $\rho \in H$

$$\langle \psi(\eta\eta^*)\rho,\rho\rangle \leq \langle \phi(\eta\eta^*\rho,\rho)\rangle$$

The left hand side of the above inequality is equal to

$$\begin{split} \left\langle B\eta\eta^*B^*\rho,\rho\right\rangle &= \left\langle B\eta(B\eta)^*\rho,\rho\right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle B\eta\langle\rho,B\eta\rangle,\rho\right\rangle \\ &= \left|\left\langle B\eta,\rho\right\rangle\right|^2 \\ &= \lambda^{-1} \left|\left\langle \phi(\eta\xi^*)\omega,\rho\right\rangle\right|^2 \end{split}$$

by definition of B. If the inequality in the proposition is satisfied it follows that

$$\begin{split} \langle \psi(\eta\eta^*)\rho,\rho\rangle &\leq \lambda^{-1} \langle \phi(\xi\xi^*)\omega,\omega\rangle \langle \phi(\eta\eta^*)\rho,\rho\rangle \\ &= \langle \phi(\eta\eta^*)\rho,\rho\rangle, \end{split}$$

by choice of λ . Thus $\psi \leq \phi$.

Conversely, if $\psi \leq \phi$, then by the above computations

$$\lambda^{-1} |\langle \phi(\eta \xi^*) \omega, \rho \rangle|^2 \leq (\phi(\eta \eta^*) \rho, \rho),$$

so the inequality in the proposition follows from the definition of λ .

Theorem 3.3.7 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)^+$ be an extremal map. Assume ϕ is 2-positive (resp. 2-copositive). Then ϕ is a completely positive of the form $\phi = AdV$ with $V : H \to K$ (resp. ϕ is copositive of the form $AdV \circ t$).

Proof Let ξ , ω , λ be as in Lemma 3.3.5. Let $\eta \in K$. Consider the positive matrix

$$X = \begin{pmatrix} \xi \xi^* & \xi \eta^* \\ \eta \xi^* & \eta \eta^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ \eta & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \xi \\ \eta & 0 \end{pmatrix}^* \in M_2(B(K)).$$

Since ϕ is 2-positive the matrix

$$\phi_2(X) = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(\xi\xi^*) & \phi(\xi\eta^*) \\ \phi(\eta\xi^*) & \phi(\eta\eta^*) \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(B(H))^+.$$

Thus for each $\rho \in H$ we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \langle \phi(\xi\xi^*)\omega, \omega \rangle & \langle \phi(\xi\eta^*)\rho, \omega \rangle \\ \langle \phi(\eta\xi^*)\omega, \rho \rangle & \langle \phi(\eta\eta^*)\rho, \rho \rangle \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \omega & 0 \\ 0 & \rho \end{pmatrix}^* \phi_2(X) \begin{pmatrix} \omega & 0 \\ 0 & \rho \end{pmatrix} \ge 0$$

Thus the inequality in Proposition 3.3.6 is satisfied, so by the theorem $\psi \le \phi$. Since ϕ is extremal $\psi = AdB^* = \mu\phi$ for some $\mu > 0$. Hence $\phi = AdV$ with $V = \mu^{-1/2}B^*$.

If ϕ is 2-copositive then $\phi \circ t$ is 2-positive and still extremal by Lemma 3.1.2, so $\phi \circ t = AdV$, hence $\phi = AdV \circ t$.

3.4 Nonextendible Maps

If *A* is a *C**-algebra and $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is a unital completely positive map the Stinespring Theorem, 1.2.7, states that there are a Hilbert space *K*, an isometry $V : H \to K$, and a representation $\pi : A \to B(K)$ such that $\phi = V^* \pi V$.

Since $V^*V = 1$, VV^* is a projection, which we can look at as the projection $P: K \to H$, where we consider H as a subspace of K. Then ϕ has the form $P\pi P$. We can thus consider π as an extension of ϕ to a map $\pi : A \to B(K)$. We therefore make the following definition.

Definition 3.4.1 Let *A* be a unital *C*^{*}-algebra, and $H \subset K$ two Hilbert spaces. Let *P* be the orthogonal projection of *K* onto *H*. Let $\phi \in B(A, H)$ and $\Phi \in B(A, K)$ be positive unital maps. We say

- (i) Φ is an extension of ϕ and write $\Phi \supset \phi$ if $\phi(a) = P\Phi(a)P$ for all $a \in A$.
- (ii) $\Phi \supset \phi$ is *trivial* if *H* is invariant under the action of $\Phi(a)$ for all $a \in A$, i.e. $\Phi(a)\xi = \phi(a)\xi$ for $a \in A$ and $\xi \in H$.
- (iii) ϕ is called *nonextendible* if all extensions $\Phi \supset \phi$ are trivial.

Note that if $\Phi \supset \phi$ is an extension as above, and $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \otimes \xi_i \in A \otimes H$, consider the element

$$\sum_{k} \phi(a_i)\xi_i = P\left(\sum \Phi(a_i)\xi_i\right) \in H.$$

Then

$$\left\|\sum \phi(a_i)\xi_i\right\| \le \left\|\sum \Phi(a_i)\xi_i\right\|.$$
(3.6)

If the extension $\Phi \supset \phi$ is trivial then $\sum \Phi(a_i)\xi_i \in H$, so we have equality in (3.6). Conversely, if for all $\sum_i a_i \otimes \xi_i \in A \otimes H$ we have equality in (3.6), then $\sum_i \phi(a_i)\xi_i = \sum_i \Phi(a_i)\xi_i$, so the extension $\Phi \supset \phi$ is trivial. We have shown:

Lemma 3.4.2 Let $\phi \in B(A, H)$ be a positive unital map. Then ϕ is nonextendible *if and only if*

$$\left\|\sum \phi(a_i)\xi_i\right\| = \left\|\sum \Phi(a_i)\xi_i\right\|$$

for all extensions $\Phi \supset \phi$ and $a_i \in A, \xi_i \in H$.

We say a positive map $\phi : A \to B(H)$ is *irreducible* if the commutant of $\phi(A)$ is the scalar operators, i.e. the only operators which commute with $\phi(a)$ for all $a \in A$, are the scalar multiples of the identity operator 1.

Theorem 3.4.3 Let A be a C^{*}-algebra and $\phi \in B(A, H)$ be a unital positive map. *Then*

- (i) If ϕ is nonextendible then ϕ is an extreme point of the convex set of positive unital maps of A into B(H).
- (ii) If ϕ is both nonextendible and irreducible then ϕ is an extremal map.

Proof Assume $\phi \in B(A, H)^+$ is nonextendible and $\phi = \lambda \phi_1 + \mu \phi_2$ with $\phi_i : A \rightarrow B(H)$ positive linear maps, $\lambda, \mu > 0$ and $\lambda + \mu = 1$. The operators $\phi_i(1)$ are invertible on the subspace $\phi_i(1)H$. Let H_i denote the closure of $\phi_i(1)H$.

Let

$$\psi_i(a) = \phi_i(1)^{-1/2} \phi_i(a) \phi_i(1)^{-1/2}, \quad a \in A$$

Then $\psi_i(a)$ defines an operator on H_i , which we still denote by $\psi_i(a)$. Let

$$K = H_1 \oplus H_2, \qquad \Phi = \psi_1 \oplus \psi_2.$$

Then

$$\Phi: A \to B(K)$$

is unital and positive. Let $V: H \to K$ be the linear operator

$$V(\xi) = (\lambda \phi_1(1))^{1/2} \xi \oplus (\mu \phi_2(1))^{1/2} \xi.$$

Then a straightforward computation yields

$$(\phi(a)\xi,\eta) = (\Phi(a)V\xi,V\eta)$$

for $\xi, \eta \in H$ and $a \in A$. In particular, if we put a = 1, we see that V is an isometric imbedding of H into K. Thus $\Phi \supset \phi$ is an extension of ϕ . By assumption ϕ is nonextendible. Thus Φ is a trivial extension. In our definition we considered H as a subspace of K. In the general case one must consider the case when H is imbedded in K as it is here, with $V : H \rightarrow K$. Thus we have

$$\Phi(a)V\xi = V\phi(a)\xi$$
 for $a \in A, \xi \in H$.

By the definitions of V and $\Phi = \psi_1 \oplus \psi_2$ we get

$$\Phi(a)V\xi = \lambda^{1/2}\phi_1(1)^{-1/2}\phi_1(a)\xi \oplus \mu^{1/2}\phi_2(1)^{-1/2}\phi_2(a)\xi.$$

This is equal to

$$V\phi(a)\xi = \lambda^{1/2}\phi_1(1)^{1/2}\phi(a)\xi \oplus \mu^{1/2}\phi_2(a)^{1/2}\phi(a)\xi,$$

so that

$$\phi_i(1)\phi(a)\xi = \phi_i(a)\xi, \text{ for all } \xi \in H,$$

hence $\phi_i = \phi_i(1)\phi$.

In case (i) in the theorem $\phi_i(1) = 1$, so $\phi_i = \phi$, and the conclusion in (i) follows. In case (ii) $\phi_i(a) = \phi_i(1)\phi(a)$ for all *a*. Taking adjoints for *a* self-adjoint we see that $\phi_i(1)$ commutes with the self-adjoint operator $\phi(a)$, and therefore $\phi_i(1) \in \phi(A)'$, which we assumed is the scalar operators. Thus ϕ_i is a scalar multiple of ϕ , and thus ϕ is extremal.

It is a quite special property to be a nonextendible map. Our next result is an example of a nonextendible map. It is an extension of Proposition 3.1.5, where it was shown that Jordan homomorphisms were extremal in the set of positive unital maps.

Theorem 3.4.4 Let A be a C^* -algebra and $\phi \in B(A, H)$ a unital Jordan homomorphism. Then ϕ is nonextendible.

Proof Since $\phi(1)$ is always a projection the assumption that ϕ is unital is just made for convenience. Let $\Phi \supset \phi$ be an extension, so $\phi(a) = P\Phi(a)P$, where *P* is the projection of *K* onto *H*, $\Phi : A \rightarrow B(K)$ positive and unital. If $a \in A$ is self-adjoint then the Kadison-Schwarz inequality, Theorem 1.3.1, applied to Φ , implies with 1 the identity in B(K),

$$0 \le P\Phi(a)(1-P)\Phi(a)P$$

= $P\Phi(a)^2P - \phi(a)^2$
= $P\Phi(a)^2P - \phi(a^2)$
= $P(\Phi(a)^2 - \Phi(a^2))P \le 0.$

3.4 Nonextendible Maps

It follows that $(1 - P)\Phi(a)P = 0$, hence $\Phi(a)\xi \in H$ for all $\xi \in H$. Thus Φ is a trivial extension of ϕ .

In the converse direction we see that if ϕ is a nonextendible unital completely positive map, then the Stinespring Theorem, 1.2.7, shows that ϕ has an extension which is a representation, hence by nonextendibility ϕ , is itself a homomorphism. It is interesting that this conclusion holds in much more generality. Recall from Definition 1.2.1 that a map $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is 2-positive if $\phi \otimes \iota$ is positive, where ι is the identity map of M_2 onto itself. This means that

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(A)^+ \Rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a) & \phi(b) \\ \phi(b)^* & \phi(c) \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(B(H))^+.$$

Theorem 3.4.5 Let A be a C^* -algebra and $\phi \in B(A, H)$ a unital 2-positive nonextendible map. Then ϕ is a homomorphism.

Proof Let $a, b \in A$ with $a \ge 0$. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & ab^* \\ ba & bab^* \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a^{1/2} & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a^{1/2} \\ a^{1/2} & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a^{1/2} & 0 \\ 0 & b^* \end{pmatrix} \ge 0.$$

Let b be fixed, and, then since ϕ is 2-positive,

$$\psi(a) = \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a) & \phi(ab^*) \\ \phi(ba) & \phi(bab^*) \end{pmatrix}$$

defines a positive map of A into $B(H \oplus H)$. Then $\psi(1)$ is invertible on $\psi(1)H \oplus H$. Let K denote the closure of $\psi(1)H \oplus H$. Define a map $\Phi : A \to B(H \oplus H)$ by

$$\Phi(a) = \psi(1)^{-1/2} \psi(a) \psi(1)^{-1/2}.$$

Then Φ is a positive unital map of A into B(K). Let $V : H \to K$ be the linear operator defined by

$$V\xi = \psi(1)^{1/2}(\xi \oplus 0).$$

Thus for $\xi, \eta \in H$ we immediately get

$$(\phi(a)\xi,\eta) = (\Phi(a)V\xi,V\eta).$$

In particular, if a = 1, so $\phi(a) = 1$, we see that $V : H \to K$ is an isometric imbedding, and so

$$\phi(a) = V^* \Phi(a) V.$$

Thus Φ is an extension of ϕ , and since ϕ is nonextendible, $\Phi \supset \phi$ is a trivial extension. Therefore

$$\Phi(a)V\xi = V\phi(a)\xi.$$

Using the defining formulas for Φ and V we then get

$$\psi(1)^{-1/2} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a) & \phi(ab^*) \\ \phi(ba) & \phi(bab^*) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \Phi(a)V\xi = V\phi(a)\xi = \psi(1)^{1/2} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a)\xi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we multiply on the left by $\psi(1)^{1/2}$, we get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi(a) & \phi(ab^*) \\ \phi(ba) & \phi(bab^*) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & \phi(b)^* \\ \phi(b) & \phi(bb^*) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \phi(a)\xi \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

hence $\phi(ba)\xi = \phi(b)\phi(a)\xi$ for all $\xi \in H$, proving that ϕ is a homomorphism. \Box

3.5 A Radon-Nikodym Theorem

One version of the classical Radon-Nikodym theorem for measures states that if μ and η are finite measures on a measure space, and $\eta \leq \mu$, then there exists a measurable function $0 \leq f \leq 1$ such that

$$\int g \, d\eta = \int f g \, d\mu$$

for all integrable functions g. We shall in the present section prove an analogous result for completely positive maps and then apply this to characterize maps which are extremal among the completely positive ones. We first show a sharpening of the Stinespring Theorem 1.2.7.

Lemma 3.5.1 Let A be a C*-algebra and $\phi : A \to B(H)$ a completely positive map. Then there exist a Hilbert space K, a representation π of A on K, a bounded operator $V : H \to K$ with the property that the closed subspace

$$\left[\pi(A)VH\right] = \left\{\pi(a)V\xi : a \in A, \xi \in H\right\}^{-}$$

equals K, and such that $\phi = V^* \pi V$.

Proof Let $W^*\pi_0W$ be a Stinespring decomposition of ϕ as in Theorem 1.2.7 with π_0 a representation of A on a Hilbert space K_0 , and $W : H \to K_0$ a bounded operator. Let e be the projection onto $[\pi_0(A)WH]$. Then e belongs to the commutant $\pi_0(A)'$ of $\pi_0(A)$, because if $a, b \in A$ then

$$\pi_0(b)\big(\pi_0(a)W\xi\big) = \pi_0(ba)W\xi \in \big[\pi_0(A)WH\big].$$

Let $K = eK_0$, $\pi = e\pi_0$ and V = eW, then

$$V^*\pi(a)V = V^*e\pi_0(a)eV = W\pi_0(a)W = \phi(a),$$

and

$$\left[\pi(A)VH\right] = \left[e\pi_0(A)WH\right] = eK_0 = K.$$

Lemma 3.5.2 Let ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 be completely positive maps of A into B(H) such that $\phi_2 - \phi_1$ is completely positive. Let $\phi_i(a) = V_i^* \pi_i(a) V_i$ be the Stinespring decompositions such that $[\pi_i(A)V_iH] = K_i$, i = 1, 2. Then there exists an operator $T: K_2 \to K_1$ with $||T|| \le 1$ such that

- (i) $TV_2 = V_1$.
- (ii) $T\pi_2(a) = \pi_1(a)T, a \in A.$

Proof Let $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \in H, a_1, \ldots, a_n \in A$. Then

$$\begin{split} \left\|\sum_{j} \pi_{1}(a_{j}) V_{1}\xi_{j}\right\|^{2} &= \sum_{ij} \left(V_{1}^{*}\pi_{1}\left(a_{i}^{*}a_{j}\right) V_{1}\xi_{j},\xi_{i}\right) \\ &= \sum_{ij} \left(\phi_{1}\left(a_{i}^{*}a_{j}\right)\xi_{j},\xi_{i}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{ij} \left(\phi_{2}\left(a_{i}^{*}a_{j}\right)\xi_{j},\xi_{i}\right) \\ &= \left\|\sum_{ij} \pi_{2}(a_{j}) V_{2}\xi_{j}\right\|^{2}, \end{split}$$

since $\phi_2 - \phi_1$ is completely positive and $(a_i^*a_j) \in (A \otimes M_n)^+$. Therefore there exists a unique contraction *T* defined on $[\pi_2(A)VH] = K_2$ which satisfies $T\pi_2(a)V_2\xi = \pi_1(a)V_1\xi$ for all $a \in A, \xi \in H$. Taking a = 1, we have $TV_2 = V_1$. If $a, b \in A$ then

$$T\pi_2(a)\pi_2(b)V_2\xi = T\pi_2(ab)V_2\xi = \pi_1(ab)V_1\xi = \pi_1(a)T\pi_2(b)V_2\xi,$$

so that $T\pi_2(a) = \pi_1(a)T$, using that $[\pi_2(A)V_2H] = K_2$.

Let ϕ be a completely positive map of A into B(H) with Stinespring decomposition $\phi = V^* \pi V$. If $0 \le T \le 1$ is an operator in $\pi(A)'$ then the map $\phi_T(a) = V^* T \pi(a) V$ is a completely positive map of A into B(H), because if $W = T^{1/2}V$, then $\phi_T(a) = W^* \pi(a) W$, so is completely positive by the Stinespring theorem, 1.2.7. If we apply this to 1 - T, we see that $\phi - \phi_T = \phi_{1-T}$ is also completely positive.

Theorem 3.5.3 Let A be a C*-algebra and ϕ and ψ completely positive maps of A into B(H) such that $\phi - \psi$ is completely positive. Let $\phi = V^* \pi V$ be the Stinespring decomposition of ϕ with $[\pi(A)VH] = K$. Then there is a unique operator $T \in \pi(A)'$ with $0 \le T \le 1$ such that $\psi(a) = \phi_T(a) = V^*T\pi(a)V$.

Proof The map $T \to \phi_T$ is clearly linear, and if $\phi_T = 0$ then for all $a, b \in A$ and $\xi, \eta \in H$ we have

$$\left(T\pi(a)V\xi,\pi(b)V\eta\right) = \left(V^*T\pi(b^*a)V\xi,\eta\right) = \left(\phi_T(b^*a)\xi,\eta\right) = 0.$$

Since $[\pi(A)VH] = K$, T = 0, so we have uniqueness in the theorem.

It remains to show that $\psi = \phi_T$ for $0 \le T \le 1$, $T \in \pi(A)'$. By Lemma 3.5.1 ψ has a Stinespring decomposition, $\psi = W^* \sigma W$, where $W : H \to K_1$ and $K_1 = [\sigma(A)WH]$. By Lemma 3.5.2 there is a contraction $X : K \to K_1$ such that XV = W and $X\pi(a) = \sigma(a)X$ for all $a \in A$, and taking adjoints, $\pi(a)X^* = X^*\sigma(a)$ for $a \in A$. Let $T = X^*X$. Then clearly $0 \le T \le 1$, and $T\pi(a) = X^*\sigma(a)X = \pi(a)T$, so that $T \in \pi(A)'$. Finally, we have for $\xi, \eta \in H$,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \phi_T(a)\xi,\eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} X^*X\pi(a)V\xi,V\eta \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} X\pi(a)V\xi,XV\eta \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma(a)XV\xi,XV\eta \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma(a)W\xi,W\eta \end{pmatrix} \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \psi(a)\xi,\xi \end{pmatrix},$$

completing the proof of the theorem.

We can now show the promised characterization of maps extremal in the cone of completely positive maps. For this we make the following,

Definition 3.5.4 Let $\phi : A \to B(H)$ be completely positive. We say ϕ is *pure* if every completely positive map $\psi : A \to B(H)$ with $\phi - \psi$ completely positive is a scalar multiple of ϕ .

It is well known that a state is pure if and only if its GNS-representation is irreducible. This extends to completely positive maps as follows.

Corollary 3.5.5 Let $\phi : A \to B(H)$ be completely positive with Stinespring decomposition $\phi = V^* \pi V$, such that $V : H \to K$ and $[\pi(A)VH] = K$. Then ϕ is pure if and only if π is irreducible.

Proof Let ϕ be pure. By the comments before Theorem 3.5.3 the set $\{T \in \pi(A)' : 0 \le T \le 1\}$ consists of scalar multiple of the identity, which implies that $\pi(A)$ is irreducible.

Conversely, if π is irreducible and $\psi : A \to B(H)$ is a map such that ψ and $\phi - \psi$ are completely positive, then by Theorem 3.5.3 $\psi = \phi_T$ for some $T \in \pi(A)', 0 \le T \le 1$. Since $\pi(A)'$ consists of scalar operators, $T = \lambda 1$ for some $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, so ψ is a scalar multiple of ϕ , hence ϕ is pure.

In the finite dimensional case we get a stronger extremality result for pure maps. The result can easily be extended to maps $\phi : A \to B(H)$, where A is a C*-algebra all of whose irreducible representations are finite dimensional.

Corollary 3.5.6 Let K_0 be a finite dimensional Hilbert space and $\phi : B(K_0) \rightarrow B(H)$ completely positive. Then ϕ is pure if and only if it is an extremal positive map in $B(B(K_0), H)^+$.

Proof It is clear that if ϕ is extremal then it is in particular pure. Conversely, assume ϕ is pure with Stinespring decomposition $\phi = V^* \pi V$, where by Corollary 3.5.5 π is irreducible. Since K_0 is finite dimensional, $\pi(B(K_0)) = B(K)$, K as in Corollary 3.5.5, and by finiteness π is an isomorphism. By Proposition 3.1.3 $AdV : B(K) \rightarrow B(H)$ is extremal. Let $\psi \in B(B(K_0), H)^+$, with $\psi \leq \phi$. Then $\psi \circ \pi^{-1} \leq AdV$, so by extremality of AdV, $\psi \circ \pi^{-1} = \lambda AdV$ for $0 \leq \lambda \leq 1$. Thus $\psi = \lambda AdV \circ \pi = \lambda \phi$, so ϕ is extremal.

3.6 Notes

Extreme points of the convex set of unital positive maps were studied in [71]. The results in Sect. 3.1, except Proposition 3.1.7, are mostly variations of results in [71]. Proposition 3.1.7 is a special case of well known results on automorphisms of von Neumann algebras.

As mentioned in the introduction to Sect. 3.2 Jacobson and Rickart [29] showed that Jordan homomorphisms of matrix algebras over certain rings are sums of homomorphisms and anti-homomorphisms. Their result was used by Kadison [35] to show that surjective Jordan homomorphisms between C^* -algebras were sums of homomorphisms and anti-homomorphisms, and finally the author [72] showed the same result for Jordan homomorphisms of a C^* -algebra into another C^* -algebra. Theorem 3.2.4 is a special case of Kadison's result, but the proof is quite different from the proofs in the papers referred to above. In [9] surjective Jordan homomorphisms were characterized as those positive maps which map invertible operators onto invertible operators.

Theorem 3.3.2 and its proof is taken from [71], but its followup, Theorem 3.3.4 is, with a different proof, due to Marciniak [50]. For a closely related result for maps which are not necessarily positive, see [31, 46–48]. Theorem 3.3.7 is also due to Marciniak [50]. For further work on nonextendible maps see [95, 96].

The contents of Sect. 3.4 on nonextendible maps are all due to Woronowicz [99], see also [42].

The Radon-Nikodym type theorem, Theorem 3.5.3 is due to Arveson [1].

If *K* and *H* are finite dimensional the facial structure of the cone $B(B(K), H)^+$ has been studied by several authors; see [45] for a survey. In this context maps which generate exposed rays in $B(B(K), H)^+$, called exposed maps have attracted much attention as they form a dense subset of the extremal maps, see e.g. [13, 19].

Chapter 4 Choi Matrices and Dual Functionals

In the theory of positive maps from the $n \times n$ matrices M_n (=B(K) with $K = \mathbb{C}^n$) into B(H), the Choi matrix corresponding to a map is very important. The present chapter is devoted to the close relationship between maps and their Choi matrices. In Sect. 4.1 we present the basic definitions and results. Then in Sect. 4.2 we introduce the dual functional to a map and show how its properties reflect the positivity properties of the map.

4.1 The Choi Matrix

In this section *K* is a finite dimensional Hilbert space. The vector space of linear maps of B(K) into B(H) can be identified with $B(K) \otimes B(H)$. In our treatment this identification will be done via the Choi matrix for a map.

Definition 4.1.1 Let $K = \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$ be a linear map. Let (e_{ij}) , i, j = 1, ..., n be a complete set of matrix units for B(K). Then the *Choi matrix* for ϕ is the operator

$$C_{\phi} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ij}) \in B(K) \otimes B(H).$$

The map $\phi \to C_{\phi}$ is clearly linear and injective, and given an operator $\sum e_{ij} \otimes a_{ij} \in B(K) \otimes B(H)$, then we can define a linear map ϕ by $\phi(e_{ij}) = a_{ij}$. Thus the map $\phi \to C_{\phi}$ is surjective. This map is often called the *Jamiolkowski isomorphism*.

As defined the Choi matrix depends on the choice of matrix units (e_{ij}) . The next lemma describes it with respect to another set of matrix units. Recall the notation B(B(K), H) is the linear space of all linear maps from B(K) into B(H).

Lemma 4.1.2 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ have Choi matrix C_{ϕ} with respect to a complete set of matrix units (e_{ij}) . Let (f_{ij}) be another complete set of matrix units and w

a unitary operator such that $w^* e_{ij} w = f_{ij}$. Then the Choi matrix C_{ϕ}^f with respect to (f_{ij}) is given by

$$C_{\phi}^{f} = Ad(w \otimes 1)(C_{\phi \circ Adw}).$$

Proof

$$C_{\phi \circ Adw} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi(w^* e_{ij}w)$$

= $\sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi(f_{ij})$
= $(w \otimes 1) \left(\sum_{i,j} f_{ij} \otimes \phi(f_{ij}) (w^* \otimes 1) \right).$

Hence $C_{\phi}^{f} = (w^* \otimes 1)C_{\phi \circ Adw}(w \otimes 1).$

Two special cases are important.

Proposition 4.1.3 Let ω be a linear functional on B(K) with density operator h, viz. $\omega(a) = Tr(ha), a \in B(K)$. Let $a \in B(H)^+$, and identify b ω with the map $a \rightarrow \omega(a)b$ of B(K) into B(H). Then

$$C_{b\omega} = h^{I} \otimes b$$

Proof

$$C_{b\omega} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \omega(e_{ij})b$$

= $\sum \omega(e_{ij})e_{ij} \otimes b$
= $\sum Tr(he_{ij})e_{ij} \otimes b$
= $\sum h_{ji}e_{ij} \otimes b$
= $h^t \otimes b$.

Proposition 4.1.4 Suppose dim $H = m < \infty$. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n (resp. η_1, \ldots, η_m) be an orthonormal basis for K (resp. H), and (e_{ij}) (resp. (f_{kl})) be the corresponding complete set of matrix units, so $e_{ij}\xi_k = \delta_{jk}\xi_i$, and similarly for (f_{kl}) . Let $V : H \to K$ be defined by $V\eta_k = \sum_i v_{ik}\xi_i$. Let

$$g_{(i,k),(j,l)} = e_{ij} \otimes f_{kl}.$$

Then the set $(g_{(i,k),(j,l)})$ is a complete set of matrix units for $B(K \otimes H)$, and

$$C_{AdV} = \sum v_{jl} \overline{v}_{ik} g_{(i,k),(j,l)}$$

is a positive scalar multiple of the projection onto $\omega = \sum \overline{v}_{ik} \xi_i \otimes \eta_k$.

Proof It is obvious that $(g_{(i,k),(j,l)})$ is a complete set of matrix units for $B(K \otimes H)$. Let $\xi = \sum a_k \eta_k \in H$. Then

$$(\xi, V^*\xi_i) = (V\xi, \xi_i) = \sum_k a_k (V\eta_k, \xi_i)$$
$$= \sum_k a_k v_{ik} = \sum_k a_k (\eta_k, \overline{v}_{ik}\eta_k) = \sum_k (\xi, \overline{v}_{ik}\eta_k).$$

Thus

$$V^*\xi_i = \sum_k \overline{v}_{ik}\eta_k, \quad \text{for all } i.$$
(4.1)

It follows that

$$V^* e_{ij} V \eta_k = V^* e_{ij} \sum_s v_{sk} \xi_s = V^* v_{jk} \xi_i = \sum_l v_{jk} \overline{v}_{il} \eta_l.$$

Therefore we get

$$C_{AdV}(\xi_s \otimes \eta_t) = \left(\sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes V^* e_{ij}V\right)(\xi_s \otimes \eta_t)$$
$$= \sum \xi_i \otimes v_{st}\overline{v}_{ik}\eta_k$$
$$= \left(\sum_{ik} e_{is} \otimes v_{st}\overline{v}_{ik}f_{kt}\right)(\xi_s \otimes \eta_t)$$
$$= \left(\sum_{ik} v_{st}\overline{v}_{ik}g_{(i,k)(s,t)}\right)(\xi_s \otimes \eta_t).$$

Thus

$$C_{AdV} = \sum_{i,j,k,l} v_{jl} \overline{v}_{ik} g_{(i,k)(j,l)}.$$

In the above proposition the rank of V is reflected in how ω is written as a tensor product of vectors.

Definition 4.1.5 Let $\xi \in K \otimes H$. Then ξ has *Schmidt rank r* denoted by *SR* ξ , if *r* is the smallest number *m* such that ξ can be written as $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ with $\xi_i \in K$, $\eta_i \in H$.

Then we can find an orthonormal family $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_r \in H$ and vectors $\rho_i \in K$ such that $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^r \rho_i \otimes \omega_i$. To show this, note that the span of the η_i 's must be *r*-dimensional by minimality of *r*, so we can write the η_i 's as linear combinations of *r* orthonormal vectors $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_r$ in *H*. Using this we can give more specific information on *V* and ω in the last proposition.

Proposition 4.1.6 Let $V : H \to K$ and ω be as in Proposition 4.1.4. Then $C_{AdV} = \lambda[\omega]$ for some $\lambda \ge 0$. ω has Schmidt rank r if and only if rank V = r.

Proof Suppose rank V = r. Choose an orthonormal basis η_1, \ldots, η_m for H such that $V^*V\eta_k = \lambda_k\eta_k$ with $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_r > 0$ and $\lambda_k = 0$ for k > r. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n be an orthonormal basis for K. By Proposition 4.1.4

$$C_{AdV} = \lambda[\omega], \quad \omega = \sum_{k} \left(\sum_{i} \overline{v}_{ik} \xi_{i}\right) \otimes \eta_{k}$$

and

$$V\eta_k=\sum_i v_{ik}\xi_i.$$

Thus by (4.1)

$$\lambda_k \eta_k = V^* V \eta_k = \sum_i V^* v_{ik} \xi_i = \sum_{i,l} v_{ik} \overline{v}_{il} \eta_l, \qquad (4.2)$$

hence $\overline{v}_{il} = 0$ for $l \neq k$, and $\sum_i |v_{ik}|^2 = \lambda_k$. Thus $v_{ik} \neq 0$ for some *i* when $k \leq r$, so that ω has Schmidt rank *r*.

Conversely, if $SR\omega = r$, choose and orthonormal basis η_1, \ldots, η_m in H such that

$$\omega = \sum_{k=1}^{r} \left(\sum_{i} \overline{v_{ik}} \xi_i \right) \otimes \eta_k = \sum_{ik} \overline{v}_{ik} \xi_i \otimes \eta_k.$$

If we define $V : H \to K$ by $V\eta_k = \sum_i v_{ik}\xi_i \neq 0$ if $k \leq r$, and $V\eta_k = 0$ for k > r, Proposition 4.1.4 shows us that C_{AdV} is a scalar multiplum of $[\omega]$. By construction V has rank r. Since $\phi \to C_{\phi}$ is an isomorphism, and AdV = AdW if and only if W = zV, |z| = 1, the rank of V is uniquely defined whenever $C_{AdV} = \lambda[\omega]$ with $\lambda > 0$. Thus rank V = r.

Remark 4.1.7 If dim K = n, and ι denotes the identity map of B(K) into itself, then for V = 1 we get

$$C_{\iota} = C_{Ad1} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$$

is *n* times the projection onto $\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\xi_i \otimes \xi_i$, called the *maximally entangled state*. For more on entanglement see the discussion after Proposition 4.1.11 and Sect. 7.4.

Note that by Proposition 4.1.6 rank V = 1 if and only if $C_{AdV} = \lambda[\xi] \otimes [\eta]$ if and only if $\omega = \xi \otimes \eta$ is a product vector.

As an immediate consequence of Proposition 4.1.4 we have

Theorem 4.1.8 *Let K and H be finite dimensional and* $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ *. Then the following conditions are equivalent:*

- (i) ϕ is completely positive.
- (ii) $C_{\phi} \ge 0$. (iii) $\phi = \sum_{i=1}^{m} AdV_i$ with $V_i : H \to K$ linear, and $m \le \dim K \cdot \dim H$. (iii) $f = \sum_{i=1}^{k} AdV_i$ with $W_i : H \to K$ linear, and $h \le \mathbb{N}$.
- (iv) $\phi = \sum_{i=1}^{k} AdW_i$, with $W_i : H \to K$ linear and $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof (i) \Rightarrow (ii). Let $n = \dim K$, $m = \dim H$. If ϕ is completely positive then $\iota_n \otimes \phi : M_n \otimes B(K) \to M_n \otimes B(H)$ is positive, where ι_n is the identity map on M_n . Hence

$$C_{\phi} = \sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ij}) = \iota_n \otimes \phi\left(\sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}\right) \ge 0.$$

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii). If $C_{\phi} \ge 0$ then $C_{\phi} = \sum_{i=1}^{mn} \lambda_i [\omega_i]$ with ω_i an orthonormal basis for $K \otimes H$, $1 \le i \le mn$, $\lambda_i \ge 0$. By Proposition 4.1.4 $[\omega_i] = C_{AdV_i}$ for an operator $V_i : H \to K$. Thus $\phi = \sum_{i=1}^{mn} \lambda_i A dV_i$. If we replace V_i by $\lambda_i^{-1/2} V_i$ whenever $\lambda_i \ne 0$, we have (iii).

(iii) \Rightarrow (iv) is trivial.

(iv) \Rightarrow (i). This follows since $\iota_n \otimes AdV = Ad(\iota_n \otimes V)$ is positive, so AdV is completely positive (see also Lemma 1.2.2).

The decomposition (iii) in the above theorem is usually called the *Kraus decomposition* for ϕ .

Corollary 4.1.9 Let $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$, with $K = \mathbb{C}^n$, $H = \mathbb{C}^m$, and let $k = \min(m, n)$. Then ϕ is completely positive if and only if ϕ is k-positive.

Proof Suppose ϕ is *k*-positive. Assume first k = n. Then $\iota_n \otimes \phi$ is positive, so $C_{\phi} = \iota_n \otimes \phi(\sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}) \ge 0$. Thus by Theorem 4.1.8 ϕ is completely positive. If k = m then $\phi^* : B(H) \to B(K)$ is *k*-positive from Proposition 1.4.3, hence by the first part ϕ^* is completely positive. Then by the same proposition ϕ is completely positive. The converse is obvious.

The above corollary can be extended to maps of C^* -algebras. Then it states that every k-positive map of a C^* -algebra A into another B is completely positive if and only if either A or B has all its irreducible representations on Hilbert spaces of dimension less than or equal to k, see [93].

We shall need to know the Choi matrix for ϕ^* when $\phi \in P(H)$, the cone of positive maps of B(H) into itself.

Lemma 4.1.10 Let dim H = n and ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n be an orthonormal basis for H. Let J be the conjugation of $H \otimes H$ defined by

$$Jz\xi_i\otimes\xi_j=\overline{z}\xi_j\otimes\xi_i$$

with $z \in \mathbb{C}$. Let $\phi \in P(H)$. Then $C_{\phi^*} = JC_{\phi}J$.

Proof Let $V = (v_{ij})_{i,j \le n} \in B(H)$, and let e_{ij} denote the matrix units such that $e_{ij}\xi_k = \delta_{jk}\xi_i$. Then a straightforward computation yields

$$AdV(e_{kl}) = V^* e_{kl} V = (\overline{v}_{ki} v_{lj})_{ij}.$$

Since $V^* = (\overline{v}_{ii})$ it follows that

$$AdV^*(e_{kl}) = Ve_{kl}V^* = (v_{ik}\overline{v}_{jl})_{ij}.$$

From the definition of J it thus follows that

$$JC_{AdV}J(z\xi_p \otimes \xi_q) = J\left(\sum_{ijkl} e_{kl} \otimes \overline{v}_{ki}v_{lj}e_{ij}\right)\overline{z}\xi_q \otimes \xi_p$$
$$= \sum v_{ki}\overline{v}_{lj}e_{ij}\xi_p \otimes ze_{kl}\xi_q$$
$$= \left(\sum_{ik} v_{ik}\overline{v}_{jl}e_{kl} \otimes e_{ij}\right)(z\xi_p \otimes \xi_q)$$
$$= \left(\sum e_{kl} \otimes Ve_{kl}V^*\right)(z\xi_p \otimes \xi_q)$$
$$= C_{AdV^*}(z\xi_p \otimes \xi_q),$$

where we at the third equality sign exchanged (i, j) with (k, l). Since the vectors $\xi_p \otimes \xi_q$ form a basis for $H \otimes H$, $JC_{AdV}J = C_{AdV^*}$. Now, if ϕ is a positive map then C_{ϕ} is self-adjoint, hence the difference between two positive operators, which both are Choi matrices for completely positive maps by Theorem 4.1.8. Hence by Theorem 4.1.8 again ϕ is a real linear sum of maps AdV. By Proposition 1.4.2 the adjoint map of AdV is AdV^* . Applying this to each summand AdV, we thus get $JC_{\phi}J = C_{\phi^*}$.

Proposition 4.1.11 Let H be a Hilbert space of arbitrary dimension. Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then ϕ is positive if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi} a \otimes b) \ge 0$ for all $a \in B(K)^+$ and b a positive trace class operator on H.

Proof Computing we get

$$Tr(C_{\phi}a \otimes b) = \sum_{ij} Tr((e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ij}))(a \otimes b))$$
$$= \sum_{ij} Tr(e_{ij}a)Tr(\phi(e_{ij})b)$$
$$= \sum_{ij} a_{ji}Tr(\phi(e_{ij})b)$$
$$= Tr(\phi(a^{t})b).$$

Since this holds for all positive trace class operators *b*, and $a \ge 0$ if and only if $a^t \ge 0$, $\phi(a) \ge 0$ if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}a \otimes b) \ge 0$ for all positive *a* and *b*.

In quantum information theory C_{ϕ} is often called an *entanglement witness* when ϕ is not completely positive, because the proposition shows that if $h = \sum a_i \otimes b_i \ge 0$ is the density operator for a state ω on $B(K \otimes H)$, then ω is *entangled*, i.e. h cannot be written in the above form with all $a_i, b_i \ge 0$, if there exists a positive map ϕ : $B(K) \rightarrow B(H)$ such that $Tr(C_{\phi}h) < 0$.

Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be a self-adjoint linear map, so $\phi(a)$ is self-adjoint when *a* is self-adjoint. Then it is easily seen that C_{ϕ} is a self-adjoint operator, hence is the difference of two positive operators C_{ϕ}^+ and C_{ϕ}^- such that $C_{\phi}^+C_{\phi}^-=0$.

We shall see later, Theorem 7.4.3, that C_{ϕ}^{-} contains much information. Presently we concentrate on C_{ϕ}^{+} . Let $c \ge 0$ be the smallest positive number such that $c1 \ge C_{\phi}$. Then $c = ||C_{\phi}^{+}||$. Hence, if $c \ne 0$ there exists a map $\phi_{cp} : B(K) \to B(H)$ such that its Choi matrix $C_{\phi_{cp}} = 1 - \frac{1}{c}C_{\phi}$ is a positive operator. Thus if Tr is identified with the positive map $a \to Tr(a)1$, it is straightforward to show that $C_{Tr} = 1$, so $\frac{1}{c}\phi = Tr - \phi_{cp}$. By Theorem 4.1.8, ϕ_{cp} is completely positive. We have

Theorem 4.1.12 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be a self-adjoint linear map such that $-\phi$ is not completely positive. Then there exists a completely positive map $\phi_{cp} : B(K) \rightarrow B(H)$ such that

$$\left\|C_{\phi}^{+}\right\|^{-1}\phi=Tr-\phi_{cp}$$

Furthermore, ϕ is positive if and only if $\rho(C_{\phi_{cp}}) \leq 1$ for all product states $\rho = \omega_1 \otimes \omega_2$ on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$.

Proof The existence of ϕ_{cp} was shown above. To show the second part let $\rho(x) = Tr \otimes Tr((a \otimes b)x)$ be a product state on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ with density operator $a \otimes b$. Then

$$\rho(C_{\phi_{cn}}) = Tr \otimes Tr(C_{\phi_{cn}}a \otimes b),$$

so that $Tr(C_{\phi}a \otimes b) \ge 0$ if and only if $\rho(C_{\phi_{cp}}) \le 1$. Hence the theorem follows from Proposition 4.1.11.

Recall from Definition 1.2.1 that a map ϕ is k-positive if $\iota_k \otimes \phi$ is positive, where ι_k denotes the identity map on M_k . We now give several characterizations of k-positive maps, one of them in terms of the Choi matrix.

Definition 4.1.13 An operator *C* on $K \otimes H$ is called *k*-block positive if $(C \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i) \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i) \ge 0$ for all choices of vectors $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k \in K$, and $\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_k \in H$.

Remark 4.1.14 Note that a vector $\xi \in K \otimes H$ is of the form $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ if and only if $\xi = (1 \otimes q)\psi$ for a vector $\psi \in K \otimes H$ and projection $q \in B(H)$ of dimension *k*.

Indeed, if $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ let *q* denote the projection onto the span of η_1, \ldots, η_k , then $\xi = (1 \otimes q)\xi$. Conversely, if $\xi = (1 \otimes q)\psi$ with $\psi = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$, *q* as above, we can choose a basis $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k$ for *qH* such that $q\eta_i = \sum \alpha_{ij}\gamma_j$. Then

$$1 \otimes q(\psi) = \sum \xi_i \otimes q \eta_i = \sum \alpha_{ij} \xi_i \otimes \gamma_j = \sum_{j=1}^k \left(\sum_i \alpha_{ij} \xi_i \right) \otimes \gamma_j.$$

The same argument also yields that $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ if and only if $\xi = p \otimes q(\psi)$ for $\psi \in K \otimes H$, and p and q k-dimensional projections in B(K) and B(H) respectively.

Theorem 4.1.15 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ and $k \leq \min(\dim K, \dim H)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) ϕ is k-positive.
- (ii) $\phi \circ AdV$ is completely positive for all $V \in B(K)$ with rank $V \leq k$.
- (iii) $AdW \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $W \in B(H)$ with rank $W \leq k$.
- (iv) C_{ϕ} is k-block positive.

Proof The proof goes as follows. (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iv) \Rightarrow (iii) \Rightarrow (i).

(i) \Rightarrow (ii). Let ϕ be *k*-positive and $V \in B(K)$ with rank $V \leq k$. Let e = support *V*. Then dim $e \leq k$. Thus

$$\phi \circ AdV = \phi \circ AdV \circ Ade : eB(K)e \to B(H).$$

Since $eB(K)e \cong M_l$ with $l \le k$, and ϕ is *k*-positive, $\phi \circ AdV$ is completely positive by Corollary 4.1.9.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). Let $(e_{ij})_{i,j \leq k}$ be a complete set of matrix units for M_k . Let $a = \sum_{i,j \leq k} e_{ij} \otimes a_{ij} \in (M_k \otimes B(K))^+$. Again by Corollary 4.1.9 $a = C_{\psi}$ for a completely positive map $\psi : M_k \to B(K)$. By Theorem 4.1.8 $\psi = \sum AdV_i$ with $V_i : K \to \mathbb{C}^k$. Since $k \leq \dim K$ we may assume $\mathbb{C}^k \subset K$, hence $V_i \in B(K)$ with rank $V_i \leq k$ for all *i*. Thus by (ii) $\phi \circ \psi$ is completely positive, hence by Theorem 4.1.8

$$\iota_k \otimes \phi(a) = \iota_k \otimes \phi(C_{\psi}) = C_{\phi \circ \psi} \ge 0,$$

so that ϕ is k-positive.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iv). Let $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i \in K \otimes H$ have Schmidt rank k. Let q be a kdimensional projection in B(H) such that $q\eta_i = \eta_i$ for all i. Let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units in B(K) such that $C_{\phi} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ij})$. Then we have

$$C_{Adq\circ\phi} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes Adq \left(\phi(e_{ij})\right) = Ad(1 \otimes q)(C_{\phi}).$$

Thus by (ii) and Theorem 4.1.8 $Ad(1 \otimes q)(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$. It follows that

$$(C_{\phi}\xi,\xi) = \left(C_{\phi}(1\otimes q)\xi, (1\otimes q)\xi\right) = \left(Ad(1\otimes q)(C_{\phi})\xi,\xi\right) \ge 0.$$

Thus C_{ϕ} is k-block positive.

(iv) \Rightarrow (iii). Let $W \in B(H)$ with rank $W \leq k$. Let $\xi = \sum \xi_i \otimes \eta_i \in K \otimes H$. Let e support W, so dim $e \leq k$. Then there exist k vectors $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in H$ such that $e\eta_i = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij}\alpha_j, c_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}$. We can therefore write $1 \otimes W\xi = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \xi_j' \otimes \beta_j$ with $\xi_j' \in K$, $\beta_j \in H$. Thus $1 \otimes W\xi$ has Schmidt rank $\leq k$, hence by the assumption that C_{ϕ} is k-block positive $(C_{\phi}(1 \otimes W)\xi, (1 \otimes W)\xi) \geq 0$. Thus

$$C_{Adw \circ \phi} = (1 \otimes AdW)(C_{\phi}) \ge 0,$$

so that $AdW \circ \phi$ is completely positive.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i). Let $V \in B(H)$ with rank $V \leq k$. Then $(AdV)^* = AdV^*$. Hence

$$\phi^* \circ AdV^* = (AdV \circ \phi)^* : B(H) \to B(K).$$

Since by assumption $AdV \circ \phi$ is completely positive, so is $\phi^* \circ AdV^*$. We have therefore shown that $\phi^* \circ AdW$ is completely positive for all $W \in B(H)$ with rank $W \leq k$. Therefore by the equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) applied to $\phi^* : B(H) \to B(K), \phi^*$ is *k*positive, hence so is ϕ .

4.2 The Dual Functional of a Map

In the previous section we studied the duality between positive maps of B(K)into B(H) as matrices via the Jamiolkowski isomorphism $\phi \to C_{\phi} \in B(K \otimes H)$. In this section we consider the duality between maps and linear functionals on $B(K) \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$, or more generally $A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$, where $\mathcal{T}(H)$ denotes the trace class operators on B(H), and A is an *operator system*, i.e. a unital linear subspace of B(K) such that $a \in A$ implies $a^* \in A$.

Definition 4.2.1 Let *A* be an operator system and $\phi : A \to B(H)$ a bounded linear map. Then its *dual functional* ϕ on $A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$ is the functional defined by

$$\widetilde{\phi}(a\otimes b) = Tr(\phi(a)b^t),$$

where t is the transpose on B(H) defined by a fixed orthonormal basis.

 $\tilde{\phi}$ is well defined because $\phi(a)$ is a bounded operator in B(H), and b is a trace class operator. Let the *projective norm* on the algebraic tensor product of A and $\mathcal{T}(H)$ be defined by

$$||x||_{\wedge} = \inf\left\{\sum ||a_i|| ||b_i||_1 : x = \sum_{i=1}^n a_i \otimes b_i, a_i \in A, b_i \in \mathscr{T}(H)\right\}$$

where $||b||_1$ is the trace norm $||b||_1 = Tr(|b|)$. We denote by $A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)$ the completion of the algebraic tensor product with respect to the projective norm, and by $A^+ \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)^+$ the closed cone generated by operators $\sum_i a_i \otimes b_i$ with $a_i \in A^+, b_i \in \mathscr{T}(H)^+$. $A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)$ is called the *projective tensor product* of A and \mathscr{T} .

Lemma 4.2.2 Let A be an operator system. Then the map $\phi \to \tilde{\phi}$ is an isometric isomorphism of the space of bounded linear maps of A into B(H) and $(A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H))^*$. Furthermore ϕ is positive if and only if $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $A^+ \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)^+$.

Proof Let $x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \otimes b_i \in A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$ be a finite tensor. Then

$$\left| \widetilde{\phi}(x) \right| = \left| \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_{i})b_{i}^{t}) \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i} \left| Tr(\phi(a_{i})b_{i}^{t}) \right|$$

$$\leq \sum_{i} \left\| \phi(a_{i}) \right\| \left\| b_{i} \right\|_{1}$$

$$\leq \left\| \phi \right\| \sum_{i} \left\| a_{i} \right\| \left\| b_{i} \right\|_{1}.$$

Thus $\|\widetilde{\phi}\| \leq \|\phi\|$.

Conversely, since $\| ~ \|_{\wedge}$ is a cross norm,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\phi\| &= \sup_{\|a\|=1} \left\|\phi(a)\right\| = \sup_{\|a\|=1, \|b\|_1=1} \left| Tr(\phi(a)b^t) \right| \\ &= \sup \left|\widetilde{\phi}(a \otimes b)\right| \\ &= \sup \|\widetilde{\phi}\| \|a \otimes b\| \\ &\leq \sup \|\widetilde{\phi}\| \|a\| \|b\|_1 \\ &\leq \|\widetilde{\phi}\|. \end{aligned}$$

Thus the map $\phi \to \tilde{\phi}$ is an isometry. The last part of the lemma follows from the proof of Proposition 4.1.11.

The connection between the Choi matrix C_{ϕ} and $\tilde{\phi}$ is given by the following result.

Lemma 4.2.3 Let K be finite dimensional and $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then C_{ϕ}^{t} is the density operator for $\tilde{\phi}$.

Proof Since the transpose is *Tr*-invariant, if $a \otimes b \in B(K) \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)$,

$$Tr(C_{\phi}^{t}a \otimes b) = Tr(C_{\phi}a^{t} \otimes b^{t})$$
$$= \sum_{ij} Tr(e_{ij}a^{t} \otimes \phi(e_{ij})b^{t})$$
$$= \sum_{ij} Tr(e_{ij}a^{t})Tr(\phi(e_{ij})b^{t})$$

$$= \sum a_{ij} Tr(e_{ij}\phi^*(b^t))$$
$$= Tr(a\phi^*(b^t))$$
$$= \widetilde{\phi}(a \otimes b),$$

proving the lemma.

We shall often encounter the situation when we compose a map by the transpose map both in the domain and the range of ϕ . Let as before *t* denote the transpose both of B(K) and B(H).

Definition 4.2.4 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then we denote by

 $\phi^t = t \circ \phi \circ t.$

The basic properties are given in

Lemma 4.2.5 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then we have

- (i) If ϕ is k-positive (resp. completely positive), so is ϕ^t .
- (ii) If $\phi = AdV$ then $\phi^t = AdV^{t*}$.
- (iii) If dim $K < \infty$ then $C_{\phi^t} = C_{\phi}^t$, where C_{ϕ}^t is the transpose on $B(K \otimes H)$.

Proof (i) Let $\iota = \iota_k$ be the identity map on M_k . Then

$$\iota \otimes \phi^{t} = (\iota \otimes t) \circ (\iota \otimes \phi) \circ (\iota \otimes t) = (t \otimes t) \circ (\iota \otimes \phi) \circ (t \otimes t),$$

is positive, since $t \otimes t$ is the transpose on $B(K \otimes H)$, so is a positive map, and $\iota \otimes \phi$ is a positive map when ϕ is *k*-positive.

(ii)
$$(AdV)^{t}(a) = (AdV(a^{t}))^{t} = (V^{*}a^{t}V)^{t} = V^{t}aV^{*t}.$$

(iii) $C_{\phi^{t}} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi^{t}(e_{ij}) = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ji})^{t} = (\sum e_{ji} \otimes \phi(e_{ji}))^{t} = C_{\phi}^{t}.$

The relationship between $\tilde{\phi}$ and ϕ^t is given in the next result.

Lemma 4.2.6 Let K and H be finite dimensional. Let $\pi : B(K) \otimes B(K) \rightarrow B(K)$ be defined by $\pi(a \otimes b) = b^t a$. Then $Tr \circ \pi$ is positive and linear. Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then

$$\widetilde{\phi} = Tr \circ \pi \circ (\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}).$$

Proof Linearity of $Tr \circ \pi$ is clear. To show positivity let $x = \sum a_i \otimes b_i \in B(K) \otimes B(K)$. Then

$$Tr \circ \pi (xx^*) = \sum_{ij} Tr \circ \pi (a_i a_j^* \otimes b_i b_j^*)$$
$$= \sum Tr (b_j^{*t} b_i^t a_i a_j^*)$$

$$= \sum_{ij} Tr((b_j^t a_j)^*(b_i^t a_i))$$
$$= Tr(\left(\sum b_j^t a_j\right)^*\left(\sum b_i^t a_i\right)) \ge 0$$

so $Tr \circ \pi$ is positive. The formula in the lemma follows from the computation

$$\widetilde{\phi}(a\otimes b) = Tr(\phi(a)b^{t}) = Tr(a\phi^{*}(b^{t})) = Tr(a\phi^{*t}(b)^{t}) = Tr \circ \pi (\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(a\otimes b)).$$

In the finite dimensional case we showed in Theorem 4.1.8 that $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ is completely positive if and only if $C_{\phi} \ge 0$, hence by Lemma 4.2.3 if and only if $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive. We now show a generalization of this. When *H* is infinite dimensional we define the positive cone $(A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H))^+$ in $A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)$ for *A* an operator system, to be the closure of the positive cone in the algebraic tensor product $A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)$.

Theorem 4.2.7 Let A be an operator system and $\phi : A \to B(H)$. Then ϕ is completely positive if and only if $\tilde{\phi}$ is a positive linear functional on $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$.

Proof We first assume H is finite dimensional. Then we have

$$\widetilde{\phi}^t(a\otimes b) = \widetilde{\phi}^*(b\otimes a), \quad a \in A, b \in B(H).$$
(4.3)

This follows from the computation

$$\widetilde{\phi}^t(a\otimes b) = Tr(\phi(a^t)^t b^t) = Tr(a^t \phi^*(b)) = \widetilde{\phi}^*(b\otimes a).$$

Assume $\tilde{\phi}$ is a positive linear functional on $A \otimes B(H)$. Since $1 \otimes 1$ is an interior point of the positive cone $(A \otimes B(H))^+$ in the algebraic tensor product $A \otimes B(H)$, and $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $(A \otimes B(H))^+$, it follows from Appendix A.3.1 that $\tilde{\phi}$ has an extension to a positive linear functional ρ on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$. Since $\rho(1 \otimes 1) = \tilde{\phi}(1 \otimes 1)$, ρ is bounded, and by the definition of the dual functional and Lemma 4.2.2, ρ is of the form $\rho = \tilde{\psi}$ for a positive map $\psi \in B(B(K), H)$.

Let $\sum_{i} a_i \otimes b_i \ge 0$ in $B(K) \otimes B(H)$. Then $\sum a_i^t \otimes b_i^t = (\sum a_i \otimes b_i)^t \ge 0$, hence $\sum b_i^t \otimes a_i^t \ge 0$. Thus by (4.3)

$$\widetilde{\psi}^*\left(\sum b_i\otimes a_i\right)=\widetilde{\psi}^t\left(\sum a_i\otimes b_i\right)=\widetilde{\psi}\left(\sum a_i^t\otimes b_i^t\right)\geq 0,$$

so $\widetilde{\psi}^*$ is positive.

To continue the proof assume first *K* finite dimensional. Then, $\tilde{\psi}^* \ge 0$ implies $C_{\psi^{*t}} = C_{\psi^*}^t \ge 0$ by Lemma 4.2.3, hence ψ^* is completely positive by Theorem 4.1.8. In the general case let *e* be a finite dimensional projection in B(K) such that $e^t = e$. Then

$$\left(Ade \circ \psi^*\right) = \widetilde{\psi^{*t}} \circ Ad(1 \otimes e), \tag{4.4}$$

which is positive, so $\psi^* : B(H) \to eB(K)e$ is completely positive by the finite dimensional case. Since this holds for all *e* as above, ψ^* is completely positive. But then ψ is completely positive by Proposition 1.4.3. Since $\tilde{\psi}$ is an extension of $\tilde{\phi}$, ψ is an extension of ϕ . Thus ϕ is completely positive.

If dim $H = \infty$, we use the same argument, and let (e_{γ}) be a net of finite dimensional projections in B(H), such that $e_{\gamma} = e_{\gamma}^{t}$, and $e_{\gamma} \to 1$. Then as in (4.4)

$$(Ade_{\gamma} \circ \phi)^{\sim} = \widetilde{\phi}^{t} \circ Ad(1 \otimes e_{\gamma})$$

$$(4.5)$$

is positive, so by the first part of the proof $Ade_{\gamma} \circ \phi$ is completely positive, and finally by taking limits ϕ is completely positive.

Conversely suppose ϕ is completely positive. Assume first that dim $H = n < \infty$, so $B(H) = M_n$. Let $\phi_n = \phi \otimes \iota_n$. Then ϕ_n is a positive map $A \otimes M_n \to M_n \otimes M_n$. Let $\pi : M_n \otimes M_n \to M_n$ be defined by $\phi(a \otimes b) = b^t a$. By Lemma 4.2.6 $Tr \circ \pi$ is positive. Let $\sum_i a_i \otimes b_i \in (A \otimes M_n)^+$. Then we have

$$\widetilde{\phi}\left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes b_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_{i})b_{i}^{t})$$
$$= \sum_{i} Tr \circ \pi(\phi(a_{i}) \otimes b_{i})$$
$$= Tr \circ \pi\left(\phi_{n}\left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes b_{i}\right)\right) \ge 0$$

so ϕ is positive. In the general case let (e_{γ}) be an increasing net in B(H) as in the previous paragraph. Then $Ade_{\gamma} \circ \phi : A \to e_{\gamma}B(H)e_{\gamma}$ is completely positive, so by the above $(Ade_{\gamma} \circ \phi)$ is positive.

For each $a \in B(H)$, $e_{\gamma}ae_{\gamma} \rightarrow a$ strongly. Thus for each trace class operator b,

$$Tr(ae_{\gamma}be_{\gamma}) = Tr(e_{\gamma}ae_{\gamma}b) \to Tr(ab).$$

Hence $e_{\gamma}be_{\gamma} \to b$ as trace class operators. Thus if $\sum a_i \otimes b_i \in (A \otimes \mathscr{T}(H))^+$ we get

$$\widetilde{\phi}\left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes b_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_{i})b_{i}^{t})$$
$$= \lim \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_{i})e_{\gamma}b_{i}^{t}e_{\gamma})$$

is positive, since $\sum_{i} a_i \otimes e_{\gamma} b_i e_{\gamma} = Ad(1 \otimes e_{\gamma})(\sum a_i \otimes b_i) \ge 0$. Thus $\tilde{\phi} \ge 0$. \Box

4.3 Notes

The results in Sect. 4.1 are due to several authors. The Kraus decomposition was noted by Kraus [41] and the Jamiolkowski isomorphism by Jamiolkowski [30]

a year later. Then Choi introduced the Choi matrix [7] and showed Theorem 4.1.8. Propositions 4.1.4, 4.1.6, and Theorem 4.1.15 can be found in [67–69], but some of these results were previously known in the literature in one form or the other, see [2, Sect. 10.3].

The results in Sect. 4.2 can be found in [78], except for Lemma 4.2.6, which is taken from [80].

Chapter 5 Mapping Cones

In the theory of positive maps the completely positive ones have by far attracted most attention. We shall in the present chapter see that if we consider cones of positive maps with selected properties then we can prove results similar to those for completely positive maps. In Sect. 5.1 we introduce the main concepts and prove the basic results, and in Sect. 5.2 we show a Hahn-Banach like extension theorem for maps positive with respect to cones.

5.1 Basic Properties

The problems on positive maps $\phi : A \to B(H)$ encountered in the present chapter are to a great extent independent of the C^* -algebra structure of A. We shall therefore concentrate on the more general situation when A is an operator system, i.e. a complex linear subspace of B(K) such that $a^* \in A$ whenever $a \in A$ with $1 \in A$. Let as before B(A, H) denote the linear space of bounded linear maps of A into B(H), and let P(H) denote the positive linear maps of B(H) into itself. The *BW-topology* (see Appendix A.1.1) on B(A, H) is the topology where a bounded net (ϕ_{α}) in B(A, H) converges to $\phi \in B(A, H)$ whenever $\phi_{\alpha}(a) \to \phi(a)$ in the weak topology for all $a \in A$. With the duality of B(A, H) and $(A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H))^*$ given by $\phi \to \widetilde{\phi}$ in the w^* -topology on bounded functionals in $(A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H))^*$. This is easily seen, since $\phi_{\alpha}(a) \to \phi(a)$ weakly if and only if $\widetilde{\phi}_{\alpha}(a \otimes b) = Tr(\phi_{\alpha}(a)b^t) \to Tr(\phi(a)b^t) =$ $\phi(a \otimes b)$ for all $a \otimes b \in A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$.

It should be remarked that if A and H are finite dimensional then the BW-topology reduces to the norm topology on B(A, H).

Definition 5.1.1 A *mapping cone* is a BW-closed convex subcone \mathscr{C} of the positive maps P(H) of B(H) into itself such that

- (i) if $0 \neq a \in B(H)^+$ then there is $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ such that $\phi(a) \neq 0$,
- (ii) \mathscr{C} is invariant in the sense that if $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ and $a, b \in B(H)$, then the map

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8_5, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

$$x \to a^* \phi(b^* x b) a = A da \circ \phi \circ A db(x) \in \mathscr{C}.$$

Note that if H is finite dimensional condition (ii) is by Theorem 4.1.8 equivalent to

(iii) If $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ and $\alpha, \beta \in CP(H)$, the cone of completely positive maps, then $\alpha \circ \phi \circ \beta \in \mathscr{C}$.

Many well known cones are mapping cones. Clearly P(H) and CP(H) are mapping cones.

The cone $P_k(H)$ consisting of all *k*-positive maps in P(H) is a mapping cone, since if $\phi \in P_k(H)$ and $a, b \in B(H)$ then

$$\iota_k \otimes Ada \circ \phi \circ Adb = Ad(1 \otimes a) \circ (\iota_k \otimes \phi) \circ Ad(1 \otimes b)$$

is positive, so $Ada \circ \phi \circ Adb \in P_k(H)$.

Some other classes are defined as follows.

Definition 5.1.2 For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ let $SP_k(H)$ denote the closed convex cone generated by maps $AdV \in P(H)$ with $V \in B(H)$ having rank less than or equal to k.

A map $\phi \in SP_1(H)$ is called *super-positive* and a map $\phi \in SP_k(H)$, $k \ge 2$ is *k-super-positive*. Super-positive maps are also called *entanglement breaking* in the literature.

Lemma 5.1.3 $SP_1(H)$ is generated by maps $a \to \omega(a)x$ with ω a normal state on B(H) and $x \in B(H)^+$. In particular, if $\phi \in SP_1(H)$ and $\alpha, \beta \in P(H)$ then both $\alpha \circ \phi, \phi \circ \beta \in SP_1(H)$.

Proof If $\phi = AdV$ with rank V = 1, let q be the range projection of V. Then q is the projection onto the 1-dimensional subspace spanned by a unit vector η . Thus

$$AdV(a) = V^* qaq V = V^*(a\eta, \eta)V = \omega_n(a)V^*V,$$

is of the form described in the lemma. Here ω_{η} is the vector state $\omega_{\eta}(a) = (a\eta, \eta)$.

Conversely, if $\phi(a) = \omega(a)x$ with ω a normal state on B(H), then ω is a convex sum of vector states. We may therefore assume $\omega = \omega_{\eta}$ with η as above, and $q = [\eta]$. We have to approximate ϕ in the BW-topology by maps of the form $\sum AdV_i$ with V_i of rank 1. Let $a_1, \ldots, a_n \in B(H)$. By weak approximation we may assume there is a finite dimensional projection $e \in B(H)$ such that $q, a_k, x \in eB(H)e$ for all k. Let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units for eB(H)e with $e_{11} = q$. Then

$$\begin{split} \phi(a_k) &= \omega_\eta(a_k) x = x^{1/2} Tr(e_{11}a_k e_{11}) x^{1/2} \\ &= x^{1/2} \sum_i e_{i1} a_k e_{1i} x^{1/2} \\ &= \sum_i (e_{1i} x^{1/2})^* a_k (e_{1i} x^{1/2}), \end{split}$$

is of the form $\sum AdV_i$ with $V_i = e_{1i}x^{1/2}$ of rank 1. Thus $\phi \in SP_1(H)$.

Note that since the normal states are w^* -dense in the state space of B(H) it suffices to consider normal states in the lemma.

Since for each $a \neq 0$ in $B(H)^+$ there is a normal state ω such that $\omega(a) \neq 0$, it follows that $SP_1(H)$ is a mapping cone. Since rank $V \leq k$ implies rank $aVb \leq k$ for all $a, b \in B(H)$, and $SP_k(H) \supset SP_1(H)$, it is clear that $SP_k(H)$ is also a mapping cone. The name "entanglement braking" comes from the last statement of Lemma 5.1.3.

Another characterization of the super-positive maps is given in the next proposition. Recall that a linear functional ρ on $A \otimes B$ is said to be *separable* if it is of the form $\rho = \sum_i \omega_i \otimes \rho_i$ with ω_i and ρ_i positive linear functionals on A and B respectively.

Proposition 5.1.4 Let $\phi \in P(H)$. Then ϕ is super-positive if and only if its dual functional ϕ is a w^* -limit of separable functionals.

Proof Since $\mathscr{T}(H)$ is weakly dense in B(H), by Lemma 5.1.3 $SP_1(H)$ is the mapping cone generated by maps of the form $a \to \omega(a)x$ with ω a state on B(H) and x a positive operator in $\mathscr{T}(H)$. Let ρ denote the positive functional, $\rho(b) = Tr(xb^t)$ on B(H). Thus, if $\phi(a) = \omega(a)x$ then

$$\overline{\phi}(a \otimes b) = Tr(\omega(a)xb^t) = \omega(a)Tr(xb^t) = \omega \otimes \rho(a \otimes b),$$

and the proposition follows easily.

Lemma 5.1.5 If \mathscr{C} is a mapping cone in P(H) then $SP_1(H) \subset \mathscr{C} \subset P(H)$.

Proof By definition $\mathscr{C} \subset P(H)$. By condition (i) in Definition 5.1.1 if *e* is a 1-dimensional projection in B(H) there is $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ such that $\phi(e) \neq 0$. Let ω be the pure state on B(H) defined by $eae = \omega(a)e$. Then the map

$$a \rightarrow \phi(eae) = \omega(a)\phi(e)$$

belongs to $SP_1(H) \cap \mathscr{C}$. Since every vector state is of the form $\omega \circ AdU$ for a unitary operator U, and each normal state is a norm limit of convex combinations of vector states, and each positive operator is approximated in the weak topology by finite sums $\sum \lambda_i e_i$ with $\lambda_i > 0$ and e_i 1-dimensional projections, it follows that $SP_1(H) \subset \mathscr{C}$.

In order to study positivity properties of maps relative to a mapping cone we need the following cones.

Definition 5.1.6 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H), and let A be an operator system. Then $P(A, \mathscr{C})$ is defined by

$$P(A, \mathcal{C}) = \big\{ x \in \big(A \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{T}(H)\big)_{sa} : \iota \otimes \alpha(x) \ge 0 \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathcal{C} \big\},$$

where ι is the identity map on A.
Lemma 5.1.7 In the above notation $P(A, \mathcal{C})$ is a proper norm closed convex cone in $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{T}(H)$ containing the cone $A^+ \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)^+$.

Proof Since $||b|| \le ||b||_1$ for all $b \in \mathcal{T}(H)$, if $\alpha \in P(H)$ and $\sum_i a_i \otimes b_i \in A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$, we have

$$\left\|\iota \otimes \alpha \left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes b_{i}\right)\right\| = \left\|\sum a_{i} \otimes \alpha(b_{i})\right\| \le \|\alpha\| \sum \|a_{i}\| \|b_{i}\|$$
$$\le \|\alpha\| \sum \|a_{i}\| \|b_{i}\|_{1}.$$

It follows that $||\iota \otimes \alpha(x)|| \leq ||\alpha|| ||x||_{\wedge}$ for all $x \in A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$ where as before $||x||_{\wedge}$ is the projective norm of $x \in A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$. In particular $\iota \otimes \alpha$ is a bounded map of $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$ into $A \otimes B(H)$, and so $P(A, \mathscr{C})$ is well defined and closed. Since it is trivially convex, it remains to show that it is proper. For this let $x \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$ be such that $\iota \otimes \alpha(x) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. If $\omega \in A^*$ we have $\omega \otimes \alpha(x) = 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. Since $SP_1(H) \subset \mathscr{C}$ by Lemma 5.1.5, $\omega \otimes \rho(x) = 0$ for all states ρ on B(H) and $\omega \in A^*$. Since these functionals span a w^* -dense subspace of $(A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H))^*$, x = 0. In particular, if $x \in P(A, \mathscr{C}) \cap (-P(A, \mathscr{C}))$ then

$$\iota \otimes \alpha(x) \in \left(A \otimes B(H)\right)^+ \cap \left(-\left(A \otimes B(H)\right)^+\right) = \{0\}$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. Thus x = 0, and $P(A, \mathscr{C})$ is a proper cone. Since it is trivial that $(A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H))^+ \supset A^+ \otimes \mathscr{T}(H)^+$, the proof is complete.

Lemma 5.1.8 Let H be finite dimensional and C a mapping cone in P(H). Then the linear isomorphisms of B(H) onto itself belonging to C are norm dense in C.

Proof Let $n = \dim H$ and identify B(H) with M_n . We first show there exists a linear isomorphism of B(H) onto itself belonging to $SP_1(H)$. Since dim $M_n = n^2$ each set of $n^2 + 1$ positive matrices in M_n is linearly dependent. Since span $M_n^+ = M_n$ there exists a basis $\{a_{ij} : i, j = 1, ..., n\}$ for M_n with $a_{ij} \in M_n^+$. Similarly M_n^* has a basis consisting of n^2 states ω_{ij} , i, j = 1, ..., n. Then the linear map of M_n into itself defined by $a \rightarrow (\omega_{ij}(a))$ is a linear isomorphism, hence is in particular surjective. But then the map

$$\beta(a) = \sum_{ij} \omega_{ij}(a) a_{ij}$$

is a linear isomorphism of M_n onto itself belonging to $SP_1(H)$, see Lemma 5.1.3.

To complete the proof let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, and let β be as above. Scaling β we may assume $\|\beta\| < \varepsilon/2$ and $\alpha + \beta \neq 0$. If $\alpha(a) + \beta(a) = 0$ for some $a \in M_n$ then $-1 \in \operatorname{Spec}(\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha)$ —the spectrum of $\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha$. Since $\operatorname{Spec}(\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha)$ is finite there exists $\lambda \in [\frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{2}]$ such that $-1 \notin \lambda \operatorname{Spec}(\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha) = \operatorname{Spec}(\lambda\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha)$. Thus $\lambda\beta^{-1} \circ \alpha(a) \neq -a$ for all a, so that $\gamma = \alpha + \lambda^{-1}\beta$ is a linear isomorphism of M_n into itself, so onto by finite dimensionality, satisfying $\|\alpha - \gamma\| \le \lambda^{-1} \|\beta\| < \varepsilon$. Since $\beta \in SP_1(H), \gamma \in \mathscr{C}$ by Lemma 5.1.5, completing the proof.

5.1 Basic Properties

We can now state the crucial positivity condition for maps with respect to mapping cones.

Definition 5.1.9 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H) and A an operator system. Then a map $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is said to be \mathscr{C} -positive if its dual functional $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on the cone $P(A, \mathscr{C})$, or equivalently

$$\sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_i)b_i^t) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } \sum a_i \otimes b_i \in P(A, \mathscr{C}).$$

Since $P(A, \mathcal{C}) \supset A^+ \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)^+$ by Lemma 5.1.7 it is immediate from Lemma 4.2.2 that a \mathcal{C} -positive map is positive.

Proposition 5.1.10 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H) and A an operator system. Let $\phi \in B(A, H)$ be \mathscr{C} -positive, and let $V \in B(H)$, $\beta : A \to A$ be completely positive. Then $AdV \circ \phi \circ \beta$ is \mathscr{C} -positive.

Proof For simplicity of notation let $\alpha = AdV$. Recall that $\alpha^t = t \circ \alpha \circ t$ with t the transpose map on B(H), and α^* is the adjoint map defined by $Tr(\alpha(a)b) = Tr(a\alpha^*(b))$, $a \otimes b \in A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$. We first show $\alpha \circ \phi$ is \mathcal{C} -positive. Let $a \otimes b \in A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\alpha} \circ \phi(a \otimes b) &= Tr(\alpha \circ \phi(a)b^{t}) = Tr(\phi(a)\alpha^{*}(b^{t})) \\ &= Tr(\phi(a)\alpha^{*t}(b)^{t}) \\ &= \widetilde{\phi}(\iota \otimes \alpha^{*t}(a \otimes b)), \end{aligned}$$

so $\widetilde{\alpha \circ \phi} = \widetilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha^{*t}).$

For each matrix a, $a^{*t*} = a^t$. Thus with $\alpha = AdV$, $\alpha^{*t} = AdV^{*t*} = AdV^t$ by Lemma 4.2.5 and Proposition 1.4.2. If $\psi \in \mathcal{C}$, then $\psi \circ \alpha^{*t} \in \mathcal{C}$ by definition of mapping cone. Thus if $x \in P(A, \mathcal{C})$ den

$$\iota \otimes \psi \bigl(\iota \otimes \alpha^{*t} \bigr)(x) = \iota \otimes \psi \circ \alpha^{*t}(x) \ge 0,$$

hence $\iota \otimes \alpha^{*t}(x) \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$, so by the above $\alpha \circ \phi(x) \ge 0$. Thus $AdV \circ \phi$ is \mathscr{C} -positive.

We next show $\phi \circ \beta$ is \mathscr{C} -positive, where β is a completely positive map of A into itself. We then have

$$\widetilde{\phi \circ \beta}(a \otimes b) = \widetilde{\phi}(\beta(a) \otimes b) = \widetilde{\phi} \circ (\beta \otimes \iota)(a \otimes b),$$

so $\widetilde{\phi \circ \beta} = \widetilde{\phi} \circ (\beta \otimes \iota)$.

If $x \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$ and $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$ then

$$\iota \otimes \psi(\beta \otimes \iota)(x) = (\beta \otimes \iota) \circ (\iota \otimes \psi)(x) \ge 0,$$

since $\beta \otimes \iota$ is positive when β is completely positive. Thus $\beta \otimes \iota(x) \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$, so $\widetilde{\phi \circ \beta} = \widetilde{\phi}(\beta \otimes \iota(x)) \ge 0$, proving that $\phi \circ \beta$ is \mathscr{C} -positive.

If dim $H < \infty$ then by Theorem 4.1.8 each completely positive map is a sum of maps of the form AdV. Thus we get

Corollary 5.1.11 Let H be finite dimensional and \mathcal{C} a mapping cone in P(H). If $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is \mathcal{C} -positive then $\alpha \circ \phi \circ \beta$ is \mathcal{C} -positive for all completely positive maps $\alpha \in CP(H)$ and $\beta : A \to A$.

In Proposition 5.1.10 we had to restrict attention to maps AdV, or finite sums of such in order to conclude that $AdV \circ \phi \circ \beta$ was \mathscr{C} -positive. As can be seen from the proof, the reason for this is that if $\alpha \in CP(H)$ we cannot conclude that α^* is well defined on B(H), as it is only defined on $\mathscr{T}(H)$. To avoid technicalities we therefore state the following definition for finite dimensional Hilbert spaces.

Definition 5.1.12 Let *H* be finite dimensional. A mapping cone \mathscr{C} in *P*(*H*) is said to be *symmetric* if $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ implies both ϕ^* and ϕ^t belong to \mathscr{C} .

It is clear that the cones $P_k(H)$, $SP_k(H)$, CP(H), P(H) are all symmetric mapping cones. We next show that if \mathscr{C} is symmetric the \mathscr{C} -positive maps have a more intuitive interpretation than in Definition 5.1.9.

Theorem 5.1.13 Let A be an operator system and H a finite dimensional Hilbert space. Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H) and denote by $C_{\mathscr{C}}$ the BWclosed cone in B(A, H) generated by all maps of the form $\alpha \circ \psi$ with $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ and $\psi : A \to B(H)$ completely positive. Then a map $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is \mathscr{C} -positive if and only if $\phi \in C_{\mathscr{C}}$.

We first prove a lemma.

Lemma 5.1.14 Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H). Suppose $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ is a linear isomorphism of B(H) onto itself. Let A be an operator system and let

$$P_{\alpha} = \{ x \in A \otimes B(H) : \iota \otimes \alpha^{*t}(x) \ge 0 \}.$$

If $\phi \in B(A, H)$ is such that ϕ is positive on P_{α} , then there exists $\psi \in B(A, H)$ which is completely positive such that $\phi = \alpha \circ \psi$.

Proof Let $\psi = \alpha^{-1} \circ \phi$. Then $\psi \in B(A, H)$. The proof is complete as soon as we can show ψ is completely positive. For this let $x = \sum a_i \otimes b_i \in (A \otimes B(H))^+$. Then, since α^{*t} is also invertible,

$$\iota \otimes \alpha^{*t} \left(\sum a_i \otimes \left(\alpha^{*t} \right)^{-1} (b_i) \right) = x \ge 0, \tag{5.1}$$

so that $\sum a_i \otimes (\alpha^{*t})^{-1}(b_i) \in P_{\alpha}$. Since $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on P_{α} we have

$$\widetilde{\psi}(x) = \sum_{i} Tr(\psi(a_i)b_i^t)$$
$$= \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_i)(\alpha^{-1})^*(b_i^t))$$
$$= \sum_{i} Tr(\phi(a_i)((\alpha^{-1})^{*t}(b_i))^t)$$
$$= \widetilde{\phi}(\sum_{i} a_i \otimes (\alpha^{-1})^{*t}(b_i)).$$

For a map α we have $(\alpha^{-1})^* = (\alpha^*)^{-1}$, because this holds for invertible operators on a Hilbert space. Since $t^{-1} = t$ we get

$$(\alpha^{-1})^{*t} = ((\alpha^{*})^{-1})^{t} = t \circ (\alpha^{*})^{-1} \circ t = (t \circ \alpha^{*} \circ t)^{-1} = (\alpha^{*t})^{-1}$$

Therefore by (5.1) $\tilde{\psi}$ is positive, hence by Theorem 4.2.7, ψ is completely positive. Since $\phi = \alpha \circ \psi$ the proof is complete.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.13 Suppose $\phi \in C_{\mathscr{C}}$. Now, sums of \mathscr{C} -positive maps are \mathscr{C} -positive, and if (ψ_{α}) is a net of \mathscr{C} -positive maps converging to $\psi \in P(H)$ in the BW-topology, then as remarked in the beginning of Sect. 5.1, $\widetilde{\psi}_{\alpha} \to \widetilde{\psi}$ in the w^* -topology. Thus we may, in order to show ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive, assume $\phi = \alpha \circ \psi$ with $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, ψ is completely positive, $\psi \in B(A, H)$. Let $x = \sum a_i \otimes b_i \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$. Since \mathscr{C} is symmetric $\sum a_i \otimes \alpha^{*t}(b_i) \in (A \otimes B(H))^+$, hence

$$\widetilde{\phi(x)} = \sum Tr(\alpha \circ \psi(a_i)b_i^t) = \sum Tr(\psi(a_i)\alpha^{*t}(b_i)^t)$$
$$= \widetilde{\psi}\left(\sum a_i \otimes \alpha^{*t}(b_i)\right) \ge 0,$$

because $\tilde{\psi}$ is positive by Theorem 4.2.7. Thus ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive.

Assume ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive. By Lemma 5.1.8 $C_{\mathscr{C}}$ is generated by maps α with α a linear isomorphism of B(H) onto itself belonging to \mathscr{C} . Let $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ be a linear isomorphism, and let P_{α} be as in Lemma 5.1.14. Then

$$P(A,\mathscr{C}) = \bigcap_{\alpha} P_{\alpha},$$

the intersection being taken over all linear isomorphisms in \mathscr{C} . The dual cone of $P(A, \mathscr{C})$ in $(A \otimes B(H))^*$ is the cone spanned by all dual cones of P_{α} 's. Hence it is the w^* -closure of all finite sums $\sum \widetilde{\phi}_{\alpha}$ with $\widetilde{\phi}_{\alpha}$ positive on P_{α} .

By Lemma 5.1.14, $\phi_{\alpha} = \alpha \circ \psi_{\alpha}$, ψ_{α} completely positive map of A into B(H). For such a sum we have

$$\sum \widetilde{\phi}_{\alpha} = \sum (\alpha \circ \psi_{\alpha})^{\widetilde{}} = \left(\sum \alpha \circ \psi_{\alpha}\right)^{\widetilde{}}.$$

Since our given map is \mathscr{C} -positive there exists a bounded net (ϕ_{χ}) of the form $\widetilde{\phi}_{\gamma} = \sum \widetilde{\phi}_{\alpha}$ as above such that $\widetilde{\phi}_{\gamma} \to \widetilde{\phi}$ in the w^* -topology. Hence ϕ is a w^* -limit of maps $(\sum \alpha \circ \psi_{\alpha})$, hence ϕ is a BW-limit of maps $\sum \alpha \circ \psi_{\alpha}$ with α a linear isomorphism in \mathscr{C} and $\psi_{\alpha} \in B(A, H)$ completely positive. But that means $\phi \in C_{\mathscr{C}}$. \Box

Remark 5.1.15 Since the identity map is completely positive it is obvious that $P(A, CP(H)) = (A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H))^+$ for an operator system A. Also, it is immediate by Lemma 5.1.3 that

$$P(A, SP_1(H))$$

= { $x \in A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H) : \rho \otimes \omega(x) \ge 0$ for all states ρ of A and ω of $B(H)$ }

because $\iota \otimes \omega(x) \ge 0$ for all states ω of B(H) if and only if $\rho \otimes \omega(x) \ge 0$ for all states ρ of A.

We shall see later, Remark 7.1.4, that if *H* is finite-dimensional, then $P(B(K), P(H)) = B(K)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$.

Proposition 5.1.16 Let *H* be finite dimensional. Then $P(B(H), P(H)) = B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$. In particular, if $h \in B(H)^+$ is the density operator for a state ρ , then $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in P(H)$ if and only if $h \in B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$, i.e. if and only if ρ is a separable state.

Proof By Theorem 5.1.13 a map $\phi : B(H) \to B(H)$ is P(H)-positive if and only if $\phi \in P(H)$, which by Lemma 4.2.2 is equivalent to $\tilde{\phi}$ being positive on $B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$. Since $P(B(H), P(H)) \supset B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$, and a linear functional is positive on the smallest cone if and only if it is positive on the largest, it follows from the Hahn-Banach theorem for cones, that $P(B(H), P(H)) = B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$. The last statement is obvious.

5.2 The Extension Theorem

In this section we prove the analogue of the Hahn-Banach theorem for \mathscr{C} -positive maps. For this we need two lemmas.

Lemma 5.2.1 Let *H* be a Hilbert space and \mathscr{C} a mapping cone in P(H). Let *A* be an operator system and *e* a finite dimensional projection in B(H). Then $1 \otimes e$ is an interior point of $(1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e)$.

Proof Since each map in \mathscr{C} is positive, it is clear that $1 \otimes e \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$. Let $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. By Lemma 5.1.8 we can add a linear isometry in \mathscr{C} of eB(H)e onto itself of small norm to α , so we may assume the range projection of $Ade \circ \alpha(1)$ equals *e*. Since *e* is finite dimensional, there is $a \in (eB(H)e)^+$ such that $a(Ade \circ \alpha(1))a = a\alpha(1)a = e$. Again, since *e* is finite dimensional,

$$M = \sup \{ \|\iota \otimes \gamma\| : \gamma = Ade \circ \gamma', \ \gamma' \in \mathcal{C}, \ \gamma'(1) = e \}$$

is finite. Let $\beta = Ada \circ \alpha$. Then $\beta \in \mathcal{C}$, and $\beta(1) = e$, so $||\iota \otimes \beta|| \le M$. Let $x \in A \otimes \mathcal{T}(H)$ be self-adjoint and ||x|| < 1/M. Then

$$1 \otimes e + \iota \otimes \beta(x) \ge 0.$$

Hence

$$\iota \otimes \alpha (1 \otimes 1 + x) = (\iota \otimes Ada^{-1}) \circ (\iota \otimes \beta)(1 \otimes 1 + x)$$
$$= (\iota \otimes Ada^{-1})(1 \otimes e + \iota \otimes \beta(x)) \ge 0.$$

Since α was an arbitrary map in \mathscr{C} , $1 \otimes 1 + x \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$. But then

$$1 \otimes e + (1 \otimes e)x(1 \otimes e) \in (1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e),$$

so $1 \otimes e$ is an interior point of $(1 \otimes e) P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e)$.

Lemma 5.2.2 Let $A \subset B$ be operator systems on the same Hilbert space. Let C be a mapping cone in P(H) and e a finite dimensional projection in B(H). Then

 $(1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e) = (1 \otimes e)P(B, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e) \cap A\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{T}(H).$

Proof If $x \in P(A, \mathscr{C})$ then for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$,

$$\iota \otimes \alpha(x) \in \left(A \otimes B(H)\right)^+ \subset \left(B \otimes B(H)\right)^+,$$

hence $x \in P(B, \mathscr{C})$. Thus $P(A, \mathscr{C}) \subset P(B, \mathscr{C}) \cap A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$, and therefore $(1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e) \subset (1 \otimes e)P(B, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e) \cap A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$.

Conversely, if $x \in P(B, \mathcal{C}) \cap A \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{T}(H)$, then $\iota \otimes \alpha(x) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}$. Since $(1 \otimes e)x(1 \otimes e) \in (1 \otimes e)P(B, \mathcal{C})(1 \otimes e) \cap A \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{T}(H)$, it follows that

$$(1 \otimes e)x(1 \otimes e) \in (1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e).$$

We are now in position to prove the extension theorem for \mathscr{C} -positive maps.

Theorem 5.2.3 Let $A \subset B$ be operator systems on the same Hilbert space, and let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H). Then each \mathscr{C} -positive map $\phi \in B(A, H)$ has a \mathscr{C} -positive extension $\psi \in B(B, H)$.

Proof Let *e* be a finite dimensional projection in B(H) such that $e = e^t$. Let ϕ_e denote the map $Ade \circ \phi \in B(A, eH)$, where B(eH) is identified with eB(H)e. By Lemma 5.2.1 1 \otimes *e* is an interior point of $(1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathcal{C})(1 \otimes e)$. Since the dual

functional $\tilde{\phi}$ of ϕ is positive on $P(A, \mathscr{C})$, $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $(1 \otimes e)P(A, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e)$ hence so is $\tilde{\phi}_e = \tilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes Ade)$, as is easily shown. By Lemma 5.2.2 it follows from a theorem of Krein, see Appendix A.3.1 that $\tilde{\phi}_e$ has an extension $\tilde{\psi}_e$ in $B(B, \mathscr{T}(H))^*$ which is positive on $(1 \otimes e)P(B, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e)$, hence $\tilde{\psi}_e$ is the dual of a map ψ_e in B(B, eH). Since $a \otimes ebe \in (1 \otimes e)P(B, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e)$ for $a \in A^+$, $ebe \in B(eH)$, ψ_e is a positive map by Proposition 4.1.11. Note that if H is finite dimensional and we let e = 1, then ψ_e is the desired extension of ϕ .

Since $1 \in A$, A being an operator system, and ψ_e is positive, by Theorem 1.3.3

$$\|\psi_e\| = \|\psi_e(1)\| = \|\phi_e(1)\| \le \|\phi(1)\| = \|\phi\|.$$
(5.2)

To complete the proof let (e_{γ}) be an increasing net of finite dimensional projections in B(H) converging strongly to 1, and $e_{\gamma} = e_{\gamma}^{t}$. For each γ let by the above ψ_{γ} be an extension of $\phi_{e_{\gamma}}$ to B(B, H) such that $\widetilde{\psi}_{\gamma}$ is positive on $(1 \otimes e_{\gamma})P(B, \mathcal{C})(1 \otimes e_{\gamma})$. By (5.2) the net (ψ_{γ}) is uniformly bounded, so by compactness of the unit ball in B(B, H), (ψ_{γ}) has a BW-limit point $\psi \in B(B, H)$. Let a subnet (ψ_{α}) converge to ψ . Since each ψ_{α} is an extension of $\phi_{e_{\gamma}}$, so is ψ . Hence ψ is an extension of ϕ . To show ψ is \mathcal{C} -positive let $x = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \otimes b_i \in P(B, \mathcal{C})$. Then

$$(1 \otimes e_{\alpha})x(1 \otimes e_{\alpha}) \in (1 \otimes e_{\alpha})P(B, \mathscr{C})(1 \otimes e_{\alpha})$$
 for all α ,

hence, since $e_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha}^{t}$, and $b_{i} \in \mathcal{T}(H)$, so $e_{\alpha}b_{i}^{t}e_{\alpha}$ is close to b_{i}^{t} in norm for large α ,

$$\widetilde{\psi}(x) = \widetilde{\psi}\left(\sum_{i} a_{i} \otimes b_{i}\right) = \sum_{i} Tr(\psi(a_{i})b_{i}^{t})$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \sum_{i} Tr(\psi_{\alpha}(a_{i})b_{i}^{t})$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \sum_{i} Tr(\psi_{\alpha}(a_{i})e_{\alpha}b_{i}^{t}e_{\alpha})$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \widetilde{\psi}_{\alpha}\left((1 \otimes e_{\alpha})x(1 \otimes e_{\alpha})\right)$$
$$\geq 0.$$

Since operators like x are norm dense in $P(B, \mathcal{C})$, $\tilde{\psi}$ is positive on $P(B, \mathcal{C})$, hence ψ is \mathcal{C} -positive.

As a consequence of Theorem 5.2.3 it suffices in many cases to study maps from B(K) into B(H) rather than maps from operator systems into B(H). The proof we shall now give of Arveson's extension theorem for completely positive maps is an example of this.

Corollary 5.2.4 *Let* $A \subset B(K)$ *be an operator system. Let* $\phi \in B(A, H)$ *be a completely positive map. Then* ϕ *has a completely positive extension* $\psi \in B(B(K), H)$ *.*

Proof By Theorem 4.2.7 ϕ is completely positive if and only if $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$, hence on P(A, CP(H)), by Remark 5.1.15. Thus ϕ is completely positive if and only if ϕ is CP(H)-positive, hence the corollary follows from Theorem 5.2.3.

If $A \subset B(H)$, the \mathscr{C} -positive maps of A into B(H) with H finite dimensional have a very nice form when \mathscr{C} is symmetric.

Theorem 5.2.5 Let A be an operator system contained in B(H) with H finite dimensional, and let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H). Then a map of A into B(H) is \mathscr{C} -positive if and only if it is the restriction of a map in \mathscr{C} to A.

Proof Let $\phi \in B(A, H)$ be \mathscr{C} -positive. By Theorem 5.2.3 ϕ has a \mathscr{C} -positive extension to a map in P(H). We may thus replace A by B(H). Let $C_{\mathscr{C}}$ denote the BW-closed cone in P(H) generated by maps of the form $\alpha \circ \psi$ with $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, $\psi \in CP(H)$. By Theorem 5.1.13 $\phi \in C_{\mathscr{C}}$. By Proposition 5.1.10, each $\alpha \circ \psi \in \mathscr{C}$, hence ϕ , being a limit of such maps, belongs to \mathscr{C} . This shows that the ϕ we started with is the restriction to A of a map in \mathscr{C} .

Conversely, if $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}$ then $\alpha \in C_{\mathcal{C}}$, hence is \mathcal{C} -positive by Theorem 5.1.13. Thus the restriction to *A* is \mathcal{C} -positive.

5.3 Notes

Most of the results in Chap. 5 have been taken from [78], but not all. Proposition 5.1.4 is due to P. Horodecki, P.W. Shor, and M.B. Ruskai [26], with a different proof, see also [79]. Proposition 5.1.16 is due to M., P., and R. Horodecki [25]. The Arveson Extension Theorem, Corollary 5.2.4 was shown by Arveson in [1] and has been very important in the study of completely positive maps.

Chapter 6 Dual Cones

If C is a closed convex cone in a Hilbert space H, its dual cone is defined as the cone

$$C^{\circ} = \left\{ \xi \in H : \langle \xi, \eta \rangle \ge 0 \text{ for all } \eta \in \mathbb{C} \right\}$$

If K and H are finite dimensional Hilbert spaces we shall study dual cones in B(B(K), H) with respect to the Hilbert-Schmidt structure. Because of the Extension Theorem 5.2.3 we shall concentrate on B(B(K), H) rather than B(A, H) as we did previously.

The chapter is divided into three sections. In Sect. 6.1 we develop the basic theory for the dual cone of the cone of \mathscr{C} -positive maps. In Sect. 6.2 we describe the dual cone for the main mapping cones. These results are used in Sect. 6.3 to show that all positive maps of M_2 into itself are decomposable. Finally, in Sect. 6.4 we consider tensor products of positive maps.

6.1 Basic Results

Throughout this section K and H are finite dimensional. B(B(K), H) denotes the linear maps of B(K) into B(H).

Definition 6.1.1 Let $S \subset B(B(K), H)$ be a closed convex cone. Then its *dual* cone S° is defined as

$$S^{\circ} = \left\{ \phi \in B(B(K), H) : Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0 \text{ for all } \psi \in S \right\},\$$

where as before, C_{ϕ} and C_{ψ} are the Choi matrices for ϕ and ψ . Here *Tr* denotes the usual trace on $B(K \otimes H)$.

We shall mainly study dual cones for mapping cones and \mathscr{C} -positive maps. Note that in the Hilbert space case considered above, it is well known that $C^{\circ\circ} = C$. Thus we get the same result for *S* as above.

Lemma 6.1.2 Let $S \subset B(B(K), H)^+$, the positive maps of B(K) into B(H), be a closed convex cone. Then $S^{\circ\circ} = S$.

Our first result on dual cones shows that the dual cone of a mapping cone has similar properties. In this case K = H.

Theorem 6.1.3 Let C be a mapping cone in P(H). Then its dual cone C° is a mapping cone. Furthermore, if C is symmetric, so is C° .

Proof We first show \mathscr{C}° is a mapping cone. By Lemma 5.1.5 $\mathscr{C} \supset SP_1(H)$, the super-positive maps in P(H). By Proposition 4.1.3 the Choi matrix for a super-positive map is a sum $\sum_i a_i \otimes b_i \in B(H)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$. Thus by Lemma 4.1.10 a map ϕ is positive if and only if it is in the dual cone of $SP_1(H)$. Since $\mathscr{C}^{\circ} \subset SP_1(H)^{\circ}$ it follows that every map in \mathscr{C}° is positive.

Now let $\alpha \in CP(H)$, the completely positive maps in P(H), $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$, and $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$. Then by Proposition 1.4.3 $\alpha^* \in CP(H)$, so $\alpha^* \circ \phi \in \mathscr{C}$. Hence

$$Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\alpha\circ\psi}) = Tr(C_{\phi}(\iota\otimes\alpha)(C_{\psi})) = Tr(\iota\otimes\alpha^{*}(C_{\phi})C_{\psi}) = Tr(C_{\alpha^{*}\circ\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0.$$

It follows that $\alpha \circ \psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$.

By Lemma 4.1.10, if ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n is an orthonormal basis for H and J the conjugation on $H \otimes H$ given by $Jz\xi_i \otimes \xi_j = \sum \overline{z}\xi_j \otimes \xi_i$, then $C_{\alpha^*} = JC_{\alpha}J$ for $\alpha \in P(H)$. The map $a \to Ja^*J$ is an anti-automorphism of order 2 of $B(H \otimes H)$, so by uniqueness of the trace, $Tr(Ja^*J) = Tr(a)$ for all $a \in B(H \otimes H)$. Thus if $\phi \in \mathcal{C}, \psi \in \mathcal{C}^\circ, \alpha \in CP(H)$, we have

$$Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi\circ\alpha}) = Tr(C_{\phi}(\iota\otimes\psi)(C_{\alpha}))$$
$$= Tr(C_{\psi^{*}\circ\phi}C_{\alpha})$$
$$= Tr(JC_{\phi^{*}\circ\psi}JC_{\alpha})$$
$$= Tr(C_{\phi^{*}\circ\psi}JC_{\alpha}J)$$
$$= Tr(\iota\otimes\phi^{*}(C_{\psi})C_{\alpha^{*}})$$
$$= Tr(C_{\psi}C_{\phi\circ\alpha^{*}})$$
$$\geq 0,$$

since $\phi \circ \alpha^* \in \mathscr{C}$. Thus $\psi \circ \alpha \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$, so \mathscr{C}° is a mapping cone.

Assume \mathscr{C} is a symmetric mapping cone. Let $\psi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$. We have to show ψ^{t} and $\psi^{*} \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$. Let $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$. Then, since $C_{\phi^{t}} = C_{\phi}^{t}$ by Lemma 4.2.5,

$$0 \leq Tr(C_{\psi}C_{\phi}) = Tr(C_{\psi^{t}}C_{\phi}) = Tr(C_{\psi^{t}}C_{\phi}) = Tr(C_{\psi^{t}}C_{\phi}) = Tr(C_{\psi^{t}}C_{\phi^{t}}).$$

Since $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\phi^t \in \mathscr{C}$, it follows that $\psi^t \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$. Similarly we have by Lemma 4.1.10

$$Tr(C_{\psi^*}C_{\phi}) = Tr(JC_{\psi}JC_{\phi}) = Tr(C_{\psi}JC_{\phi}J) = Tr(C_{\psi}C_{\phi^*}) \ge 0.$$

So $\psi^* \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$, since $\phi^* \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\phi \in \mathscr{C}$.

Notation 6.1.4 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H). We denote by $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$ the closed cone in $B(B(K), H)^+$ of \mathscr{C} -positive maps of B(K) into B(H).

Remark 6.1.5 Note that if K = H then by Theorem 5.2.5 if \mathscr{C} is symmetric, then $P_{\mathscr{C}}(H) = \mathscr{C}$. Thus by Theorem 6.1.3, $P_{\mathscr{C}}(H)^{\circ} = \mathscr{C}^{\circ} = P_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}(H)$.

If $K \neq H$ the situation is more complicated.

Theorem 6.1.6 Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H) and $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ a positive map. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$.
- (ii) $C_{\phi} \in P(B(K), \mathscr{C}), i.e. \iota \otimes \alpha(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$ for all $a \in \mathscr{C}$.
- (iii) $\phi \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.
- (iv) $\alpha \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

Proof We shall prove the equivalences (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) \Rightarrow (i), and (iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv).

(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii). Let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units for B(K), and let $p = \sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$, so by definition $C_{\phi} = \sum e_{ij} \otimes \phi(e_{ij}) = \iota \otimes \phi(p)$. By Theorem 5.1.13 $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$ is generated by maps of the form $\alpha \circ \psi$ with $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, $\psi \in B(B(K), H)$ completely positive. We thus have

$$\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} \Leftrightarrow Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\alpha\circ\psi}) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } \alpha, \psi \text{ as above}$$
$$\Leftrightarrow Tr(\iota \otimes \alpha^{*}(C_{\phi})C_{\psi}) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } \alpha, \psi$$
$$\Leftrightarrow \iota \otimes \alpha^{*}(C_{\phi}) \ge 0,$$

because by Theorem 4.1.8 $B(K \otimes H)^+ = \{C_{\psi} : \psi \in B(B(K), H) \text{ completely pos$ $itive}\}$. Thus $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^\circ$ if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, because \mathscr{C} is symmetric, hence if and only if $C_{\phi} \in P(B(K), \mathscr{C})$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii). We have for $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$

$$\iota \otimes \alpha^{I}(C_{\phi}) = (t \otimes t) \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) \circ (t \otimes t)(C_{\phi})$$
$$= (t \otimes t) \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) (C_{\phi}^{I}).$$

Since $\alpha^t \in \mathscr{C}$ and $t \otimes t$ is an anti-automorphism of $B(K \otimes H)$, $\iota \otimes \alpha(C_{\phi}^t) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, by (ii). By Lemma 4.2.3, if $x \in B(K \otimes H)^+$,

$$\widetilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)(x) = Tr(C_{\phi}^{t}(\iota \otimes \alpha)(x)) = Tr(\iota \otimes \alpha^{*}(C_{\phi}^{t})x) \ge 0,$$

since $\alpha^* \in \mathscr{C}$. Thus (iii) follows.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i). If $\tilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)$ is positive, and p is as in the first paragraph of the proof,

$$0 \le \phi \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)(p) = Tr(C_{\phi}^{t}C_{\alpha}) = Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\alpha^{t}})$$

for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. Since $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\alpha^t \in \mathscr{C}$, since \mathscr{C} is symmetric, $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$.

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv). By the computations in the proof of (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) $\widetilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)$ is positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $C_{\alpha \circ \phi} = \iota \otimes \alpha(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\alpha \circ \phi$ is completely positive by Theorem 4.1.8, for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

Theorem 6.1.6 gave conditions for a map to belong to $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ in terms of properties of its Choi matrix, its dual functional and composition with maps in \mathscr{C} . We now show that a map ϕ belongs to $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ if and only if ϕ is \mathscr{C}° -positive.

Theorem 6.1.7 Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H). Then

$$P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} = P_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}(K).$$

We divide the proof into two lemmas.

Lemma 6.1.8 Let $K^{\mathscr{C}}$ denote the closed convex cone generated by the cones

 $\iota \otimes \alpha \big(B(K \otimes H)^+ \big), \quad \alpha \in \mathscr{C}.$

Then

$$\mathscr{C}^{\circ} = \left\{ \beta \in P(H) : \iota \otimes \beta(x) \ge 0 \text{ for all } x \in K^{\mathscr{C}} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \beta \in P(H) : \beta \circ \alpha \in CP(H) \text{ for all } \alpha \in \mathscr{C} \right\}.$$

Proof Let $\beta \in P(H)$. Then we have

$$\iota \otimes \beta(x) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } x \in K^{\mathscr{C}}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad (\iota \otimes \beta) \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } \alpha \in \mathscr{C}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad \iota \otimes \beta \circ \alpha \ge 0 \quad \text{for all } \alpha \in \mathscr{C}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad \beta \circ \alpha \in CP(H) \quad \text{for all } \alpha \in \mathscr{C}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad \alpha^* \circ \beta^* = (\beta \circ \alpha)^* \in CP(H) \quad \text{for all } \alpha \in \mathscr{C}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad \beta^* \in \mathscr{C}^\circ \quad \text{by Theorem 6.1.6 since } \mathscr{C} \text{ is symmetric.}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \quad \beta \in \mathscr{C}^\circ \quad \text{by Theorem 6.1.3,}$$

proving the lemma.

Lemma 6.1.9 $K^{\mathscr{C}} = P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^{\circ}).$

Proof If $x \in K^{\mathscr{C}}$ then by Lemma 6.1.8 $\iota \otimes \beta(x) \ge 0$ for all $\beta \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$, hence $K^{\mathscr{C}} \subset P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^{\circ})$. By the proof of Lemma 5.2.1, $1 \otimes 1$ is an interior point of $K^{\mathscr{C}}$. If the inclusion is strict there exists $y_0 \in P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^{\circ})$ such that $y_0 \notin K^{\mathscr{C}}$. Thus by the Krein theorem, see Appendix A.3.1 there exists a linear functional $\tilde{\phi}$ on $B(K \otimes H)$ with $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ such that $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $K^{\mathscr{C}}$, while $\tilde{\phi}(y_0) < 0$. By Theorem 6.1.6(iii), since $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $K^{\mathscr{C}}$, $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$. Write y_0 in the form $y_0 = \sum_i a_i \otimes b_i$, $a_i \in B(K)$, $b_i \in B(H)$, and let $\pi : B(K) \otimes B(K) \to B(K)$ be given by $\pi(a \otimes b) = b^t a$. By Lemma 4.2.6

$$Tr \circ \pi \left(\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(y_0) \right) = \widetilde{\phi}(y_0) < 0.$$
(6.1)

Since by Lemma 4.2.6, $Tr \circ \pi$ is positive, $\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(y_0)$ is not positive. We shall show that $\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(y_0) \ge 0$, so we obtain a contradiction, and thus completing the proof of the lemma.

First note that $\phi^t \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$. Indeed, by Theorem 6.1.6 $\alpha \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, hence $\alpha^t \circ \phi^t = (\alpha \circ \phi)^t$ is completely positive, so $\alpha \circ \phi^t$ is completely positive since \mathscr{C} is symmetric, and therefore $\phi^t \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$.

We have $y_0 \in P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^\circ)$. Let $\psi \in B(B(K), H)$ be a map such that $y_0 = C_{\psi}$. Then $C_{\alpha \circ \psi} = \iota \otimes \alpha(C_{\psi}) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$, hence $\alpha \circ \psi$ is completely positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$, hence by Theorem 6.1.6, $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}^\circ}(K)^\circ$.

Let $\gamma \in B(B(H), K)$ be completely positive, and let $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$. Then $\alpha \circ (\phi^t \circ \gamma) = (\alpha \circ \phi^t) \circ \gamma$ is completely positive since $\alpha \circ \phi^t$ is completely positive. Since this holds for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}, \phi^t \circ \gamma \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(H)^\circ$, which by Remark 6.1.5 equals \mathscr{C}° . Thus $\phi^t \circ \gamma \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$, hence $\gamma^* \circ \phi^{t*} = (\phi^t \circ \gamma)^* \in \mathscr{C}^\circ$ since \mathscr{C}° is symmetric. Again by Theorem 6.1.6, $\gamma^* \circ \phi^{t*} \circ \psi$ is completely positive, hence for all $x \in B(K \otimes H)^+$

$$0 \leq Tr(C_{\gamma^* \circ \phi^{t^*} \circ \psi} x) = Tr(C_{\phi^{t^*} \circ \psi} (\iota \otimes \gamma)(x)).$$

Now γ was an arbitrary completely positive map of B(H) into B(K). Hence it follows that $B(K \otimes K)^+$ is the closed convex cone generated by the set

$$\{\iota \otimes \gamma(x) : x \in B(K \otimes H)^+, \gamma \in B(B(H), K) \text{ completely positive}\}$$

It follows that $\iota \otimes \phi^{t*}(C_{\psi}) = C_{\phi^{t*} \circ \psi} \ge 0$. Now $\phi^{t*} = \phi^{*t}$. Indeed, if $a \in B(K)$, $b \in B(H)$,

$$Tr(\phi^{*t}(a)b) = Tr(\phi^{*}(a^{t})^{T}b) = Tr(\phi^{*}(a^{t})b^{t})$$
$$= Tr(a^{t}\phi(b^{t})) = Tr(a\phi^{t}(b)) = Tr(\phi^{t*}(a)b).$$

Thus we have shown $\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(y_0) \ge 0$, contradicting (6.1).

Proof of Theorem 6.1.7 By Theorem 6.1.6, if $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$, then $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ if and only if $\tilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)$ is positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, if and only if $\tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $K^{\mathscr{C}}$, so by Lemma 6.1.9 if and only if ϕ is \mathscr{C}° -positive, i.e. $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}(K)$.

6.2 Examples of Dual Cones

In this section we describe the dual cones of the main mapping cones. H is, except in Theorem 6.2.6, a finite dimensional Hilbert space.

Proposition 6.2.1 $P(H)^{\circ} = SP_1(H)$ —the super-positive maps in P(H).

Proof By Proposition 4.1.11, a map $\phi \in P(H)$ if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}a \otimes b) \geq 0$ for all $a, b \in B(H)^+$, so by Proposition 4.1.3 if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \geq 0$ for all $\psi \in SP_1(H)$, hence if and only if $\phi \in SP_1(H)^\circ$. Thus the proposition follows from Lemma 6.1.2.

Proposition 6.2.2 $CP(H)^{\circ} = CP(H)$.

Proof Since each self-adjoint operator is the Choi matrix for a self-adjoint map, it follows by Theorem 4.1.8 that an operator is positive if and only if it is the Choi matrix for a completely positive map. Thus a map $\phi \in P(H)$ belongs to $CP(H)^{\circ}$ if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0$ for all $\psi \in CP(H)$ if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}x) \ge 0$ for $x \in B(H \otimes H)^+$, if and only if $C_{\phi} \ge 0$, if and only if $\phi \in CP(H)$.

Recall from Definition 5.1.2 that a map ϕ in P(H) belongs to the cone $SP_k(H)$ of k-super-positive maps if and only if $\phi = \sum_i AdV_i$, where $V_i \in B(H)$ has rank $V_i \leq k$. Since the rank of the product of two operators is smaller than or equal to the minimum of the ranks of the two operators, it is clear that $SP_k(H)$ is a mapping cone. Since rank $V^* = \operatorname{rank} V^t = \operatorname{rank} V$ for $V \in B(H)$, it follows from Lemma 4.2.5 and Proposition 1.4.2 that $SP_k(H)$ is a symmetric mapping cone. Recall that $P_k(H)$ denotes the mapping cone of k-positive maps. It is also easily seen to be symmetric, see e.g. Lemma 4.2.5.

Proposition 6.2.3 $P_k(H)^\circ = SP_k(H)$.

Proof By Theorem 4.1.15 a map ϕ belongs to $P_k(H)$ if and only if $AdV \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $V \in B(H)$ with rank $V \leq k$, which holds if and only if for all $\psi \in CP(H)$,

$$0 \leq Tr(C_{AdV \circ \phi}C_{\psi}) = Tr(C_{\phi}C_{AdV^* \circ \psi}),$$

if and only if $0 \le Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi})$ for all $\psi \in SP_k(H)$, using Theorem 4.1.8, hence if and only if $\phi \in SP_k(H)^\circ$. By Lemma 6.1.2, $P_k(H)^\circ = SP_k(H)$.

In Definition 1.2.8 we defined a map $\phi \in P(H)$ to be copositive if $t \circ \phi \in CP(H)$, and ϕ is decomposable if $\phi = \phi_1 + \phi_2$ with $\phi_1 \in CP(H)$ and ϕ_2 copositive. We can do the same for maps in the cones $P_k(H)$ and $SP_k(H)$ and call a map ϕ *co-k-positive* if $t \circ \phi \in P_k$, and similarly *co-k-super-positive* if $t \circ \phi \in SP_k(H)$. We denote the corresponding cones by $coP_k(H)$ and $coSP_k(H)$. For two mapping cones \mathscr{C}_1 and \mathscr{C}_2 their intersection $\mathscr{C}_1 \cap \mathscr{C}_2$ is a mapping cone, as is the closed cone $\mathscr{C}_1 \vee \mathscr{C}_2$ they generate. By standard results from Hilbert space

$$(\mathscr{C}_1 \cap \mathscr{C}_2)^\circ = \mathscr{C}_1^\circ \vee \mathscr{C}_2^\circ, \qquad (\mathscr{C}_1 \vee \mathscr{C}_2)^\circ = \mathscr{C}_1^\circ \cap \mathscr{C}_2^\circ.$$

We thus get from Proposition 6.2.3,

$$(P_k(H) \cap coP_l(H))^\circ = SP_k(H) \lor coSP_l(H) \text{ when } k, l \le \dim H,$$

 $(P_k(H) \lor coP_l(H))^\circ = SP_k(H) \cap coSP_l(H).$

Recall from Remark 1.2.9 that a map $\phi \in P(H)$ is *atomic* if it is not the sum of a 2-positive and a co-2-positive map, hence if $\phi \notin P_2(H) \lor coP_2(H)$, or by the above, if $\phi \notin (SP_2(H) \cap coSP_2(H))^\circ$. This yields a technique for showing that a map is atomic. One example of this will be shown in Chap. 7.

Proposition 6.2.4 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. Then ϕ is P_k -positive if and only if ϕ is k-positive. In particular ϕ is P(H)-positive if and only if ϕ is positive.

Proof It follows from Theorem 4.1.15 that a map $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ is *k*-positive if and only if $AdV \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $V \in B(K)$ with rank $V \leq k$. But these maps AdV generate $SP_k(H)$, hence by Theorem 6.1.6, ϕ is *k*-positive if and only if $\phi \in P_{SP_k}(K)^\circ$, which equals $P_{P_k}(K)$ by Proposition 6.2.3 and Theorem 6.1.7.

The last part follows since $P(H) = P_1(H)$.

Remark 6.2.5 Recall that a map ϕ is decomposable if it is the sum of a completely positive and a copositive map. Thus $\phi \in P(H)$ is decomposable if and only if

$$\phi \in CP(H) \lor coCP(H) = (CP(H) \cap coCP(H))^{\circ}$$

If as above dim $H < \infty$ then by Lemmas 6.1.8 and 6.1.9 ϕ is decomposable if and only if $\iota \otimes \phi(x) \ge 0$ whenever $x = C_{\psi}$ with $\psi \in CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$, i.e. whenever x and $t \otimes \iota(x)$ are positive. If dim H = n we can identify $B(H) \otimes B(H)$ with $M_n(B(H))$ and reformulate the above as follows: ϕ is decomposable if and only if $\phi(x_{ij}) \in M_n(B(H))^+$ whenever (x_{ij}) and (x_{ji}) are in $M_n(B(H))^+$.

We shall now generalize this result to maps on C^* -algebras.

Theorem 6.2.6 Let A be a C^* -algebra and ϕ a unital positive map of A into B(H), where H is an arbitrary Hilbert space. Then ϕ is decomposable if and only if for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ whenever (x_{ij}) and (x_{ij}) belong to $M_n(A)^+$ then $(\phi(x_{ij})) \in M_n(B(H))^+$.

Proof Suppose ϕ is decomposable. By Theorem 1.2.11 and its proof $\phi = v^* \pi v$, where π is a Jordan homomorphism π of A into B(K) for some Hilbert space K,

such that π is the sum of a homomorphism and an anti-homomorphism, and $v : H \to K$ a bounded linear operator. Thus if (x_{ij}) and $(x_{ji}) \in M_n(A)^+$ it is immediate that $(\phi(x_{ij})) \in M_n(B(H))^+$.

Conversely suppose (x_{ij}) and $(x_{ji}) \in M_n(A)^+$ implies $(\phi(x_{ij})) \in M_n(B(H))^+$. We may assume $A \subset B(K)$ for a Hilbert space K. Let t denote the transpose map on B(K) with respect to some orthonormal basis. Let

$$V = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & x^t \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(B(K)) : x \in A \right\}$$

Then *V* is a self-adjoint subspace of $M_2(B(K))$ containing the identity. Let $n \in N$ and let θ_n on $M_n(B(K))$ be defined by $\theta_n((x_{ij})) = (x_{ji}^t)$. Hence if we write $M_n(B(K))$ in tensor form $B(K) \otimes M_n$, then $\theta_n = t \otimes t$. Then θ_n is an antiisomorphism of order 2. Hence if $(x_{ij}) \in M_n(A)$ then $(x_{ji}) \in M_n(A)^+$ if and only if $(x_{ij}^t) = \theta_n((x_{ji})) \in M_n(B(K))^+$. Therefore both (x_{ij}) and (x_{ji}) belong to $M_n(A)^+$ if and only if and only if

$$\left(\begin{pmatrix} x_{ij} & 0\\ 0 & x_{ij}^t \end{pmatrix} \right) \in M_n(V)^+.$$

Let $\overline{\phi}: V \to B(H)$ be defined by

$$\overline{\phi}\left(\begin{pmatrix} x \\ & x^t \end{pmatrix}\right) = \phi(x).$$

Then $\overline{\phi}$ is completely positive by our hypothesis on ϕ and the above equivalence. By Corollary 5.2.4 $\overline{\phi}$ has a completely positive extension $\overline{\phi}: M_2(B(K)) \to B(H)$. Thus by Stinespring's theorem, 1.2.7, there are a Hilbert space *L*, a bounded linear map $v: H \to L$ and a representation $\pi_1: M_2(B(K)) \to B(L)$ such that $\overline{\phi} = v^* \pi_1 v$. Let π_2 be the Jordan homomorphism of *A* into $M_2(B(K))$ defined by

$$\pi_2(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x & 0\\ 0 & x^t \end{pmatrix}, \quad x \in A.$$

Then π_2 is the sum of a homomorphism and an anti-homomorphism, and so is $\pi = \pi_1 \circ \pi_2$. Thus $\phi(x) = v^* \pi(x)v$ is decomposable.

In the next section we shall show that all maps in P(H) with $H = \mathbb{C}^2$, are decomposable. For this we shall need our next proposition. Recall that if $\xi = (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ then $\overline{\xi} = (\overline{\xi_1}, \dots, \overline{\xi_n})$. Then if ξ is a unit vector, $[\xi] = (\xi_i \overline{\xi_j})$, so that $[\overline{\xi}] = [\xi]^t$. Recall also that $SP_1(H)$ denotes the super-positive maps in P(H).

Proposition 6.2.7 Let H be finite dimensional. Then $SP_1(H) = CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$ if and only if for all operators $a \in B(H \otimes H)^+$ such that $(t \otimes \iota)(a) \ge 0$ there exists a nonzero product vector $\xi \otimes \eta \in$ range a such that $\overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in$ range $(t \otimes \iota)(a)$. In particular, if these conditions hold, then every map $\phi \in P(H)$ is decomposable. *Proof* Suppose $SP_1(H) = CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$, and let $a \ge 0$ with $t \otimes \iota(a) \ge 0$. Then $a = C_{\phi}$ with $\phi \in CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$, so $\phi \in SP_1$. By Proposition 5.1.4 its dual functional $\tilde{\phi}$ is separable, hence C_{ϕ} being the transpose of the density matrix for $\tilde{\phi}$ by Lemma 4.2.3, is a sum $\sum_i a_i \otimes b_i$ with $a_i, b_i \in B(H)^+$. If $\xi_i \in \text{range } a_i$ and $\eta_i \in \text{range } b_i$ then $\overline{\xi_i} \otimes \eta_i \in \text{range } a_i^t \otimes b_i$, hence in $\text{range}(t \otimes \iota)a$, proving necessity in the proposition.

Conversely let $a = C_{\phi}$ with ϕ extremal in $CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$. Let $\xi \otimes \eta \in$ range $a, \overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in$ range $t \otimes \iota(a)$. Since H is finite dimensional and both a and $t \otimes \iota(a)$ are positive, there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $a \ge \varepsilon[\xi] \otimes [\eta]$, and $t \otimes \iota(a) \ge \varepsilon[\xi]^t \otimes [\eta]$. Thus the map ψ with $C_{\psi} = a - \varepsilon[\xi] \otimes [\eta]$ belongs to $CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$, and is majorized by ϕ . Since ϕ is extremal in $CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$, there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $a = \lambda[\xi] \otimes [\eta]$, and $\phi \in SP_1(H)$, so $SP_1(H) = CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$.

Finally, from the last statement, we have, using Propositions 6.2.1, 6.2.2 and Remark 6.2.5,

$$P(H) = (SP_1(H))^{\circ} = (CP(H) \cap coCP(H))^{\circ} = CP(H) \vee coCP(H),$$

proving that each map in P(H) is decomposable.

6.3 Maps on the 2 x 2 Matrices

The only cases where the positive maps from B(K) into B(H) are fully understood are when dim K = 2 and dim $H \le 3$, or when dim K = 3 and dim H = 2. In this section we consider the case when dim $K = \dim H = 2$. Our proof follows from that of Woronowicz [98] and can without much work be extended to the case when one of K and H is three dimensional.

Theorem 6.3.1 Every positive map of M_2 into itself is decomposable.

Since each completely positive map is a sum of maps of the form AdV by Theorem 4.1.8, and each map AdV is extremal by Proposition 3.1.3. It follows by composing such a map by the transpose and using Lemma 3.1.2, that we have as an immediate consequence of Theorem 6.3.1,

Corollary 6.3.2 A map in $P(\mathbb{C}^2)$ is extremal if and only if it is of the form AdV or $t \circ AdV$.

In order to prove Theorem 6.3.1 we shall need a result on anti-automorphisms of B(H) with H finite dimensional. Recall that a *conjugation* of H is a conjugate linear isometry J on H such that $J^2 = 1$. Then the map $a \rightarrow Ja^*J$ is an anti-automorphism of order 2. In [73] it was shown that each anti-automorphism of order 2 of a factor, i.e. a von Neumann algebra with center the scalars, is either of the above form or of the form $a \rightarrow -J_0a^*J_0$ where J_0 is a conjugate linear isometry such that $J_0^2 = -1$. We shall need the following rather special result on the existence of an anti-automorphism implemented by a conjugation.

Proposition 6.3.3 *Let H be finite dimensional and* $b \in B(H)$ *. Suppose there exist* $\lambda > 0$ *and unit vectors* $\xi, \eta \in H$ *such that*

$$b^*b - bb^* = \lambda[\eta] - \lambda[\xi].$$

Then there exists a conjugation J on H such that $Jb^*J = b$, and $J\xi = \eta$.

Proof Note that if $\lambda = 0$, *b* is a normal operator, and the existence of *J* such that $Jb^*J = b$, is an easy consequence of the spectral theorem. We have $\lambda > 0$. Multiply *b* by $\lambda^{-1/2}$ and assume

$$b^*b - bb^* = [\eta] - [\xi].$$

In the proof we shall consider products where each factor is either *b* or *b*^{*}. It will therefore be convenient to write b_i or b'_i , $i \ge 1$, for b_i , $b'_i \in \{b, b^*\}$. Similarly we shall denote by ξ^* the vector η , and $\eta^* = \xi$. In some cases we shall write ψ and ψ_1 for ξ or η . In that case $\psi^* = \xi$ if and only if $\psi = \eta$, $\psi^* = \eta$ if $\psi = \xi$, and similarly for ψ_1 . For $s \in \mathbb{R}$ let

$$A(s) = b + sb^*.$$

By direct computation we have

$$\frac{1}{1-s^2} \left(A(s)^* A(s) - A(s) A(s)^* \right) = [\eta] - [\xi].$$

For an integer $n \ge 1$ we therefore have

$$(A(s)^n \eta, \eta) - (A(s)^n \xi, \xi) = Tr(A(s)^n ([\eta] - [\xi]))$$

= $\frac{1}{1 - s^2} Tr(A(s)^n (A(s)^* A(s) - A(s)A(s)^*))$
= $\frac{1}{1 - s^2} Tr(A(s)^{n+1}A(s)^* - A(s)^{n+1}A(s)^*)$
= 0.

With the notation introduced above this reduces to

$$(A(s)^{n}\psi,\psi_{1}) = (A(s)^{n}\psi_{1}^{*},\psi^{*}), \qquad (6.2)$$

because when $\psi = \psi_1$ this follows from the above, and when $\psi = \psi_1^*$, then $\psi = \psi_1^*$, and $\psi_1 = \psi^*$, so (6.2) is trivial.

Both sides of (6.2) are polynomials of order n in s. We shall compare the coefficients of s^k for all k. To see the pattern most easily consider as an example

$$A(s)^{3} = b^{3} + (b^{2}b^{*} + bb^{*}b + b^{*}b^{2})s + (bb^{*2} + b^{*}bb^{*} + b^{*2}b)s^{2} + b^{*3}s^{3}.$$

For $0 \le k \le n$ let σ_k consist of all products $b_{1k}b_{2k}\cdots b_{nk}$ with n-k b's and k b*'s. Then, as is easily seen by induction on n,

$$A(s)^n = \sum_{k=0}^n \left(\sum_{\sigma_k} b_{1k} \cdots b_{nk} \right) s^k.$$

Since each coefficient of s^k is symmetric in the indices we have

$$\sum_{\sigma_k} b_{1k} \cdots b_{nk} = \sum_{\sigma_k} b_{nk} \cdots b_{1k}.$$

By (6.2) we thus get from the uniqueness of the coefficients for each s^k ,

$$\sum_{\sigma_k} (b_{1k} \cdots b_{nk} \psi, \psi_1) = \sum_{\sigma_k} (b_{nk} \cdots b_{1k} \psi_1^*, \psi^*),$$

or rather

$$\sum_{\sigma_k} \left\{ (b_{1k} \cdots b_{nk} \psi, \psi_1) - (b_{nk} \cdots b_{1k} \psi_1^*, \psi^*) \right\} = 0.$$
 (6.3)

As will be seen later, the existence of the conjugation J satisfying the conditions of the proposition is equivalent to the following identity.

$$(b_1 b_2 \cdots b_m \psi, \psi_1) = (b_m \cdots b_2 b_1 \psi_1^*, \psi^*)$$
(6.4)

for all products of b_i 's. For m = 0 this relation was shown in (6.2) with n = 0. Use induction on n, and assume (6.4) holds for all $m \le n - 1$. Then using that $b^*b - bb^* = [\eta] - [\xi]$ and remembering our conventions on ψ and ψ_1 , and the fact that for operators x and y,

$$\left(x[\eta]y\psi,\psi_1\right) = \left([\eta]y\psi,[\eta]x^*\psi_1\right) = (y\psi,\eta)\overline{\left(x^*\psi_1,\eta\right)} = (y\psi,\eta)(x\eta,\psi_1)$$

and using the induction hypothesis we have

$$\begin{aligned} &(b_1 \cdots b_k b^* b b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \psi_1) - (b_1 \cdots b_k b b^* b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \psi_1) \\ &= (b_1 \cdots b_k [\eta] b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \psi_1) - (b_1 \cdots b_k [\xi] b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \psi_1) \\ &= (b_1 \cdots b_k \eta, \psi_1) (b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \eta) - (b_1 \cdots b_k \xi, \psi_1) (b_{k+3} \cdots b_n \psi, \xi) \\ &= (b_k \cdots b_1 \psi_1^*, \eta^*) (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} \eta^*, \psi^*) - (b_k \cdots b_1 \psi_1^*, \xi^*) (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} \xi^*, \psi^*) \\ &= (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} \xi, \psi^*) (b_k \cdots b_1 \psi_1^*, \xi) - (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} \eta, \psi^*) (b_k \cdots b_1 \psi^*, \eta) \\ &= (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} [\xi] b_k \cdots b_1 \psi_1^*, \psi^*) - (b_n \cdots b_{k+3} b^* b b_k \cdots b_1 \psi_1^*, \psi^*). \end{aligned}$$

By the equality of the first and the last expression of this computation we see that the difference

$$(b_1\cdots b_n\psi,\psi_1)-(b_n\cdots b_1\psi_1^*,\psi^*)=\alpha(k)$$

is independent of the order of the sequence b_1, \ldots, b_n as long as the sequence contains n - k entries of b and k entries of b^* . Thus all summands of (6.3) are equal to $\alpha(k)$. Since the sum is 0, $\alpha(k) = 0$, and therefore (6.4) is verified for m = n. Thus by induction we have shown that (6.4) holds for all non-negative integers m. Let

$$u = b_1 \cdots b_n \psi, \qquad v = b'_1 \cdots b'_m \psi, u^* = b_1^* \cdots b_n^* \psi^*, \qquad v^* = b'_1^* \cdots b'_m^* \psi^*.$$

Then it follows from (6.4) that

$$(u, v) = (v^*, u^*). \tag{6.5}$$

Let H_0 be the subspace of H generated by all vectors of the form $b_1 \cdots b_n \psi$. By (6.5) there exists a conjugation J_0 acting on H_0 such that

$$J_0b_1\cdots b_n\psi=b_1^*\cdots b_n^*\psi^*$$

If $H_0 = H$ this conjugation solves our problem. In the general case $H = H_0 \oplus H_1$. Then H_0 is invariant under *b* and b^* , so $b = c_0 \oplus c_1$, where c_i is the restriction of *b* to H_i . Since $\xi, \eta \in H_0$ the operator c_1 is normal. As remarked at the beginning of the proof there exists a conjugation J_1 on H_1 such that $J_1c_1^*J_1 = c_1$. Thus $J = J_0 \oplus J_1$ satisfies our requirements.

We are now in position to prove Theorem 6.3.1. The proof will be divided into some lemmas. Recall from the Appendix that we identify $M_2 \otimes M_2$ with $M_2(B(\mathbb{C}^2)) = M_2(M_2)$.

Lemma 6.3.4 Let $H = \mathbb{C}^2$, and let

$$a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(B(\mathbb{C}^2))$$

satisfy $a \ge 0$ and $t \otimes \iota(a) \ge 0$. Let $s \in \mathbb{C}$ and let H_s be the subspace of H spanned by $(b - s1) \ker(c - b^*b)$ and $(b - s1)^* \ker(c - bb^*)$. If $0 \ne \eta \in H$, $\eta \perp H_s$ and $\xi = (1, \overline{s}) \in \mathbb{C}^2$, then $\xi \otimes \eta \in \operatorname{range} a$ and $\overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \operatorname{range}(t \otimes 1)a$.

Proof Since $\eta \perp (b-s1) \ker(c-b^*b)$, $(b-s1)^*\eta \perp \ker(c-b^*b)$. For a self-adjoint operator the kernel coincides with the orthogonal complement of the image. Therefore there exists $\psi \in H$ such that

$$(b-s1)^*\eta = (c-b^*b)\psi.$$

Using this relation we easily find that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ \overline{s}\eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \eta + b\psi \\ -\psi \end{pmatrix},$$

so that $(1, \overline{s}) \otimes \eta \in \operatorname{range} a$. In the same way we show $(1, s) \otimes \eta \in \operatorname{range}(t \otimes \iota)a$. \Box

In the case when *b* in Lemma 6.3.4 is normal then the conclusion of the lemma is immediate with the assumption on the vector η . Indeed we have

Lemma 6.3.5 If in Lemma 6.3.4 *b* is a normal operator then there exist ξ and $\eta \in H$ such that $\xi \otimes \eta \in \text{range } a, \overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \text{range}(t \otimes \iota)(a)$.

Proof Let *s* be an eigenvalue of *b* and η the corresponding eigenvector, so $b\eta = s\eta$, $b^*\eta = \overline{s}\eta$. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ \overline{s}\eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ s\eta \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & b^* \\ b & c \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

so the lemma follows with $\xi = (1, \overline{s})$ since we can identify $\xi \otimes \eta$ with $(\frac{\eta}{s\eta})$, see the Appendix.

We next show that with the notation and assumptions as in Lemma 6.3.4 the vector $\eta \perp H_s$ exists, or *b* is normal.

Lemma 6.3.6 Let a be as in Lemma 6.3.4, and assume b is not normal. Then there exist $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and a non-zero vector $\psi \perp H_z$.

Proof We first note that $c - b^*b \ge 0$ and $c - bb^* \ge 0$. The first inequality follows, since if $\alpha, \beta \in H$ then

$$\left(a\begin{pmatrix}\alpha\\\beta\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}\alpha\\\beta\end{pmatrix}\right) = \|\alpha + b\beta\|^2 + \left((c - b^*b)\beta,\beta\right),$$

so that $a \ge 0$ if and only if $c - b^*b \ge 0$. Similarly $t \otimes \iota(a) \ge 0$ if and only if $c - bb^* \ge 0$.

Let $n_+ = \dim \ker(c - b^*b)$, $n_- = \dim \ker(c - bb^*)$. To prove the lemma we must consider the following cases.

If $n_+ = 2$ then $c = b^*b$, so that

$$0 = Tr(c - b^*b) = Tr(c - bb^*) = 0,$$

hence $b^*b = c = bb^*$, and b is normal, a case which is ruled out by assumption. Similarly $n_- \neq 2$.

If $n_+ + n_- \le 1$, then dim $H_s \le 1$, so the existence of $\eta \perp H_s$ is obvious.

We are therefore left with the case $n_+ + n_- = 2$, and so by the above, $n_+ = n_- = 1$. Then the operators $c - b^*b$ and $c - bb^*$ have rank 1. Since they have the same trace there exist $\lambda > 0$ and unit vectors ξ and η such that

$$c - b^* b = \lambda[\xi], \qquad c - bb^* = \lambda[\eta]. \tag{6.6}$$

Furthermore $[\xi] \neq [\eta]$, so ξ and η are not proportional.

Consider the vectors ξ , η , $b\xi$, $b^*\eta$. Since dim H = 2, they are linearly dependent. Therefore there are complex numbers α , β , γ , δ such that

$$\alpha b^* \eta + \beta \eta = \gamma b \xi + \delta \xi. \tag{6.7}$$

We may assume α and γ are real and non-negative, since possible phase factors can be absorbed in ξ and η . Also we may assume $\alpha + \gamma > 0$, since otherwise η and ξ would be proportional.

By Proposition 6.3.3 there exists a conjugation *J* on *H* such that $JbJ = b^*$ and $J\xi = \eta$. Applying *J* to (6.7) we get

$$\alpha b\xi + \overline{\beta}\xi = \gamma b^*\eta + \overline{\delta}\eta$$

Combining this with (6.7) we obtain

$$(b-s1)\xi = (b-s1)^*\eta,$$
(6.8)

where $s = -\frac{\overline{\beta} + \delta}{\alpha + \gamma}$.

Let $\psi \in H$, $z, w \in \mathbb{C}$. Since $b^*b - bb^* = \lambda[\xi] - \lambda[\eta]$ with ξ and η unit vectors, and using (6.4) it follows from a straightforward computation that

$$\|(b-z1)\psi + w\eta\|^{2} + |(\xi,\psi) + (s-z)w|^{2}$$

= $\|(b-z1)^{*}\psi + w\xi\|^{2} + |(\eta,\psi) + (\overline{s}-\overline{z})w|^{2}.$ (6.9)

For each $z \in \mathbb{C}$ let

$$D_z = (b - z1) + \frac{1}{z - s}v, \quad z \neq s,$$

where v is a partial isometry such that $v^*v = [\xi]$, $vv^* = [\eta]$. The determinant det D_z is a rational function of z and tends to infinity as $z \to \infty$. Since any rational function defined on the one-point compactification of the complex plane takes any complex value, there exists $z \in \mathbb{C}$ such that det $D_z = 0$. Thus there exists a nonzero vector $\psi \in H$ such that $D_z \psi = 0$, or more explicitly

$$(b-z1)\psi + \frac{(\psi,\xi)}{z-s}\eta = 0$$

This shows that $(b - z1)\psi$ is proportional to η . Since $c - bb^* = \lambda[\eta]$, $(b - z1)\psi$ is orthogonal to ker $(c - bb^*)$, and consequently

$$\psi \perp (b-z1)^* \ker(c-bb^*).$$

Let $w = \frac{(\psi,\xi)}{s-z}$. We see that the left side of (6.9) is zero, hence the summands on the right side are zero, in particular $(b-z1)^*\psi$ is proportional to ξ , so $(b-z1)^*\psi$ is orthogonal to ker $(c-b^*b)$, and so

$$\psi \perp (b-z1) \operatorname{ker}(c-b^*b).$$

We have thus found the desired vector orthogonal to H_z for some $z \in \mathbb{C}$.

In the above lemmas we considered operators a of the form

$$a = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix}.$$

We must now extend the results to the general case.

Lemma 6.3.7 Let $a = \begin{pmatrix} x & b \\ b^* & c \end{pmatrix} \in (M_2 \otimes M_2)^+$ satisfy $(t \otimes \iota)(a) \ge 0$. Then there exists a product vector $\xi \otimes \eta \in \text{range } a$ such that $\overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \text{range}(t \otimes \iota)(a)$.

Proof Clearly $x, c \ge 0$. There are two cases.

Case 1 x is invertible. Let

$$a_1 = \begin{pmatrix} x^{-1/2} & 0\\ 0 & x^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix} a \begin{pmatrix} x^{-1/2} & 0\\ 0 & x^{-1/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then a_1 has the form in Lemmas 6.3.4 and 6.3.5. Thus by the lemmas there exists a product vector $\xi \otimes \eta \in \text{range } a_1$ such that $\overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \text{range}(t \otimes \iota)(a_1)$. But then $(1 \otimes x^{1/2}) \xi \otimes \eta \in \text{range } a$, and $(1 \otimes x^{1/2}) \overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \text{range } t \otimes \iota(a)$.

Case 2 *x* is non-invertible. Since dim H = 2, $x = \lambda p$ with *p* a 1-dimensional projection. Let q = 1 - p. Then

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & qb \\ b^*q & c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} a \begin{pmatrix} q & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} \ge 0$$

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & qb^* \\ bq & c \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} q & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} t \otimes \iota(a) \begin{pmatrix} q & \\ & 1 \end{pmatrix} \ge 0.$$

Hence

$$qb = b^*q = qb^* = bq = 0. (6.10)$$

Suppose $cq \neq 0$. If $q = [\eta]$ then $c\eta \neq 0$, so by (6.10)

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0\\c\eta \end{pmatrix} = a \begin{pmatrix} 0\\\eta \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0\\c\eta \end{pmatrix} = (t \otimes \iota)(a) \begin{pmatrix} 0\\\eta \end{pmatrix}. \tag{6.11}$$

Thus $\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ cn \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \otimes c\eta$ is the desired product vector.

If cq = 0 then all operators x, b, c act on the 1-dimensional Hilbert space pH, in which case the lemma is trivial, or can be deduced from Lemma 6.3.5 if desired. \Box

Proof of Theorem 6.3.1 By Lemma 6.3.6 for each operator $a \in (M_2 \otimes M_2)^+$ such that $(t \otimes \iota)(a) \ge 0$, there exists a product vector $\xi \otimes \eta \in \text{range } a$ such that $\overline{\xi} \otimes \eta \in \text{range}(t \otimes 1)(a)$. Then by Proposition 6.2.7 each map in P(H) is decomposable. \Box

6.4 Tensor Products

A major problem with positive maps is that their tensor products are usually not positive. It follows from the Stinespring Theorem 1.2.7, that the tensor product of two completely positive maps is positive, indeed it is completely positive. As a consequence the tensor product of two copositive maps is copositive. We shall see that this result follows from the fact that $CP(H)^{\circ} = CP(H)$, see Proposition 6.2.2, and similarly for copositive maps.

We assume in this section that *H* is a finite dimensional Hilbert space, and (e_{ij}) is a complete set of matrix units for B(H). We put $p = \sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$. Then we have

Theorem 6.4.1 Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H), and let $\phi \in P(H)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$ —the dual cone of \mathscr{C} .
- (ii) $\phi \circ \psi$ is completely positive for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$.
- (iii) $\psi \otimes \phi$ is positive for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$.
- (iv) $\psi \otimes \phi(p) \ge 0$ for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$.

We first do some preliminaries. Let $\pi : B(H) \otimes B(H) \to B(H)$ be the map $\pi(a \otimes b) = b^t a$. By Lemma 4.2.6 if $\phi \in P(H)$ then

$$\widetilde{\phi} = Tr \circ \pi \circ (\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}), \tag{6.12}$$

where ι is the identity map on B(H). Note also that since $C_{\iota} = p$ is the Choi matrix for ι , we have by Lemma 4.2.3,

$$\widetilde{\iota}(x) = Tr(C_{\iota}^{t}x) = Tr(px), \quad x \in B(H \otimes H).$$

Thus by (6.12) applied to ι we obtain, since $\tilde{\iota} = Tr \circ \pi$, and the fact that $\phi^{*t} = \phi^{t*}$, see the proof of Lemma 6.1.9,

$$\widetilde{\phi}(x) = Tr \circ \pi \left(\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(x) \right) = Tr \left(p \left(\iota \otimes \phi^{*t}(x) \right) \right) = Tr \left(\iota \otimes \phi^{t}(p)x \right).$$
(6.13)

Lemma 6.4.2 Let $\phi, \psi \in P(H)$. Then we have

- (i) $(\phi \circ \psi)(x) = Tr((\psi^* \otimes \phi^t)(p)x), x \in B(H \otimes H).$
- (ii) $\psi^{*t} \otimes \phi(p) = \iota \otimes (\phi \circ \psi)(p).$

(iii) Furthermore if $\gamma \in B(B(H), K)$ for another Hilbert space K, then $C_{\gamma \circ \phi \circ \psi} = \psi^{*t} \otimes \gamma(C_{\phi})$.

Proof Using the above formulas we get for $a, b \in B(H)$,

$$\begin{aligned} (\phi \circ \psi)(a \otimes b) &= Tr \circ \pi \left(\iota \otimes (\phi \circ \psi)^{*t} (a \otimes b) \right) \\ &= Tr \circ \pi \left(a \otimes \left(\psi^* \circ \phi^* \right) (b^t)^t \right) \\ &= Tr \left(a \left(\psi^* \circ \phi^* \right) (b^t) \right) \\ &= Tr \left(\psi (a) \phi^* (b^t) \right) \\ &= Tr \left(\psi (a) \otimes \phi^{*t} (b) \right) \\ &= Tr \left(p \left(\psi (a) \otimes \phi^{*t} (b) \right) \right) \\ &= Tr \left(\left(\psi^* \otimes \phi^t \right) (p) (a \otimes b) \right), \end{aligned}$$

proving (i).

We also have by (6.13) that

$$(\phi \circ \psi)^{\widetilde{}}(x) = Tr(\iota \otimes (\phi \circ \psi)^{t}(p)x).$$
(6.14)

It is straightforward to show $(\phi \circ \psi)^t = \phi^t \circ \psi^t$. We therefore get from (6.14) and (i)

$$\psi^* \otimes \phi^t(p) = \iota \otimes (\phi \circ \psi)^t(p) = \iota \otimes \phi^t \circ \psi^t(p).$$

Since P(H) is symmetric and the last equation holds for all ϕ^t and ψ^t in P(H), (ii) follows.

To show (iii) notice that it is immediate from the definition of the Choi matrix that

$$C_{\gamma \circ (\phi \circ \psi)} = \iota \otimes \gamma (C_{\phi \circ \psi}).$$

Thus by (ii)

$$C_{\gamma \circ \phi \circ \psi} = \iota \otimes \gamma \left(\psi^{*t} \otimes \phi \right)(p)$$

= $\left(\psi^{*t} \otimes \gamma \right)(\iota \otimes \phi)(p)$
= $\psi^{*t} \otimes \gamma (C_{\phi}).$

Proof of Theorem 6.4.1 The pattern of the proof is (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iv) and (i) \Rightarrow (iii) \Rightarrow (iv).

(i) \Leftrightarrow (ii). By Theorem 5.2.5 $\mathscr{C} = P_{\mathscr{C}}(H)$ —the \mathscr{C} -positive maps in P(H). By Theorem 6.1.3 \mathscr{C}° is symmetric. Thus by Theorem 6.1.6 $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$ if and only if $\phi^* \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$ if and only if $\psi \circ \phi^*$ is completely positive if and only if $\phi \circ \psi^* = (\psi \circ \phi^*)^*$ is completely positive if and only if $\phi \circ \psi$ is completely positive for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$, proving (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii).

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iv). By Theorem 4.1.8 and Lemma 6.4.2 $\phi \circ \psi$ is completely positive if and only if

$$0 \le C_{\phi \circ \psi} = \iota \otimes \phi \circ \psi(p) = \psi^{*\iota} \otimes \phi(p).$$

Since \mathscr{C} is symmetric the equivalence (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iv) follows.

Clearly (iii) \Rightarrow (iv).

(i) \Rightarrow (iii). With the chosen complete set of matrix units (e_{ij}) we have $p = \sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$, which is a positive rank 1 operator with range the vector $\sum_i \xi_i \otimes \xi_i$, where $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n, n = \dim H$, is an orthonormal basis for H such that $e_{ij}\xi_k = \delta_{jk}\xi_i$. Let $\xi = \sum \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ be a vector in $H \otimes H$. Let $v \in B(H)$ be defined by $v\xi_i = \eta_i$, so

$$\xi = 1 \otimes v \left(\sum_{i} \xi_i \otimes \xi_i \right).$$

Let q be the 1-dimensional projection [ξ] onto $\mathbb{C}\xi$. Then it follows that

$$Ad(1 \otimes v)(p) = \lambda q$$
 for some $\lambda > 0$.

We have thus shown that given a 1-dimensional projection $q \in B(H)$ then there exists $v \in B(H)$ such that

$$1 \otimes Adv(p) = q.$$

Since \mathscr{C}° is a mapping cone by Theorem 6.1.3, and $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$, $\phi \circ Adv \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$. Thus by Theorem 6.1.6 $\phi \circ Adv \circ \psi$ is completely positive for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$, hence by Lemma 6.4.2

$$\psi^{*t} \otimes \phi(q) = (\psi^{*t} \otimes \phi \circ Adv)(p) = \iota \otimes (\phi \circ Adv \circ \psi)(p) \ge 0.$$

Since \mathscr{C} is symmetric, $\psi \otimes \phi(q) \ge 0$ for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$ and 1-dimensional projections q. It follows that $\psi \otimes \phi$ is positive for all $\psi \in \mathscr{C}$. Thus (i) \Rightarrow (iii), and the proof is complete.

The above theorem is about maps in P(H). We next apply the theorem to maps from different B(K)'s into B(H).

Corollary 6.4.3 Let H, K, L be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces. Let \mathscr{C} be a symmetric mapping cone in P(H). Suppose $\psi \in B(B(K), H)$ is \mathscr{C} -positive and $\phi \in B(B(L), H)$ is \mathscr{C}° -positive. Then $\psi \otimes \phi : B(K \otimes L) \to B(H \otimes H)$ is positive.

Proof By Theorem 5.1.13 it suffices to consider maps of the form $\psi = \alpha \circ \beta$ with $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}, \beta : B(K) \to B(H)$ completely positive, and $\phi = \gamma \circ \delta$ with $\gamma \in \mathcal{C}^{\circ}, \delta : B(L) \to B(H)$ completely positive.

Thus

$$\psi \otimes \phi = (\alpha \otimes \gamma) \circ (\beta \otimes \delta)$$

is positive, since $\beta \otimes \delta$ is completely positive, and $\alpha \otimes \gamma$ is positive by Theorem 6.4.1.

6.5 Notes

Duality of cones of positive maps has been studied for some time, see e.g [17, 21, 27] and [2].

The results in Sects. 6.1, 6.2 and 6.4, except for the examples 6.2.1 and 6.2.3 in Sect. 6.2, which are taken from [69], are to a great extent taken from papers by the author. However, Proposition 6.2.4 was shown by Itoh [28]. For Theorem 6.1.3 see [82], for Theorem 6.1.6 [80], and for Theorem 6.2.6 see [77]. The results in Sect. 6.4 are taken from [84].

For an extension of Remark 6.2.5 to maps which are sums of k-positive and l-copositive maps, see [16].

Section 6.3 on maps on M_2 is due to Woronowicz [98]. Related results on maps on M_2 can be found in [71].

Chapter 7 States and Positive Maps

The duality $\phi \to \widetilde{\phi}$ between the bounded maps of B(K) into B(H), B(B(K), H), and the dual $(B(K) \otimes \mathscr{T}(H))^*$ of the projective tensor product of B(K) and $\mathscr{T}(H)$, see 4.2, shows a close relationship between positive maps and linear functionals. In this chapter we shall elaborate on this relationship. In Sect. 7.1 we shall translate the duality theorem, 6.1.6, to a theorem on linear functionals and show some consequences. In Sect. 7.2 we consider PPT-states on tensor products $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ and show their relationship to decomposable maps. Section 7.3 is devoted to entanglement. It turns out that the negative part C_{ϕ}^- of the Choi matrix C_{ϕ} for a map ϕ contains much information related to entanglement. Finally in Sect. 7.4 we shall relate positive maps to super-positive maps.

7.1 Positivity Properties of Linear Functionals

The main result in the present section is the following theorem, which is essentially a translation of Theorem 6.1.6 to linear functionals. We denote by $P_{\mathcal{C}}(K)$ the \mathcal{C} -positive maps from B(K) into B(H).

Theorem 7.1.1 Let K and H be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces and C a symmetric mapping cone in P(H). Let ρ be a linear functional on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ with density operator h, so $\rho(x) = Tr(hx)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

(i) $\rho = \widetilde{\phi}$ with $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$.

(ii) $\rho(C_{\alpha}) \geq 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

(iii) $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, i.e. $h \in P(B(K), \mathscr{C})$.

(iv) $\rho \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

(v) ρ is positive on the cone $P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^{\circ})$.

Proof (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii). By Lemma 4.2.2 $\rho = \widetilde{\phi}$ for some $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$. By Lemma 4.2.3 C_{ϕ}^{t} is the density operator for $\widetilde{\phi}$. We thus have for $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, using Lemma 4.2.5,

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8_7, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

$$\rho(C_{\alpha}) = Tr(C_{\phi}^{t}C_{\alpha}) = Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\alpha}^{t}) = Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\alpha}^{t}).$$

Since \mathscr{C} is symmetric it follows that $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ if and only if $\rho(C_{\alpha}) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, proving (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii).

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv). We let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units for B(K) and $p = \sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$. Then since $C_{\phi}^{t} = C_{\phi^{t}}$,

$$\iota \otimes \alpha(h) = \iota \otimes \alpha \left(C_{\phi}^{t} \right) = (\iota \otimes \alpha) \circ \left(\iota \otimes \phi^{t} \right)(p).$$
(7.1)

Hence

$$\rho \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha)(x) = Tr(C_{\phi^t} \iota \otimes \alpha(x)) = Tr(\iota \otimes (\alpha^* \circ \phi^t)(p)x).$$

Thus by (7.1) $\rho \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\iota \otimes (\alpha \circ \phi^t)(p) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $a \in \mathscr{C}$, proving (iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv).

(i) \Leftrightarrow (iii). Since $p = p^t = t \otimes t(p)$ we have

$$(t \otimes t) \circ (\iota \otimes \alpha \circ \phi^{t})(p) = \iota \otimes (t \circ \alpha \circ t \circ \phi)(t \otimes t(p))$$
$$= \iota \otimes \alpha^{t} \circ \phi(p^{t})$$
$$= \iota \otimes \alpha^{t} \circ \phi(p).$$

Since \mathscr{C} is symmetric, and $t \otimes t$ is an anti-isomorphism, it follows from (7.1) that $\alpha \circ \phi$ is completely positive if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$. Hence by Theorem 6.1.6 $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$, i.e. (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii).

(i) \Leftrightarrow (v). By Theorem 6.1.7 $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} = P_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}(K)$. Thus $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ if and only if ϕ is \mathscr{C}° -positive if and only if $\rho = \tilde{\phi}$ is positive on $P(B(K), \mathscr{C}^{\circ})$, proving (i) \Leftrightarrow (v). Thus all conditions (i), ..., (v) are equivalent.

Corollary 7.1.2 Let K and H be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces and ρ a state on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ with density operator h. Then ρ is separable if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in P(H)$.

Proof By Proposition 5.1.4 the mapping cone $SP_1(H)$ of super-positive maps in P(H) consists of maps ϕ with $\tilde{\phi}$ a separable positive linear functional. By Proposition 6.2.1 $SP_1(H) = P(H)^\circ$. Thus by the equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) in Theorem 7.1.1 $\rho (= \tilde{\phi})$ is separable if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in P(H)$.

Remark 7.1.3 The above corollary can easily be extended to the infinite dimensional case if we assume ρ is a normal state and the maps α are normal. The proof is then obtained by reduction to the finite dimensional case by considering $e \otimes f$ h $e \otimes f$ for e and f finite dimensional projections in B(K) and B(H) respectively, and then taking limits. Considering adjoint maps we can also show the analogue result when the α 's map B(H) into B(K).

Remark 7.1.4 An equivalent formulation of Corollary 7.1.2 is the identity

$$P(B(K), P(H)) = B(K)^{+} \otimes B(H)^{+}.$$
(7.2)

Indeed, by definition of P(B(K), P(H)), (Definition 5.1.6), a positive operator $h \in B(K \otimes H)$ belongs to P(B(K), P(H)) if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in P(H)$, so by Corollary 7.1.2, if and only if $Tr(h \cdot)$ is a separable positive linear functional, i.e., if and only if $h \in B(K)^+ \otimes B(H)^+$.

Thus by Lemma 5.2.1, $1 \otimes 1$ is an interior point of $B(K)^+ \oplus B(H)^+$. Since $C_{Tr} = 1 \otimes 1$, it follows that for each positive linear functional ρ of small enough norm, $Tr + \rho$ is separable. In Sect. 7.5 we shall prove a strengthening of this result.

7.2 PPT-States

PPT-states, i.e. states with positive partial transpose, are rough approximations to separable states, and have attracted much attention in the literature. We show in this section how they relate to positive maps and in particular to decomposable maps. They are defined as follows.

Definition 7.2.1 Let *A* be an operator system and *H* a Hilbert space. A state ρ on $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$ is said to be a *PPT-state* if $\rho \circ (\iota \otimes t)$ is a state on $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$ as well.

Theorem 7.2.2 Let A and H be as above and ρ a state on $A \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{T}(H)$. Let $\phi \in B(A, H)$ be the map such that $\rho = \widetilde{\phi}$. Then ρ is a PPT-state if and only if ϕ is both completely positive and copositive.

Proof Since ρ is a state ϕ , is completely positive by Theorem 4.2.7. Let $a \in A$ and b be a trace class operator on H. Since the trace is invariant under transposition,

$$\widetilde{\phi} \circ (\iota \otimes t)(a \otimes b) = \widetilde{\phi}(a \otimes b^t) = Tr(\phi(a)b)$$
$$= Tr(t \circ \phi(a)b^t) = (t \circ \phi)(a \otimes b)$$

Thus $\rho = \tilde{\phi}$ is PPT if and only if both ϕ and $t \circ \phi$ are completely positive, hence if and only if ϕ is both completely positive and copositive.

Corollary 7.2.3 Let $H = \mathbb{C}^2$. Then a state ρ on $M_2 \otimes M_2$ is separable if and only *if it is PPT.*

Proof By Theorem 6.3.1 each positive map in $P(\mathbb{C}^2)$ is decomposable. Hence

$$CP(\mathbb{C}^2) \cap coCP(\mathbb{C}^2) = P(\mathbb{C}^2)^\circ = SP_1(\mathbb{C}^2).$$

It follows that a map is both completely positive and copositive if and only if it is super-positive. Hence the corollary follows from Proposition 5.1.4. \Box

If $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ for *K* and *H* finite dimensional we have the following application of Theorem 7.1.1 to PPT-states.

Corollary 7.2.4 Let *K* and *H* be finite dimensional and ρ a state on $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ with density operator *h*. Let $\mathscr{C} = CP(H) \lor coCP(H)$ be the mapping cone generated by CP(H) and coCP(H). Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- (i) ρ is a PPT-state.
- (ii) $\alpha \circ \phi$ is completely positive for all $\alpha \in \mathcal{C}$, where $\rho = \widetilde{\phi}$.
- (iii) $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

Proof Since by Proposition 6.2.2 $CP(H)^{\circ} = CP(H)$ and similarly for coCP(H), $\mathscr{C}^{\circ} = CP(H) \cap coCP(H)$. Therefore by Theorem 7.2.2 $\tilde{\phi}$ is PPT if and only if $\phi \in \mathscr{C}^{\circ}$, hence by Theorem 7.1.1 if and only if $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$, hence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii).

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii). By Theorem 7.1.1 $\iota \otimes \alpha(h) \ge 0$ for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$ if and only if $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$, which by Theorem 6.1.6 is equivalent to $\alpha \circ \phi$ being completely positive for all $\alpha \in \mathscr{C}$.

The relationship between PPT-states and decomposable maps is clear from the next result.

Corollary 7.2.5 Let $\phi \in P(H)$. Then ϕ is decomposable if and only if $\rho(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$ for all PPT-states ρ on $B(H) \otimes B(H)$.

Proof ϕ is decomposable if and only if $\phi \in CP(H) \lor coCP(H) = (CP(H) \cap coCP(H))^\circ$, hence by Theorem 7.2.2, if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0$ for all ψ with $\tilde{\psi}$ a PPT-state. Since $\tilde{\psi}$ is PPT if and only if $\tilde{\psi}^t$ is PPT it follows that ϕ is decomposable if and only if $\rho(C_{\phi}) \ge 0$ for all PPT-states ρ .

7.3 The Choi Map

For some time it was a problem whether all PPT-states were separable. By Corollary 7.2.5 and the proof of Corollary 7.2.3 this would via Proposition 4.1.11 be the same as saying that all positive maps are decomposable. But we saw in Proposition 2.3.3 that the positive projection of M_n onto the spin factor V_k , k = 4 or $k \ge 6$, is indecomposable, so there exist PPT-states which are not separable.

A celebrated example of an indecomposable positive map is the Choi map in $P(\mathbb{C}^3)$. It was the first example known of an indecomposable map and has been generalized to higher dimensions. We shall for simplicity of the argument only study the simplest case, namely

Definition 7.3.1 The *Choi map* is the map $\phi \in P(\mathbb{C}^3)$ defined as follows: If $x = (x_{ij}) \in M_3$ then

$$\phi(x) = \begin{pmatrix} x_{11} + x_{33} & -x_{12} & -x_{13} \\ -x_{21} & x_{22} + x_{11} & -x_{23} \\ -x_{31} & -x_{32} & x_{33} + x_{22} \end{pmatrix} = \Delta(x) - x,$$

7.3 The Choi Map

where

$$\Delta(x) = \begin{pmatrix} 2x_{11} + x_{33} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 2x_{22} + x_{11} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 2x_{33} + x_{22} \end{pmatrix}.$$

It is not immediate that ϕ is positive. For this we shall need two lemmas.

Lemma 7.3.2 Let ξ_0 be a unit vector in the finite dimensional Hilbert space H, let $p = [\xi_0]$ be the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\xi_0$, and let $a \in B(H)^+$ be invertible. Then $a \ge p$ if and only if $(a^{-1}\xi_0, \xi_0) \le 1$.

Proof Suppose $(a^{-1}\xi_0, \xi_0) \leq 1$. By the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality for states

$$1 = (\xi_0, \xi_0)^2 = \left(a^{1/2}\xi_0, a^{-1/2}\xi_0\right)^2 \le (a\xi_0, \xi_0)\left(a^{-1}\xi_0, \xi_0\right).$$

If it is not the case that $a \ge p$, then $(a\xi_0, \xi_0) < 1$, hence $(a^{-1}\xi_0, \xi_0) > 1$, contrary to assumption. Thus $a \ge p$. Conversely, if $a \ge p$ then, since *H* is finite dimensional and *a* is invertible, there is $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $a \ge p + \varepsilon(1-p)$. Thus $a^{-1} \le p + \frac{1}{\varepsilon}(1-p)$, so that $pa^{-1}p \le p$. Thus $(a^{-1}\xi_0, \xi_0) = (pa^{-1}p\xi_0, \xi_0) \le 1$.

Lemma 7.3.3 Let α , β , $\gamma \ge 0$. Then

$$\frac{\alpha}{2\alpha+\gamma} + \frac{\beta}{2\beta+\alpha} + \frac{\gamma}{2\gamma+\beta} \le 1.$$

Proof Put

$$x = \frac{\gamma}{\alpha}, \qquad y = \frac{\alpha}{\beta}, \qquad z = \frac{\beta}{\gamma}.$$

Then xyz = 1, so the inequality in the lemma becomes

$$\frac{1}{2+x} + \frac{1}{2+y} + \frac{1}{2+z} \le 1.$$

If we multiply out this reduces to showing

$$xy + xz + yz \ge 3,$$

or since $z = \frac{1}{xy}$, to showing

$$f(x, y) = x^2 y^2 + x + y - 3xy \ge 0$$
 for $x, y \ge 0$.

Then f(0, 0) = 0, $f(x, y) \to +\infty$ if either $x \to +\infty$ or $y \to +\infty$. Straightforward calculus shows that the only minimum point for f in $(0, \infty) \times (0, \infty)$ is (1, 1), with value f(1, 1) = 0. Thus $f(x, y) \ge 0$, and the lemma is proved.

Proposition 7.3.4 The Choi map is positive.

Proof It suffices to show $\phi(p) \ge 0$ for all 1-dimensional projections p. Let $p = [\xi_0]$ for a unit vector $\xi_0 = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3$. Then

$$\Delta(p) = \begin{pmatrix} 2|\alpha_1|^2 + |\alpha_3|^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 2|\alpha_2|^2 + |\alpha_1|^2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2|\alpha_3|^2 + |\alpha_2|^2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

By Lemma 7.3.3

$$\left(\Delta(p)^{-1}\xi_0,\xi_0\right) = \frac{|\alpha_1|^2}{2|\alpha_1|^2 + |\alpha_3|^2} + \frac{|\alpha_2|^2}{2|\alpha_2|^2 + |\alpha_1|^2} + \frac{|\alpha_3|^2}{2|\alpha_3|^2 + |\alpha_2|^2} \le 1.$$

Thus by Lemma 7.3.2

$$\phi(p) = \Delta(p) - p \ge 0,$$

so ϕ is positive.

One can show that ϕ is atomic and extremal. The proofs are rather involved, so we shall only prove the following result.

Proposition 7.3.5 *The Choi map* ϕ *is not* 2*-positive.*

Proof Let $\xi_0 = (0, 1, 1, 1, 1, 0) \in \mathbb{C}^6 = \mathbb{C}^3 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$. Let $p = [\xi_0]$. Then

$$p = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} p_{11} & p_{12} \\ p_{21} & p_{22} \end{pmatrix}$$

with $p_{ij} \in M_3$ as indicated. Then

$$\iota_2 \otimes \phi(p) = \frac{1}{4} (\phi(p_{ij})) \in M_2 \otimes M_3.$$

A straightforward calculation shows that

$$\left(\iota_2\otimes\phi(p)\xi_0,\xi_0\right)=-\frac{1}{4}<0.$$

Thus ϕ is not 2-positive.

In addition to the negative result that ϕ is not 2-positive we next show that ϕ is indecomposable.

Proposition 7.3.6 There exists a PPT-state ρ such that $\rho(C_{\phi}) < 0$. Hence ϕ is indecomposable.

Proof We have

Let $S \in M_3 \otimes M_3$ be the matrix

	(2)	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2)
	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0
	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	0
S =	2	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2
	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0
	2	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	2/

Then $S \ge 0$ and $\iota \otimes t(S) \ge 0$, as is easily checked. Let $\rho = \frac{1}{21}Tr(S \cdot)$. Then ρ is a PPT-state, and $\rho(C_{\phi}) < 0$, so by Corollary 7.2.5 ϕ is indecomposable.

We note that the state ρ is entangled, because ϕ is positive, so $Tr(C_{\phi}a \otimes b) \ge 0$ for all $a, b \in M_3^+$, using Proposition 4.1.11.

Remark 7.3.7 The Choi map has a natural extension to M_n . Let *P* be the positive projection of M_n onto the diagonal. Let *s* be the shift unitary in M_n , so $s = (\delta_{i,i+1})$, where $\delta_{i,j}$ is the Kronecker symbol, and where the indices are understood modulo *n*. Then we have an extension of the Choi map to $P(\mathbb{C}^n)$ defined by

$$\phi(a) = (n-1)P(a) + \sum_{i=1}^{k} P(s^{i}as^{i*}) - x.$$

It was shown by Tanahashi and Tomiyama [88] and Ha [17] that for $n \ge 3$ and $1 \le k \le n-2$, ϕ is atomic, hence in particular indecomposable.

7.4 Entanglement

A state on a tensor product $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ is called *entangled* if it is not separable. We shall see in this section how entanglement is related to positive maps. We first give a definition of entanglement related to a given mapping cone.

Definition 7.4.1 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H), $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$ with dim $H < \infty$, and let *K* be another finite dimensional Hilbert space. Let

$$S_{\mathscr{C}} = \left\{ \rho \in B(K \otimes H)^* : \rho = Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot) \text{ is a state with } \psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} \right\}$$

where as before $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$ denotes the cone of \mathscr{C} positive maps of B(K) into B(H). We say a state ω on $B(K \otimes H)$ is \mathscr{C} -entangled if $\omega \notin S_{\mathscr{C}}$.

Note that if $\mathscr{C} = P(H)$, then $\mathscr{C}^{\circ} = SP_1(H)$, so by Theorem 6.1.7 $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} = P_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}(K)$ is the cone of $SP_1(H)$ -positive maps, so the corresponding states are separable by Proposition 5.1.4. Thus in this case a state is \mathscr{C} -entangled if and only if it is entangled.

We shall need the following lemma. If \mathscr{C} is a symmetric mapping cone it follows from Theorem 6.1.6.

Lemma 7.4.2 Let $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$ be a mapping cone in P(H) and K finite dimensional. Then each map in $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ is completely positive.

Proof Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ belong to $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$. Then $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0$ for all $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$. Since $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$, $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K) \supset P_{CP}(K)$. By, for example Theorem 5.1.13, $P_{CP}(K)$ consists of the completely positive maps of B(K) into B(H). By Theorem 4.1.8 a map ψ in B(B(K), H) is completely positive if and only if $C_{\psi} \ge 0$. Thus $Tr(C_{\phi}x) \ge 0$ for all $x \in B(K \otimes H)^+$, hence $C_{\phi} \ge 0$, and therefore ϕ is completely positive by Theorem 4.1.8. □

If $\phi \in B(B(K), H)^+$, we let as before, see Sect. 4.1, C_{ϕ}^+ and C_{ϕ}^- denote the positive and negative parts of the Choi matrix C_{ϕ} , so $C_{\phi} = C_{\phi}^+ - C_{\phi}^-$ with $C_{\phi}^+ C_{\phi}^- = 0$.

Theorem 7.4.3 Let e be a projection in $B(K \otimes H)$ and \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H) such that \mathscr{C} strictly contains CP(H). Then each state ω on $B(K \otimes H)$ with support in e is \mathscr{C} -entangled if and only if there exists a \mathscr{C} -positive map $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ with support $C_{\phi}^{-} = e$.

Proof Suppose ϕ is a \mathscr{C} -positive map as in the theorem. Let ω be a state with support $\omega \leq e$. Then

$$\omega(C_{\phi}) = \omega(eC_{\phi}e) = -\omega(C_{\phi}^{-}) < 0.$$

Thus if ψ is a map in B(B(K), H) such that C_{ψ} is the density matrix for ω , then $Tr(C_{\psi}C_{\phi}) < 0$, so $\psi \notin P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$, and therefore $\omega \notin S_{\mathscr{C}}$.

Conversely let $\mu = \sup_{\rho \in S_{\mathscr{C}}} \rho(e)$. We claim that $\mu < 1$. We have

$$1 = ||e|| = \sup\{Tr(eh) : 0 \le h \le 1, Tr(h) = 1\}.$$

Now Tr(eh) = Tr(h) if and only if $h \le e$. For such an *h* the state $Tr(h \cdot)$ is by assumption \mathscr{C} -entangled, hence $Tr(h \cdot) \notin S_{\mathscr{C}}$. It follows that $Tr(eC_{\psi}) < 1$ for all states $Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot)$ in $S_{\mathscr{C}}$. By compactness of $S_{\mathscr{C}}$ and continuity of the maps $\psi \to Tr(eC_{\psi}), \mu < 1$ as claimed.

Let $\lambda = 1/\mu$, and let ϕ be the map defined by $C_{\phi} = 1 - \lambda e$. If $Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot) \in S_{\mathscr{C}}$, so in particular $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$, then by definition of μ

$$Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) = 1 - \lambda Tr(eC_{\psi}) \ge 1 - \lambda \mu = 0.$$

$$(7.3)$$

If $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ then ψ is completely positive by Lemma 7.4.2, so $Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot)$ is automatically positive and therefore a positive multiple of a state in $S_{\mathscr{C}^{\circ}}$. Thus (7.3) implies that $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ\circ} = P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$, using Lemma 6.1.2. Thus ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive, with $C_{\phi}^+ = 1 - e$, and $C_{\phi}^- = (\lambda - 1)e$ with support e.

As an immediate corollary we have

Corollary 7.4.4 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be C-positive with C as in Theorem 7.4.3. Then every state with support in the support of C_{ϕ}^- is entangled. In particular, this holds for all positive maps $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$.

Remark 7.4.5 If $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$ is unital and positive, and f is the projection onto the eigenspace of C_{ϕ} corresponding to the eigenvalues $\lambda > 1$, then each state with support majorized by f is entangled. Indeed, since $Tr(a)1 - a \ge 0$ for all $a \ge 0$, the map $\psi = Tr - \phi = \phi \circ (Tr - \iota)$ is positive, $C_{\psi} = 1 - C_{\phi}$, so $C_{\psi} = f$, hence our assertion follows from Corollary 7.4.4.

Corollary 7.4.4 has a natural extension to *k*-positive maps. Recall that a vector $\xi \in K \otimes H$ has Schmidt rank *k* if *k* is the smallest number *m* such that $\xi = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i$. For simplicity we state the next result for the case K = H.

Corollary 7.4.6 Let $\phi \in P(H)$ be k-positive and not completely positive. Let ξ be a unit vector in support C_{ϕ}^- . Then the Schmidt rank of ξ is greater than k.

Proof Let $\rho = \omega_{\xi}$ be the vector state defined by ξ . Then $[\xi] = \text{support } \rho \leq \text{support } C_{\phi}^-$, hence by Theorem 7.4.3 ρ is P_k -entangled. Thus $\rho = Tr([\xi] \cdot) = Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot)$ with $\psi \notin P_k(H)^\circ$. By Proposition 6.2.3 $P_k(H)^\circ = SP_k(H)$ is the cone of *k*-super-positive maps. By Proposition 4.1.4 $\psi = AdV$. Since $AdV \in SP_k(H)$ if and only if rank $V \leq k$, it follows that rank V > k. Since $[\xi] = C_{AdV}$ it follows from Proposition 4.1.6 that ξ has Schmidt rank $SR(\xi) > k$.
Remark 7.4.7 The above corollary can easily be extended to the case when dim $K = m \neq n = \dim H$. See [43] and also [32]. In the last reference, it was also shown that it follows from [91] that

$$\dim \operatorname{supp} C_{\phi}^{-} \leq (m-k)(n-k).$$

Using Theorem 7.4.3 we can obtain a large class of indecomposable maps. Let as before *K* and *H* be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces. An orthogonal family of product vectors $\xi_i \otimes \eta_i$ in $K \otimes H$ is called an *unextendible product basis* if the orthogonal complement of the span of $\{\xi_i \otimes \eta_i\}$ contains no product vector.

Theorem 7.4.8 Let $\{\xi_i \otimes \eta_i\}$ be an unextendible product basis for $K \otimes H$, and let X denote the linear span of $\{\xi_i \otimes \eta_i\}$ in $K \otimes H$. Let e denote the orthogonal projection onto the orthogonal complement X^{\perp} of X. Then there exists $\lambda > 1$ such that the map $\phi : B(K) \to B(H)$ with $C_{\phi} = 1 - \lambda e$ is indecomposable.

Proof Applying Theorem 7.4.3 and its proof to the symmetric mapping cone P(H) we see that there exists $\lambda > 1$ such that the map $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ with $C_{\phi} = 1 - \lambda e$ is positive. Let $[\xi_i]$ (resp $[\eta_i]$) denote the one dimensional projection onto $\mathbb{C}\xi_i$ (resp. $\mathbb{C}\eta_i$). Then

$$e = 1 \otimes 1 - \sum_{i} [\xi_i] \otimes [\eta_i].$$

We assert that $\iota \otimes t(e)$ is a projection. Indeed, suppose $f, g \in B(K), p, q \in B(H)$ are projections such that $f \otimes p \perp g \otimes q$, then $f \otimes p^t \perp g \otimes q^t$. This follows, since

$$Tr \otimes Tr((f \otimes p^{t})(g \otimes q^{t})) = Tr \otimes Tr(fg \otimes p^{t}q^{t})$$
$$= Tr(fg)Tr(p^{t}q^{t})$$
$$= Tr(fg)Tr(pq)$$
$$= Tr \otimes Tr((f \otimes p)(g \otimes q)) = 0$$

It follows that $\iota \otimes t(e)$ being the sum of the orthogonal projections $[\xi_i] \otimes [\eta_i]^t$ is a projection as claimed. But then $\iota \otimes \psi(e) \ge 0$ for all completely positive and copositive maps in B(B(H), K) and thus for all decomposable maps of B(H) into B(K).

Let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units in B(K) and $p = \sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ij}$. Then $C_{\phi} = \iota \otimes \phi(p)$. We thus have for the trace Tr on $B(K \otimes H)$,

$$Tr(p(\iota \otimes \phi^*)(e)) = Tr(\iota \otimes \phi(p)e)$$
$$= Tr(C_{\phi}e)$$
$$= Tr(e - \lambda e)$$
$$= (1 - \lambda)Tr(e) < 0.$$

Thus $\iota \otimes \phi^*(e)$ is not positive, hence ϕ^* is indecomposable by the above paragraph. But then ϕ is also indecomposable.

7.5 Super-positive Maps

One of the main problems in the study of states and positive maps in quantum information theory is to find criteria for when a state is separable, or equivalently for a positive map to be super-positive. We have already seen two approaches, that of PPT-states and the Horodecki theorem, Corollary 7.1.2. A third approach is that of optimal maps, i.e. maps which do not majorize any completely positive maps. For those maps one can construct their SPA, physical structural approximation, which for a unital map ϕ is defined by having a Choi matrix of the form $\frac{1-p}{d^2}1 + pC_{\phi}$, where $d = \dim H$, and $p \in [0, 1]$ is maximal such that the above Choi matrix is positive. It was conjectured that the corresponding state is separable, see e.g. [12]. This has recently been shown to be false, as shown in [20] and [83].

In the present section we shall show a similar result for any positive map, namely that $\phi(1)Tr + \phi$ is always super-positive. Our approach is close to that used in the study of the SPA above. For this we need some preliminary results.

Lemma 7.5.1 Let *H* have an orthonormal basis ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_d , and let (e_{ij}) be the matrix units such that $e_{ij}\xi_k = \delta_{jk}\xi_i$. Let *V* denote the flip $V\xi \otimes \eta = \eta \otimes \xi$ on $H \otimes H$. Then

$$V=\sum e_{ij}\otimes e_{ji},$$

and $Ad(U \otimes U)(V) = V$ for all unitary operators U in B(H).

Proof $\sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ji}(\xi_k \otimes \xi_l) = \sum \delta_{jk}\xi_i \otimes \delta_{il}\xi_j = \xi_l \otimes \xi_k$, so *V* is given by the formula in the lemma. To show *V* is invariant let *U* be a unitary operator, and $\xi \otimes \eta \in H \otimes H$. Then

$$Ad(U \otimes U)(V)\xi \otimes \eta = (U^* \otimes U^*)V(U\xi \otimes U\eta)$$
$$= (U^* \otimes U^*)(U\eta \otimes U\xi)$$
$$= \eta \otimes \xi$$
$$= V(\xi \otimes \eta).$$

Lemma 7.5.2 Let $(e_{ij})_{i,j=1,2}$ be the usual matrix units in M_2 . Let $A \in M_2 \otimes M_2$ be invariant under all automorphisms of $M_2 \otimes M_2$ of the form $AdU \otimes U$ with U unitary in M_2 . Then A is of the form

$$A = a1 + bV,$$

with V as in Lemma 7.5.1.

Proof The proof goes in three steps.

Step 1 Let $U = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. Then it follows easily that

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 0 & 0 & b_4 \\ 0 & a_2 & b_3 & 0 \\ 0 & b_2 & a_3 & 0 \\ b_1 & 0 & 0 & a_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Step 2 Let $U = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & z \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ with |z| = 1. Then with A as above

$$A = AdU \otimes U(A) = \begin{pmatrix} a_4 & 0 & 0 & z^2b_1 \\ 0 & a_3 & b_2 & 0 \\ 0 & b_3 & a_2 & 0 \\ \overline{z}^2b_4 & 0 & 0 & a_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus $a_1 = a_4$, $a_2 = a_3$, $z^2b_1 = b_4$, $b_2 = b_3$. Since this holds for all $z \in \mathbb{C}$ with |z| = 1, $b_1 = b_4 = 0$. Therefore

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & a_2 & b_2 & 0\\ 0 & b_2 & a_2 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a_1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we subtract $b = b_2$ from a_1 we see that A has the form

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & c & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & c & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} b & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & b & 0 \\ 0 & b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & b \end{pmatrix}.$$

The right summand is $b \sum e_{ij} \otimes e_{ji}$, which is invariant under all automorphisms $Ad U \otimes U$ by Lemma 7.5.1. Therefore the right summand is invariant, so it remains to show

Step 3 a = c. Rewriting we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & & \\ & c & \\ & & c & \\ & & & a \end{pmatrix} = (a-c) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ & 0 & \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix} + c1 \otimes 1$$
$$= (a-c)e_{11} \otimes e_{11} + (a-c)e_{22} \otimes e_{22} + c1 \otimes 1.$$

Since $1 \otimes 1$ is invariant we have $(a - c)[e_{11} \otimes e_{11} + e_{22} \otimes e_{22}]$ is invariant. But if we choose U such that

$$AdU(e_{11}) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad AdU(e_{22}) \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

then it is easily seen that

$$e_{11} \otimes e_{11} + e_{22} \otimes e_{22} \neq Ad(U \otimes U)(e_{11} \otimes e_{11} + e_{22} \otimes e_{22}).$$

Therefore a - c = 0, completing the proof of Step 3, and therefore of the lemma. \Box

We next extend Lemma 7.5.2 to arbitrary dimensions.

Lemma 7.5.3 Let $A \in M_d \otimes M_d$ be invariant under all automorphisms $Ad U \otimes U$ with U unitary in M_d . Then A is of the form $A = a \ 1 \otimes 1 + bV$ with V the flip on $\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^d$.

Proof Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_d be an orthonormal basis for $H = \mathbb{C}^d$ and (e_{ij}) the corresponding complete set of matrix units. Let $n \neq m$ belong to $\{1, \ldots, d\}$, and let F_{mn} be the orthogonal projection onto span $\{\xi_i \otimes \xi_j : i, j \in \{m, n\}\}$. If $\{m, n\} \neq \{p, q\}$ with $p \neq q, r \in \{m, n, p, q\}$ and equal to only one of them, and U is the unitary operator such that $U\xi_r = -\xi_r$, and $U\xi_j = \xi_j$ for $j \neq r$, then

$$(A\xi_m \otimes \xi_n, \xi_p \otimes \xi_q) = (AU\xi_m \otimes U\xi_n, U\xi_p \otimes U\xi_q) = -(A\xi_m \otimes \xi_n, \xi_p \otimes \xi_q),$$

hence $(A\xi_m \otimes \xi_n, \xi_p \otimes \xi_q) = 0$ whenever $\{m, n\} \neq \{p, q\}$. Since any permutation of the basis elements is implemented by a unitary operator, *A* depends only on the matrix elements *m*, *n*, *p*, *q*, such that $\{m, n\} = \{p, q\}$, i.e.

$$A = \sum a_{(m,p)(n,q)} e_{mp} \otimes e_{nq} \tag{7.4}$$

with $a_{(m,p)(n,q)} = 0$ unless m = n = p = q, or $m = p \neq q = n$, or $m = q \neq n = p$.

Considering the unitaries U in M_d such that $U\xi_i = \xi_i$ for $i \neq m, n$ and $U \otimes UF_{mn}\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C} = F_{mn}\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}$ it follows that $AdU \otimes U(F_{mn}M_d \otimes M_dF_{mn}) = F_{mn}M_d \otimes M_dF_{mn}$. Furthermore $F_{mn}AF_{mn}$ is fixed under the restrictions of $AdU \otimes U$. Thus by Lemma 7.5.2

$$F_{mn}AF_{mn} = aF_{mn} + bV_{mn},\tag{7.5}$$

where V_{mn} is the restriction of the flip V to $F_{mn}\mathbb{C}^d \otimes \mathbb{C}^d$. If we take U self-adjoint such that $U\xi_m = \xi_p$, $U\xi_n = \xi_q$ and $U\xi_j = \xi_j$ for $j \notin \{m, n, p, q\}$ then

$$Ad U \otimes U(F_{mn}AF_{mn}) = F_{pq}AF_{pq}.$$

Thus the coefficients *a* and *b* in (7.5) remain the same for $F_{mn}AF_{mn}$ and $F_{pq}AF_{pq}$. It follows that the coefficients $a_{(m,p)(n,q)}$ in (7.4) are given by the formula

$$a_{(m,p)(n,q)} = \begin{cases} a+b & \text{when } m=p, n=q, \\ b & \text{when } m=q \neq p=n, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

But this means that $A = a \ 1 \otimes 1 + bV$ with V as in Lemma 7.5.1.

Theorem 7.5.4 *Let H* be a finite dimensional Hilbert space and $\phi \in P(H)$. Then the map $\phi(1)Tr + \phi$ is super-positive.

Proof We first show that Tr + t, t being the transpose, is super-positive. Let G denote the compact group $G = \{AdU \otimes U : U \text{ unitary in } B(H)\}$. Let dU denote the normalized Haar measure on G. Then

$$P(A) = \int_G AdU \otimes U(A) \, dU$$

is a unital positive projection of $B(H \otimes H)$ onto the fixed point algebra of G, which by Lemma 7.5.3 equals the span $\{a1 \otimes 1 + bV : a, b \in \mathbb{C}\}$. Clearly P is trace invariant, so if h is the density operator for a state ρ on $B(H \otimes H)$, then Tr(P(h)) = Tr(h) = 1. Thus

$$P(h) = a1 \otimes 1 + bV, \quad a, b \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{7.6}$$

has trace 1. By Lemma 7.5.1 Tr(V) = d where $d = \dim H$, so that

$$1 = Tr(P(h)) = ad^{2} + bd.$$
(7.7)

We have

$$Tr(P(h)V) = \int Tr(AdU \otimes U(h)V) dU$$
$$= \int Tr(hAdU^* \otimes U^*(V)) dU$$
$$= Tr(hV).$$
(7.8)

Let $e = (h_i \overline{h}_j)$ be a 1-dimensional projection in B(H), and let $h = e \otimes e$, so $\rho = Tr(h \cdot)$ is a product state. Then by Lemma 7.5.1

$$Tr(hV) = Tr\left(e \otimes e \sum_{ij} e_{ij} \otimes e_{ji}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{ij} Tr(ee_{ij})Tr(ee_{ji})$$
$$= \sum_{ij} (h_i \overline{h}_j)(h_j \overline{h}_i)$$
$$= \sum_{ij} |h_i|^2 |h_j|^2 = 1.$$

Π

By (7.6) $P(h)V = aV + b1 \otimes 1$. Thus by (7.7) and (7.8)

$$1 = Tr(P(h)V) = Tr(aV + b1 \otimes 1) = ad + bd^2.$$

Combining this with (7.7) we get

$$a = b = 1/d(d+1).$$

Hence

$$P(h) = \frac{1}{d(d+1)}(1 \otimes 1 + V).$$

which is the Choi matrix for $\frac{1}{d(d+1)}(Tr+t)$.

Let e(U) = AdU(e), and put $\psi = \frac{1}{d(d+1)}(Tr+t)$. Then $C_{\psi} = P(h)$, so if $\phi \in$ P(H) we have

$$Tr(C_{\psi}C_{\phi}) = Tr\left(\left(\int e(U) \otimes e(U) \, dU\right)C_{\phi}\right) = \int Tr(e(U) \otimes e(U)C_{\phi}) \, dU \ge 0,$$

since the integrand is positive by Proposition 4.1.11. Since this holds for all $\phi \in$ P(H), by Proposition 6.2.1 $\psi \in P(H)^{\circ} = SP_1(H)$. Thus Tr + t is super-positive.

The super-positive maps have the property that their compositions with positive maps remain super-positive, hence $Tr + \iota = t \circ (Tr + t)$ is super-positive. Thus if ϕ is a positive map then

$$\phi(1)Tr(a) + \phi(a) = \phi(Tr(a)1) + \phi(a) = \phi \circ (Tr + \iota)(a)$$

is super-positive, completing the proof of the theorem.

If $\|\phi\| < 1$ then, since Tr as a map in P(H) is super-positive, $(\|\phi\| - \phi(1))Tr$ is super-positive, hence we have, since $\|\phi\|Tr + \phi = (\|\phi\| - \phi(1))Tr + \phi(1)Tr + \phi$.

Corollary 7.5.5 If $\phi \in P(H)$ has norm $\|\phi\| \le 1$, then $Tr + \phi$ is super-positive.

If we translate the theorem to states we get the following

 \sim

Corollary 7.5.6 Let ρ be a state on $B(H \otimes H)$ with $d = \dim H$. Let ρ_2 be the state on the second factor defined by $\rho_2(b) = \rho(1 \otimes b)$. Then the state $\frac{1}{d+1}(Tr \otimes \rho_2 + \rho)$ is separable.

Proof Since ρ is a state, $\rho = \tilde{\phi}$ for a completely positive map ϕ , see Theorem 4.2.7. By Theorem 7.5.4 the map $\psi = \phi(1)Tr + \phi$ is super-positive, hence $\widetilde{\psi}$ is separable by Proposition 5.1.4. We have

$$\widetilde{\psi}(a \otimes b) = Tr((\phi(1)Tr(a) + \phi(a))b^{t})$$
$$= Tr(a)Tr(\phi(1)b^{t}) + Tr(\phi(a)b^{t})$$

$$= Tr(a)\rho(1 \otimes b) + \rho(a \otimes b)$$
$$= (Tr \otimes \rho_2 + \rho)(a \otimes b),$$

proving the corollary.

If a map ϕ is not completely positive and $C_{\phi} = C_{\phi}^+ - C_{\phi}^-$, then C_{ϕ}^- is a nonzero positive operator. We next give an estimate for the norm of C_{ϕ}^- .

Corollary 7.5.7 Let $\phi \in P(H)$ with $\|\phi\| \le 1$. Then $C_{\phi} \ge -1 \otimes 1$, hence $\|C_{\phi}^{-}\| \le 1$.

Proof By Corollary 7.5.5 $Tr + \phi$ is super-positive so in particular completely positive. Hence

$$0 \le C_{Tr+\phi} = C_{Tr} + C_{\phi} = 1 + C_{\phi} = 1 + C_{\phi}^{+} - C_{\phi}^{-}$$

Since $C_{\phi}^+ C_{\phi}^- = 0$, it follows that $C_{\phi}^- \le 1$.

It follows that for all $\phi \in P(H)$, $||C_{\phi}^{-}|| \le ||\phi||$.

7.6 Notes

Behind much of the theory in Chap. 7 lies the duality $\phi \rightarrow \tilde{\phi}$. Theorem 7.1.1 is essentially a translation of Theorem 6.1.6 to states and is taken from [82]. Corollary 7.1.2 is in the form given, a celebrated result of Horodecki [25], and is often referred to as one of the main results which show the importance of general positive maps rather than completely positive maps. The identity (7.2) in Remark 7.1.4 can be found in [78] in the case K = H.

PPT-states were introduced by Peres [60]. Theorem 7.2.2 and its corollaries have been observed independently by several authors. For a discussion on PPT-states, see [2]. By work of Woronowicz [98] Corollary 7.2.3 is also true for states on $M_2 \otimes M_3$ and $M_3 \otimes M_2$.

The Choi map described in Sect. 7.3 was introduced by Choi [8]. It has in generalized form been studied by others, see [4, 44] and [55], because it is an indecomposable map in the least possible dimension, 3×3 matrices. It and its extension to higher dimensions as in Remark 7.3.7 have been shown to be both atomic and extremal see [17, 55–57, 88]. Related results on extremal and indecomposable maps were obtained in [39]. The example in 7.3.6 was exhibited in [77]. This was before the introduction of PPT-states by Peres, see also [21]. An example of a PPT-state which was not separable was later exhibited by P. Horodecki [23].

Theorem 7.4.3 is due to Skowronek and the author, [68], but a related result for P(H) is due to Parthasarathy [58]. For Corollary 7.4.6 see the paper by Kuah and Sudarshan [43] and Sarbicki [66]. Theorem 7.4.8 is due to Terhal [89].

7.6 Notes

Section 7.5 is based on work of Werner [97], Horodecki [24] and Chruściński, Pytel [11]. They were mainly interested in optimal maps and whether they were super-positive. Theorem 7.5.4 is different and new, being a result on all possible positive maps, but it can easily be deduced from [24].

Chapter 8 Norms of Positive Maps

As we saw in Chap. 1 the uniform norm of a positive map ϕ from an operator system *A* into *B*(*H*) is defined by

$$\|\phi\| = \sup_{\|a\| \le 1} \|\phi(a)\|,$$

which equals $\|\phi(1)\|$ if *A* is a unital *C**-algebra. However, there are many other norms that could be used. In this chapter we shall consider some of these norms, first for general positive maps in B(B(K), H) and then for the so-called Werner maps of the form Tr - AdV, $V : H \to K$.

8.1 Norms of Maps

Let *K* and *H* be finite dimensional Hilbert spaces, \mathscr{C} a mapping cone in P(H) and $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$ the \mathscr{C} -positive maps in B(B(K), H), and $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ the dual cone of $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$. Let in analogy with Definition 7.4.1

$$S_{\mathscr{C}} = \left\{ \rho \in B(K \otimes H)^* : \rho = Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot), Tr(C_{\psi}) = 1, \psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ} \right\}.$$

Thus $S_{\mathscr{C}}$ is a convex set of linear functionals. Note that if $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$, then as pointed out in the proof of Lemma 7.4.2, every map $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ is completely positive, hence the definitions of $S_{\mathscr{C}}$ given in Definition 7.4.1 and above, coincide. If $a \in B(K \otimes H)$ let

$$||a||_{S_{\mathscr{C}}} = \sup\{|\rho(a)| : \rho \in S_{\mathscr{C}}\},\$$

and if $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$, let

$$\|\phi\|_{\mathscr{C}} = \sup\{\left|Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi})\right| : \rho = Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot) \in S_{\mathscr{C}}\}.$$

Then $\|\phi\|_{\mathscr{C}} = \|C_{\phi}\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}}$.

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8_8, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013 113

 \square

Lemma 8.1.1 $|| ||_{S_{\mathscr{C}}}$ and $|| ||_{\mathscr{C}}$ are norms on $B(K \otimes H)$ and B(B(K), H) respectively.

Proof The norm properties $\|\lambda a\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}} = |\lambda| \|a\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}}$ and $\|\lambda \phi\|_{\mathscr{C}} = |\lambda| \|\phi\|_{\mathscr{C}}$ are clear, and the same is subadditivity, i.e. $\|\phi + \psi\|_{\mathscr{C}} \le \|\phi\|_{\mathscr{C}} + \|\psi\|_{\mathscr{C}}$. Since the composition of a super-positive map with a positive map is super-positive by Lemma 5.1.3, the super-positive maps in B(B(K), H) belong to the dual cone $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^\circ$ by Theorem 6.1.6. Thus $S_{\mathscr{C}}$ contains all states with density operator corresponding to superpositive maps, hence all separable states by Proposition 5.1.4. By Lemma 5.1.7 and its proof, if $\omega(a) = 0$ for all separable states then $\rho(a) = 0$ for all states ρ , hence a = 0. Thus $\|\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}}$ and $\|\|_{\mathscr{C}}$ are norms.

Recall that if $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ is positive then C_{ϕ} is a self-adjoint operator with positive and negative parts C_{ϕ}^+ and C_{ϕ}^- , so $C_{\phi} = C_{\phi}^+ - C_{\phi}^-$, and $C_{\phi}^+ C_{\phi}^- = 0$. Let ϕ^+ and ϕ^- be the completely positive maps such that $C_{\phi^+} = C_{\phi}^+$, $C_{\phi^-} = C_{\phi}^-$. Then we have

Proposition 8.1.2 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H) containing CP(H). Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be \mathscr{C} -positive. Then

$$\|\phi^+\|_{\mathscr{C}} \ge \|\phi^-\|_{\mathscr{C}},$$

or equivalently, $\|C_{\phi}^+\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}} \ge \|C_{\phi}^-\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}}$.

Proof As noted in Lemma 7.4.2, since $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$, $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$ is contained in the cone of completely positive maps of B(K) into B(H). Therefore if $\rho = Tr(C_{\psi} \cdot) \in S_{\mathscr{C}}$, then ρ is a state. Since $\phi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)$,

$$0 \le Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) = Tr(C_{\phi}^+C_{\psi}) - Tr(C_{\phi}^-C_{\psi}).$$

Thus, since $C_{\psi} \ge 0$ by Theorem 4.1.8,

$$\|\phi^+\|_{\mathscr{C}} \ge \sup_{\psi} Tr(C_{\phi}^- C_{\psi}) = \|\phi^-\|_{\mathscr{C}}.$$

Since $\|C_{\phi}^+\|_{S_{\mathscr{C}}} = \|\phi^+\|_{\mathscr{C}}$, and the same for ϕ^- , the proof is complete.

The reader should note the related result, Corollary 7.5.7, that if ϕ is unital then $\|C_{\phi}^{-}\| \leq 1 = \|\phi\|$.

We saw in Theorem 4.1.12 that each positive map in B(B(K), H) can be written in the form

$$\left\|C_{\phi}^{+}\right\|^{-1}\phi=Tr-\phi_{cp},$$

where Tr is the usual trace on B(K) identified with the map $a \to Tr(a)1$, and $\phi_{cp} \in B(B(K), H)$ is completely positive. In the next proposition we just consider $Tr - \phi_{cp}$.

Proposition 8.1.3 Let \mathscr{C} be a mapping cone in P(H) containing CP(H). Let $\phi = Tr - \phi_{cp}$ as above. Then ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive if and only if

$$\|\phi_{cp}\|_{\mathscr{C}} \leq 1.$$

Proof By Lemma 6.1.2 $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K) = P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ\circ}$, so ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi}) \ge 0$ for all $\psi \in P_{\mathscr{C}}(K)^{\circ}$, if and only if $Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi^{t}}) \ge 0$ for all ψ such that $\psi \in S_{\mathscr{C}}$ (recall that $C_{\psi^{t}}$ is the density operator for ψ by Lemma 4.2.3). Now $C_{Tr} = 1$. Thus ϕ is \mathscr{C} -positive if and only if

$$0 \leq \inf_{\widetilde{\psi} \in S_{\mathscr{C}}} Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi^{t}})$$
$$= \inf_{\widetilde{\psi}} Tr((1 - C_{\phi_{cp}})C_{\psi^{t}})$$
$$= 1 - \sup_{\widetilde{\psi}} Tr(C_{\phi_{cp}}C_{\psi^{t}})$$
$$= 1 - \|\phi_{cp}\|_{\mathscr{C}},$$

if and only if $\|\phi_{cp}\| \leq 1$, where we used that $\mathscr{C} \supset CP(H)$ to conclude that $\sup Tr(C_{\phi_{cp}}C_{\psi^{t}}) = \|\phi_{cp}\|_{\mathscr{C}}$.

We next specialize to the cone of *k*-positive maps P_k . Recall from Proposition 6.2.3 that $P_k(H)^\circ = SP_k(H)$, where $SP_k(H)$ is the cone of maps of the form $\sum_i AdV_i$, where each $V_i \in B(H)$ has rank $V_i \leq k$. For a vector $\xi \in K \otimes H$ its Schmidt rank is by Definition 4.1.5 the smallest *m* such that $\sum_{i=1}^{m} \xi_i \otimes \eta_i \in K \otimes H$ represents ξ , i.e. $SR(\xi) = \min m$, with *m* as above. For a self-adjoint operator $a \in B(K \otimes H)$ we define a norm

$$||a||_{S(k)} = \sup\{ |(a\xi,\xi)| : \xi \in K \otimes H, ||\xi|| = 1, SR(\xi) \le k \}.$$

Lemma 8.1.4 Let ϕ be a positive map in B(B(K), H). Then

$$\|\phi\|_{P_k(H)} = \|C_{\phi}\|_{S(k)}$$

Proof Recall from Theorem 5.1.13 that the cone $P_{SP_k}(K)$ of *k*-super-positive maps is generated as a cone by maps $\alpha \circ \beta$ with $\alpha \in SP_k(H)$ and $\beta \in B(B(K), H)$ completely positive. Since $SP_k(H)$ is generated by maps AdV with $V \in B(H)$ with rank $V \leq k$ and β is a sum of maps AdW with $W : H \to K$, it follows that $P_{SP_k}(K)$ is generated by maps $V : H \to K$ with rank $V \leq k$. Recall also from Proposition 4.1.6 that if $[\xi]$ is the 1-dimensional projection on the space $\mathbb{C}\xi$ then $[\xi] = C_{AdV}$ with $V : H \to K$, and rank $V = SR(\xi)$. Using this we have for ϕ in the lemma,

$$\|C_{\phi}\|_{S(k)} = \sup\{ \left| (C_{\phi}\xi, \xi) \right| : \|\xi\| = 1, \ SR(\xi) \le k \}$$
$$= \sup\{ \left| Tr(C_{\phi}[\xi]) \right| : SR(\xi) \le k \}$$

$$= \sup\{|Tr(C_{\phi}C_{AdV})| : Tr(C_{AdV}) = 1, \text{ rank } V \leq k\}$$

$$= \sup\{|Tr(C_{\phi}C_{\psi})| : \psi \in SP_{k}(K), Tr(C_{\psi}) = 1\}$$

$$= \|\phi\|_{P_{k}(H)}.$$

From this result we get immediately from Proposition 8.1.3

Proposition 8.1.5 Let $\phi \in B(B(K), H)$ be of the form $\phi = Tr - \phi_{cp}$ with ϕ_{cp} completely positive. Then ϕ is k-positive if and only if $\|C_{\phi_{cp}}\|_{S(k)} \leq 1$.

In particular, if $\phi_{cp} = AdV$ we get

Corollary 8.1.6 Let $V : H \to K$ be a linear operator. Then the map $\phi = Tr - AdV$ is *k*-positive if and only if

$$\|C_{AdV}\|_{S(k)} \le 1.$$

It turns out that the norms $||AdV||_{P_k(H)}$ and $||C_{AdV}||_{S(k)}$ are closely related to the Ky Fan norms defined as follows.

Definition 8.1.7 Let $a \in B(H)^+$, and dim H = d. For $k \in \{1, ..., d\}$ define the *Ky Fan norm* of *a* to be

$$||a||_{(k)} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} s_i,$$

where $s_1 \ge s_2 \ge \cdots \ge s_d$ are the eigenvalues of *a* in decreasing order.

A useful characterization of the Ky Fan norm of a positive operator is given by the *Ky Fan maximum principle*.

Lemma 8.1.8 *Let* $a \in B(H)^+$ *. Then*

$$\|a\|_{(k)} = \max\left\{\sum_{i=1}^{k} (a\xi_i, \xi_i) : (\xi_i)_{i=1}^{k} \text{ is an orthonormal set in } H\right\}$$
$$= \max\left\{Tr(ae) : e \text{ } k \text{-dimensional projection in } B(H)\right\}.$$

Proof If *e* is a *k*-dimensional projection, then $e = \sum_{i=1}^{k} [\xi_i]$ with $\{\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k\}$ an orthonormal set of vectors in e(H). Since

$$Tr(ae) = \sum Tr(a[\xi_i]) = \sum (a\xi_i, \xi_i),$$

the last equality in the lemma is obvious.

Let $s_1 \ge s_2 \ge \cdots \ge s_d$ be the eigenvalues of *a* in decreasing order. Let η_i be an eigenvector for the eigenvalue s_i . Then $(a\eta_i, \eta_i) = s_i$, so that

$$||a||_{(k)} = \sum_{1}^{k} (a\eta_i, \eta_i) \le \max \sum_{1}^{k} (a\xi_i, \xi_i) = Tr(ea),$$

with *e* and (ξ_i) as above. Thus $||a||_{(k)} \leq \max_e Tr(ea)$.

We must next show the opposite inequality. By a small perturbation of the s_i we may assume they are distinct. Let $\{\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_k\}$ be an orthonormal set in H, and arrange the indices so that

$$(a\xi_1,\xi_1) \ge (a\xi_2,\xi_2) \ge \cdots \ge (a\xi_k,\xi_k).$$

We use induction to conclude that $(a\xi_i, \xi_i) \le s_i$. Since $s_1 = ||a||$, clearly $(a\xi_1, \xi_1) \le s_1$. Assume we have shown $(a\xi_i, \xi_i) \le s_i$ for i = 1, ..., m - 1. There are two cases.

Case (1). $(a\xi_{m-1}, \xi_{m-1}) \ge s_m$.

In this case $(a\xi_m, \xi_m) \le s_m$, because the dimension of the eigenspace corresponding to the eigenvalues greater than s_m is m - 1, using that the s_i are assumed to be distinct.

Case (2). $(a\xi_{m-1}, \xi_{m-1}) < s_m$.

Then $(a\xi_m, \xi_m) < s_m$, so in either case $(a\xi_m, \xi_m) \le s_m$, completing the induction argument. It follows that $\sum_{i=1}^{k} (a_i\xi_i, \xi_i) \le \sum_{i=1}^{k} s_i = ||a||_{(k)}$, completing the proof. \Box

In order to relate the norms for AdV discussed above to the Ky Fan norm we have

Theorem 8.1.9 Let $V \in B(H)$. Then

$$\|VV^*\|_{(k)} = \sup\{Tr(C_{AdV}C_{AdW}) : \operatorname{rank} W \le k, Tr(C_{AdW}) = 1\}$$

= $\|AdV\|_{P_k(H)}$.

Proof The last equality follows from the definition of $||AdV||_{P_k(H)}$ and the fact that $P_k(H)^\circ = SP_k(H)$, see Proposition 6.2.3.

We first show that $||VV^*||_{(k)}$ majorizes the right side of the equality in the theorem. Let $W \in B(H)$ have rank $W \le k$ and $Tr(C_{AdW}) = 1$. Then the range projection e of W has dimension $\le k$, and W = eW. Let ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_d be an orthonormal basis for H, and e_{ij} matrix units such that $e_{ij}\xi_k = \delta_{jk}\xi_i$. Suppose $V\xi_k = \sum_i v_{ik}\xi_i$. Then by Proposition 4.1.4

$$C_{AdV} = \sum v_{jl} \overline{v_{ik}} e_{ij} \otimes e_{kl}$$

is a scalar multiple of the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\xi$ with $\xi = \sum \overline{v_{ik}}\xi_i \otimes \xi_k$. Similarly by our assumption on W, C_{AdW} is the projection onto $\mathbb{C}\eta$ with $\eta = \overline{\sum w_{ik}}\xi_i \otimes \xi_k$. We thus have

8 Norms of Positive Maps

$$Tr(C_{AdV}C_{AdW}) = Tr\left(\sum v_{jl}\overline{v_{ik}}e_{ij} \otimes e_{kl}\sum w_{sl}\overline{w_{uv}}e_{us} \otimes e_{vl}\right)$$
$$= \sum Tr(\delta_{ju}\delta_{lv}v_{jl}\overline{v_{ik}}w_{sl}\overline{w_{jl}}e_{is} \otimes e_{kl})$$
$$= \sum Tr\left(\sum v_{jl}\overline{v_{ik}}w_{ik}\overline{w_{jl}}e_{ii} \otimes e_{kk}\right)$$
$$= \left(\sum_{jl}v_{jl}\overline{w_{jl}}\right)\left(\sum \overline{v_{ik}}w_{ik}\right)$$
$$= Tr(VW^{*})Tr(V^{*}W)$$
$$= |Tr(VW^{*})|^{2}.$$
(8.1)

Now C_{AdW} is a 1-dimensional projection, so applying the above to V = W, we get

$$1 = Tr(C_{AdW}) = Tr(C_{AdW}^2) = Tr(WW^*).$$
(8.2)

Since W = eW we thus have from the above and Lemma 8.1.8,

$$Tr(C_{AdV}C_{AdW}) = |Tr(VW^*e)|^2$$

$$\leq Tr(eV(eV)^*)Tr(WW^*)$$

$$= Tr(eVV^*)$$

$$\leq \sup_{\text{rank} f \leq k} Tr(fVV^*)$$

$$= ||VV^*||_{(k)}^2.$$
(8.3)

It remains to show the opposite inequality. Since *H* is finite dimensional, we can by compactness find a projection *e* with rank $e \le k$ such that by Lemma 8.1.8

$$\|VV^*\|_{(k)} = \sup_{\operatorname{rank} f \leq k} Tr(fVV^*) = Tr(eVV^*).$$

Let $W = \|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{-1/2} eV$. Then rank $W \le k$, and

$$\|W\|_{HS}^{2} = \|VV^{*}\|_{(k)}^{-1} Tr((eV)(eV)^{*}) = \|VV^{*}\|_{(k)}^{-1} Tr(eVV^{*}) = 1.$$

In particular, $1 = \|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{-1/2} Tr(WV^*) = \|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{-1/2} Tr(VW^*)$. Since by (8.2), $Tr(C_{AdW}) = 1$, we thus have by (8.1)

$$\|VV^*\|_{(k)} = \|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{1/2} Tr(VW^*) \cdot 1$$

= $\|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{1/2} Tr(VW^*)\|VV^*\|_{(k)}^{-1/2} Tr(WV^*)$
= $|Tr(VW^*)|^2$
= $Tr(C_{AdV}C_{AdW}).$

Thus the sup on the right side of the equation in the theorem is attained and equal to $\|VV^*\|_{(k)}$, and we have the asserted equality.

Corollary 8.1.10 Let $V \in B(H)$. Then the map Tr - AdV is k-positive if and only if

$$\left\|VV^*\right\|_{(k)} \le 1.$$

Proof By Theorem 8.1.9 $||VV^*||_{(k)} = ||AdV||_{P_k(H)}$, which equals $||C_{AdV}||_{S(k)}$ by Lemma 8.1.4, so the corollary follows from Corollary 8.1.6.

As a consequence it is easy to exhibit maps of the form Tr - AdV which are k-positive but not (k + 1)-positive. Just take V with $||VV^*||_{(k)} = 1 < ||VV^*||_{(k+1)}$. For more results along these lines see [5, 85, 94].

8.2 Notes

The treatment in the last chapter follows closely the paper [68]. For Proposition 8.1.3 see [81]. However, for *k*-positive maps of the form Tr - AdV the results had been obtained earlier by Chruscinski and Kossakowski [10]. Corollary 8.1.6 is due to Johnston and Kribs [32], where one also can find a proof of the Ky Fan maximum principle, Lemma 8.1.8. For further study of norms and the relation to operator spaces see [33].

Appendix

In this appendix we collect a few basic results which are needed in the text. They are on topologies on B(H), tensor products, and an extension theorem for linear functionals which are positive on a cone.

A.1 Topologies on B(H)

In addition to the norm topology we shall come across two topologies on B(H), the strong and weak topologies. Their definitions are as follows. The *strong topology* has neighborhood basis around $a \in B(H)$ given by the sets

$$\left\{b \in B(H) : \|b\xi_i - a\xi_i\| < \varepsilon, \ \xi_1, \dots, \xi_n \in H\right\}.$$

The *weak topology* has neighborhood basis around $a \in B(H)$ given by the sets

$$\left\{b \in B(H) : \left| (b\xi_i, \eta_i) - (a\xi_i, \eta_i) \right| < \varepsilon, \ \xi_1, \dots, \xi_n, \eta_1, \dots, \eta_n \in H \right\}$$

We refer the reader to Chap. 5 in [38] for the properties of the strong and weak topologies. We now list with references to [38] in brackets some of the main results we shall need.

A1.1 (5.1.2) The weak and strong closures of a convex subset of B(H) coincide. If particular, a unital C^* -algebra is a von Neumann algebra if it is weakly closed, or equivalently if it is strongly closed.

A1.2 (5.1.3) The unit ball in B(H) is weakly compact.

A1.3 (5.1.4) If (a_{α}) is a monotone increasing net of self-adjoint operators in B(H) with $a_{\alpha} \leq k1$ for some k > 0 for all α , then (a_{α}) is strongly convergent to a self-adjoint operator a, and a is the least upper bound for (a_{α}) .

For us the last result is very important for going from the finite dimensional case to infinite dimensions. Many properties of positive maps can be extended to infinite dimensions from the finite dimensional case, by considering $e_{\alpha}\phi e_{\alpha}$ for $\phi: B(K) \rightarrow$ B(H), or similarly by considering $\phi(e_{\alpha} \cdot e_{\alpha})$ if $\phi: B(K) \to B(H)$ where (e_{α}) is an increasing net of finite dimensional projections converging strongly to 1.

A positive map $\phi: A \to B(H)$ with A a von Neumann algebra is said to be *normal* if for each net (a_{α}) in A as in Sect. A.1 we have $\phi(a_{\alpha}) \rightarrow \phi(a)$ strongly. In particular if $\omega: A \to \mathbb{C}$ is a state we have the following theorem.

A1.4 (7.1.2) The following conditions on a state ω on a von Neumann algebra A acting on a Hilbert space H are equivalent:

- (i) $\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \omega_{\xi_i}$ with $\sum_i ||\xi_i||^2 = 1$ an orthogonal family of vectors in *H*. (ii) $\omega = \sum_{1}^{\infty} \omega_{\eta_i}$ with $\eta_i \in H$, $\sum_i ||\eta_i||^2 = 1$.
- (iii) ω is weakly continuous on the unit ball of A.
- (iv) ω is strongly continuous on the unit ball of A.
- (v) ω is normal.

It follows that a positive map $\phi: A \to B(K)$ is normal if and only if ϕ is weakly continuous on the unit ball of A. Concerning the norm topology we have the following result on the convex hull of the unitary operators in a C*-algebra—the Russo-Dye theorem, see [65] or (10.5.4).

Let A be a unital C^* -algebra. Then the convex hull of the unitary operators A1.5 in A is norm dense in the unit ball of A.

Let A be an operator system and as before, B(A, H) the bounded linear maps of A into B(H). Then the BW-topology (BW stands for bounded-weak) on B(A, H)is the topology, where a bounded net (ϕ_{α}) in B(A, H) converges to $\phi \in B(A, H)$ if $\phi_{\alpha}(a) \rightarrow \phi(a)$ weakly for each $a \in A$.

Theorem A.1.1 With the above notation let A_1 denote (resp. $B(H)_1$) the unit ball of A (resp. B(H)). Let

$$S = \{ \phi \in B(A, H) : \|\phi\| \le 1 \}.$$

Then S is compact in the BW-topology.

Proof Let $X = \prod_{a \in A_1} B(H)_{1a}$, where $B(H)_{1a} = B(H)_1$, be the product space of $B(H)_1$ indexed by A_1 . By the Tychonoff theorem X is compact in the product topology when $B(H)_1$ is given the weak topology, so is weakly compact. Consider the map $S \to X$ defined by

$$\phi \to \phi' = (\phi(a)) \in X,$$

where $\phi(a)$ is the *a*th coordinate of ϕ' . By definition of the BW-topology and the product topology the map $\phi \to \phi'$ is a homeomorphism of S onto its image $S' \subset X$. To show S is compact it follows from the compactness of X that it remains to show S' is closed in X. So let ψ' be a limit point of S' in X. We must show there exists $\phi \in S$ such that $\phi' = \psi'$. Let ψ be the map of A_1 into X such that $\psi(a) = \psi'(a)$

for $a \in A_1$. Since A_1 spans A, ψ can be extended linearly to a map $\phi : A \to B(H)$. To show $\phi \in B(A, H)$ we must show that ϕ is single valued and linear, hence to show that if $a_i \in A_1, \alpha_i \in \mathbb{C}, i = 1, ..., n$, and $\sum_i \alpha_i a_i = 0$, then $\sum \alpha_i \phi(a_i) = 0$. For this let ρ be a normal state on B(H) and $\varepsilon > 0$. Let $c = 1 + \sum_i |\alpha_i|$. Since ψ' was a limit point of S', and $\psi'(a) = \phi(a)$ for $a \in A_1$, there exists $\tau \in S$ such that $|\rho(\tau(a_i) - \phi(a_i))| < \varepsilon/c$ for all i. Then since $\sum \alpha_i a_i = 0$, and τ is linear,

$$\left|\rho\left(\sum_{i}\alpha_{i}\phi(a_{i})\right)\right| = \left|\rho\left(\sum_{i}\alpha_{i}\phi(a_{i})\right) - \sum_{i}\alpha_{i}\tau(a_{i})\right| < \varepsilon.$$

Since the normal states separate B(H), and ε is arbitrary $\sum_i \alpha_i \phi(a_i) = 0$. Thus $\phi \in S$, and $\psi' = \phi' \in S'$, so S' is closed, proving the theorem.

This proof is based on a more general result in [37]. Note that with $H = \mathbb{C}$, the above theorem reduces to the well known result that the state space of A is w^* -compact.

A.2 Tensor Products

Let *K* and *H* be Hilbert spaces, and let $(\xi_i)_{i \in I}$, *I* an index set, be an orthonormal basis for *K*. Let $H_i = H$ for $i \in I$, and let $\widetilde{H} = \bigoplus_{i \in I} H_i$ be the Hilbert space direct sum of the H_i . Let $\xi = \sum_{i \in I} \alpha_i \xi_i \in K$ and $\eta \in H$. Define the *product vector* $\xi \otimes \eta \in \widetilde{H}$ by

$$\xi \otimes \eta = (\alpha_i \eta)_{i \in I}.$$

Then

$$\|\xi \otimes \eta\|^2 = \sum |\alpha_i|^2 \|\eta\|^2 = \|\xi\|^2 \|\eta\|^2,$$

so $\xi \otimes \eta$ is well defined. We define the algebraic tensor product of *K* and *H* as the linear span of all product vectors as above, and denote by $K \otimes H$ the completion in \tilde{H} . We define an inner product on product vectors by

$$(\xi \otimes \eta, \psi \otimes \mu) = (\xi, \psi)(\eta, \mu), \quad \xi, \psi \in K, \ \eta, \mu \in H,$$

and extend it bilinearly to $K \otimes H$. Thus $K \otimes H$ is a Hilbert space. If $a \in B(K), b \in B(H)$ we let $a \otimes b$ be the operator on $K \otimes H$ defined by

$$a \otimes b(\xi \otimes \eta) = a\xi \otimes b\eta.$$

We let products and adjoints be given by coordinate action, i.e.

$$(a \otimes b)(c \otimes d) = ac \otimes bd, \quad a, c \in B(K), \ b, d \in B(H),$$
$$(a \otimes b)^* = a^* \otimes b^*.$$

It follows that the linear span of all operators $a \otimes b$ is a *-subalgebra of $B(K \otimes H)$. Its weak closure is the von Neumann algebra denoted by $B(K) \otimes B(H)$.

If $(\eta_j)_{j \in J}$ is an orthonormal basis for H, then $(\xi_i \otimes \eta_j)_{(i,j) \in I \times J}$ is an orthonormal basis for $K \otimes H$. One can then use this to show $B(K) \otimes B(H) = B(K \otimes H)$.

Assume now *K* is finite dimensional; let $n = \dim K$. Then $B(K) \cong M_n$ —the complex $n \times n$ -matrices. Let (e_{ij}) be a complete set of matrix units for B(K), $1 \le i$, $j \le n$, so $\sum e_{ii} = 1$, $e_{ij}e_{kl} = \delta_{jk}e_{il}$. Let $a = (a_{ij}) = \sum a_{ij}e_{ij} \in B(K)$. Then

$$a\otimes b=\sum a_{ij}e_{ij}\otimes b.$$

If $e_i = (0, ..., 0, 1, 0, ..., 0)$ is the unit vector with 1 in the *i*th coordinate, then $(e_1, ..., e_n)$ is an orthonormal basis for K with $e_{ij}e_k = \delta_{jk}e_i$. Thus if $\xi = \sum \xi_i e_i \in K$ and $\eta \in H$ we get

$$a \otimes b(\xi \otimes \eta) = \left((a_{ij}) \sum_{k=1}^{n} \xi_k e_k \right) \otimes b\eta$$
$$= \sum a_{ij} \xi_j e_j \otimes b\eta$$
$$= \left(\sum a_{1j} \xi_j e_1 \otimes b\eta, \dots, \sum a_{nj} \xi_j e_n \otimes \eta \right).$$

This can be written as matrices, where we now write the vectors as column vectors. We then get

$$a \otimes b(\xi \otimes \eta) = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11}b & \cdots & a_{1n}b \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{n1}b & \cdots & a_{nn}b \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \xi_1 b\eta \\ \vdots \\ \xi_n b\eta \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence $a \otimes b$ is the $n \times n$ block matrix $(a_{ij}b)$ over B(K), so that

$$B(K) \otimes B(H) = M_n(B(H)).$$

Since the flip $a \otimes b \to b \otimes a$ defines an isomorphism of $B(K) \otimes B(H)$ onto $B(H) \otimes B(K)$ we can, if dim $H = m < \infty$, also consider $a \otimes b$ with $b = (b_{kl}) \in B(H)$ as the block matrix $(ab_{kl}) \in M_m(B(K))$. This will be done on some occasions.

A.3 An Extension Theorem

Results of the Hahn-Banach type, where one extends a linear functional or map from a subspace to a larger space, are of crucial importance in functional analysis. We shall need the following result of Krein, see [53, Ch. 1, §3, Theorem 2].

Theorem A.3.1 Suppose K is a convex cone in a real locally convex space X. Assume K contains interior points, and let M be a subspace of X which contains at least one interior point of K. Then every linear functional f(x) on M which is positive on $K \cap M$ can be extended to a linear functional F(x) on X which is positive on K.

References

- 1. W. Arveson, Subalgebras of C*-algebras. Acta Math. 123, 141–224 (1969)
- I. Bengtsson, K. Życzkowski, *Geometry of Quantum States* (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006), p. 466. An introduction to quantum entanglement
- 3. M. Broise, Letter to the author (1967)
- S.J. Cho, S.-H. Kye, S.G. Lee, Generalized Choi maps in three-dimensional matrix algebra. Linear Algebra Appl. 171, 213–224 (1992)
- 5. M.D. Choi, Positive linear maps of C^* -algebras. Can. J. Math. 24, 520–529 (1972)
- M.-D. Choi, A Schwarz inequality for positive linear maps on C*-algebras. Ill. J. Math. 18, 565–574 (1974)
- M.-D. Choi, Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices. Linear Algebra Appl. 10, 285–290 (1975)
- M.-D. Choi, Some assorted inequalities for positive linear maps on C*-algebras. J. Oper. Theory 4(2), 271–285 (1980)
- M.-D. Choi, D. Hadwin, E. Nordgren, H. Radjavi, P. Rosenthal, On positive linear maps preserving invertibility. J. Funct. Anal. 59(3), 462–469 (1984)
- D. Chruściński, A. Kossakowski, Spectral conditions for positive maps. Commun. Math. Phys. 290(3), 1051–1064 (2009)
- 11. D. Chruściński, J. Pytel, Optimal entanglement witnesses from generalized reduction and Robertson maps. J. Phys. A **44**(16), 165304 (2011), 15 pp.
- D. Chruscinski, J. Pytel, G. Sarbicki, Constructing optimal entanglement witnesses. Phys. Rev. A 80, 062314 (2009)
- 13. D. Chruscinski, G. Sarbicki, Exposed positive maps: Sufficient condition. Phys. Rev. Lett. (to appear)
- E.G. Effros, Z.-J. Ruan, *Operator Spaces*. London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, vol. 23 (The Clarendon Press Oxford, University Press, New York, 2000), p. 363
- E.G. Effros, E. Størmer, Positive projections and Jordan structure in operator algebras. Math. Scand. 45(1), 127–138 (1979)
- M.-H. Eom, S.-H. Kye, Duality for positive linear maps in matrix algebras. Math. Scand. 86(1), 130–142 (2000)
- K.-C. Ha, Atomic positive linear maps in matrix algebras. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 34(6), 591–599 (1998)
- 18. K.-C. Ha, Positive projections onto spin factors. Linear Algebra Appl. 348, 105–113 (2002)
- K.-C. Ha, S.-H. Kye, Entanglement witnesses arising from exposed positive linear maps. Open Syst. Inf. Dyn. 19, 323–337 (2011). arXiv:1108.0130v2
- K.-C. Ha, S.-H. Kye, The structural physical approximations and optimal entanglement witnesses. J. Math. Phys. 53, 102204 (2012). arXiv:1205.3356v1

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

- K.-C. Ha, S.-H. Kye, Y.S. Park, Entangled states with positive partial transposes arising from indecomposable positive linear maps. Phys. Lett. A 313(3), 163–174 (2003)
- 22. H. Hanche-Olsen, E. Størmer, *Jordan Operator Algebras*. Monographs and Studies in Mathematics, vol. 21 (Pitman (Advanced Publishing Program), Boston, 1984), p. 183
- P. Horodecki, Separability criterion and inseparable mixed states with positive partial transposition. Phys. Lett. A 232, 333 (1997)
- M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, Reduction criterion of separability and limits for a class of distillation protocols. Phys. Rev. A 59, 4206 (1999)
- M. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, R. Horodecki, Separability of mixed states: Necessary and sufficient conditions. Phys. Lett. A 223(1–2), 1–8 (1996)
- M. Horodecki, P.W. Shor, M.B. Ruskai, Entanglement breaking channels. Rev. Math. Phys. 15(6), 629–641 (2003)
- 27. T. Itoh, Positive maps and cones in C*-algebras. Math. Jpn. 31, 607-616 (1986)
- 28. T. Itoh, *Kⁿ*-positive maps in *C**-algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. **101**(1), 76–80 (1987)
- N. Jacobson, C.E. Rickart, Homomorphisms of Jordan rings of self-adjoint elements. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 72, 310–322 (1952)
- 30. A. Jamiołkowski, Linear transformations which preserve trace and positive semidefiniteness of operators. Rep. Math. Phys. **3**(4), 275–278 (1972)
- N. Johnston, Characterizing operations preserving separability measures via linear preserver problems. Linear Multilinear Algebra 59, 1171–1187 (2011)
- N. Johnston, D.W. Kribs, A family of norms with applications in quantum information theory. J. Math. Phys. 51(8), 082202 (2010), 16 pp.
- N. Johnston, D.W. Kribs, A family of norms with applications in quantum information theory II. Quantum Inf. Comput. 11(1–2), 104–123 (2011)
- N. Johnston, E. Størmer, Mapping cones of operator systems. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 44, 738–748 (2012)
- 35. R.V. Kadison, Isometries of operator algebras. Ann. of Math. (2) 54, 325–338 (1951)
- R.V. Kadison, A generalized Schwarz inequality and algebraic invariants for operator algebras. Ann. of Math. (2) 56, 494–503 (1952)
- 37. R.V. Kadison, The trace in finite operator algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 12, 973–977 (1961)
- R.V. Kadison, J.R. Ringrose, Fundamentals of the Theory of Operator Algebras, Vols. 1 and 2 (Academic Press, San Diego, 1986)
- H.-J. Kim, S.-H. Kye, Indecomposable positive linear maps in matrix algebras. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 26, 575–581 (1994)
- 40. I. Kovács, J. Szűcs, Ergodic type theorems in von Neumann algebras. Acta Sci. Math. (Szeged) 27, 233–246 (1966)
- 41. K. Kraus, General state changes in quantum theory. Ann. Phys. 64, 311–335 (1971)
- P. Kruszyński, S.L. Woronowicz, Partial transposition and nonextendible maps. Lett. Math. Phys. 3(4), 319–324 (1979)
- A. Kuah, E.C.G. Sudarshan, Schmidt states and positivity of linear maps (2010). arXiv:quant-ph/0506095v1
- S.-H. Kye, A class of atomic positive linear maps in 3-dimensional matrix algebras, in *Elementary Operators and Applications* (Blaubeuren, 1991) (World Sci. Publ., River Edge, 1992), pp. 205–209
- S.-H. Kye, Facial structures for various notions of positivity and applications to the theory of entanglement (2012). arXiv:1202.4255v1
- L.E. Labuschagne, Pure state transformations induced by linear operators. Expo. Math. 23(4), 319–348 (2005)
- L.E. Labuschagne, W.A. Majewski, M. Marciniak, On k-decomposability of positive maps. Expo. Math. 24(2), 103–125 (2006)
- 48. L.E. Labuschagne, V. Mascioni, Linear maps between *C**-algebras whose adjoints preserve extreme points of the dual ball. Adv. Math. **138**(1), 15–45 (1998)
- G. Lindblad, On the generators of quantum dynamical semigroups. Commun. Math. Phys. 48(2), 119–130 (1976)

- M. Marciniak, On extremal positive maps acting between type I factors, in *Noncommutative Harmonic Analysis with Applications to Probability II*. Banach Center Publ., vol. 89 (Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 2010), pp. 201–221
- L. Molnár, Selected Preserver Problems on Algebraic Structures of Linear Operators and on Function Spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1895 (Springer, Berlin, 2007), p. 232
- M.A. Naimark, On a representation of additive operator set functions. C. R. (Dokl.) Acad. Sci. URSS 41, 359–361 (1952)
- 53. M.A. Naimark, *Normed Rings*, translated from the first Russian edition by Leo F. Boron (P. Noordhoff N. V., Groningen, 1959), p. 560
- M. Nakamura, M. Takesaki, H. Umegaki, A remark on the expectations of operator algebras. Kodai Math. Semin. Rep. 12, 82–90 (1960)
- H. Osaka, Indecomposable positive maps in low-dimensional matrix algebras. Linear Algebra Appl. 153, 73–83 (1991)
- H. Osaka, A class of extremal positive maps in 3 × 3 matrix algebras. Publ. RIMS, Kyoto Univ. 747–756 (1992)
- H. Osaka, A series of absolutely indecomposable positive maps in matrix algebras. Linear Algebra Appl. 186, 45–53 (1993)
- K.R. Parthasarathy, On the maximal dimension of a completely entangled subspace for finite level quantum systems. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 114(4), 365–374 (2004)
- 59. V. Paulsen, *Completely Bounded Maps and Operator Algebras*. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 78 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002), p. 300
- 60. A. Peres, Separability condition for density matrices. Phys. Rev. Lett. 77, 1413 (1996)
- 61. D. Petz, *Quantum Information Theory and Quantum Statistics*. Theoretical and Mathematical Physics (Springer, Berlin, 2008), p. 214
- A.G. Robertson, Automorphisms of spin factors and the decomposition of positive maps. Q. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 34(133), 87–96 (1983)
- A.G. Robertson, Positive projections on C*-algebras and an extremal positive map. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 32(1), 133–140 (1985)
- A.G. Robertson, R.R. Smith, Liftings and extensions of maps on C*-algebras. J. Oper. Theory 21, 117–131 (1989)
- B. Russo, H.A. Dye, A note on unitary operators in C*-algebras. Duke Math. J. 33, 413–416 (1966)
- G. Sarbicki, Spectral properties of entanglement witnesses. J. Phys. A 41(37), 375303 (2008), 15 pp.
- Ł. Skowronek, Cones with a mapping cone symmetry in the finite-dimensional case. Linear Algebra Appl. 435(2), 361–370 (2011)
- 68. Ł. Skowronek, E. Størmer, Choi matrices, norms and entanglement associated with positive maps on matrix algebras. J. Funct. Anal. **262**, 639–647 (2012)
- Ł. Skowronek, E. Størmer, K. Życzkowski, Cones of positive maps and their duality relations. J. Math. Phys. 50(6), 062106 (2009), 18 pp.
- 70. W.F. Stinespring, Positive functions on C^* -algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 6, 211–216 (1955)
- 71. E. Størmer, Positive linear maps of operator algebras. Acta Math. 110, 233–278 (1963)
- 72. E. Størmer, On the Jordan structure of C*-algebras. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. **120**, 438–447 (1965)
- E. Størmer, On anti-automorphisms of von Neumann algebras. Pac. J. Math. 21, 349–370 (1967)
- E. Størmer, Asymptotically abelian systems, in *Cargèse Lectures in Physics, Vol. 4* (Gordon and Breach, New York, 1970), pp. 195–213
- E. Størmer, Positive linear maps of C*-algebras, in Foundations of Quantum Mechanics and Ordered Linear Spaces (Advanced Study Inst., Marburg, 1973). Lecture Notes in Phys., vol. 29 (Springer, Berlin, 1974), pp. 85–106
- E. Størmer, Decomposition of positive projections on C*-algebras. Math. Ann. 247(1), 21– 41 (1980)

- E. Størmer, Decomposable positive maps on C*-algebras. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 86(3), 402–404 (1982)
- 78. E. Størmer, Extension of positive maps into B(H). J. Funct. Anal. **66**(2), 235–254 (1986)
- 79. E. Størmer, Separable states and positive maps. J. Funct. Anal. 254(8), 2303–2312 (2008)
- 80. E. Størmer, Duality of cones of positive maps. Münster J. Math. 2, 299-309 (2009)
- E. Størmer, A completely positive map associated with a positive map. Pac. J. Math. 252, 487–492 (2011)
- 82. E. Størmer, Mapping cones of positive maps. Math. Scand. 108(2), 223–232 (2011)
- 83. E. Størmer, Separable states and the SPA of a positive map (2012). arXiv:1206.5630v1
- E. Størmer, Tensor products of positive maps of matrix algebras. Math. Scand. 111, 5–11 (2012)
- T. Takasaki, J. Tomiyama, On the geometry of positive maps in matrix algebras. Math. Z. 184(1), 101–108 (1983)
- M. Takesaki, Conditional expectations in von Neumann algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 9, 306–321 (1972)
- M. Takesaki, *Theory of Operator Algebras. II.* Encyclopaedia of Mathematical Sciences, vol. 125 (Springer, Berlin, 2003), p. 518. Operator Algebras and Non-commutative Geometry, 6
- K. Tanahashi, J. Tomiyama, Indecomposable positive maps in matrix algebras. Can. Math. Bull. 31(3), 308–317 (1988)
- B.M. Terhal, A family of indecomposable positive linear maps based on entangled quantum states. Linear Algebra Appl. 323(1–3), 61–73 (2001)
- W. Timmermann, On positive maps in algebras of unbounded operators. Math. Nachr. 154, 231–241 (1991)
- R. Timoney, A note on positivity of elementary operators. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 23, 229– 234 (2000)
- 92. J. Tomiyama, On the projection of norm one in *W**-algebras. Proc. Jpn. Acad. **33**, 608–612 (1957)
- J. Tomiyama, On the difference of *n*-positivity and complete positivity in C*-algebras. J. Funct. Anal. 49(1), 1–9 (1982)
- J. Tomiyama, On the geometry of positive maps in matrix algebras. II. Linear Algebra Appl. 69, 169–177 (1985)
- S.-K. Tsui, Constructions of Extreme n-positive Linear Maps, in Selfadjoint and Nonselfadjoint Operator Algebras and Operator Theory (Fort Worth, TX, 1990). Contemp. Math., vol. 120 (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, 1991), pp. 175–181
- S.-K. Tsui, Extreme n-positive linear maps. Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2) 36(1), 123–131 (1993)
- R.F. Werner, Quantum states with Einstein-Podolsky-Rosen correlations admitting a hiddenvariable model. Phys. Rev. A 40, 4277–4281 (1989)
- S.L. Woronowicz, Positive maps of low dimensional matrix algebras. Rep. Math. Phys. 10(2), 165–183 (1976)
- 99. S.L. Woronowicz, Nonextendible maps. Commun. Math. Phys. 51, 243-282 (1976)

List of Notations

 $(\xi, \eta), 1$ [ξ], 30 $\iota_k, 2$ 8,67 $\mathcal{T}(H), 10$ $\omega_{\xi}, 34$ $\Phi \supset \phi, 40$ $\phi^*, 10$ $\pi(A)', 44$ $\xi \otimes \eta$, 123 $a \otimes b$, 123 $A\widehat{\otimes}\mathscr{T}(H), 57$ $A_{sa}, 2$ AdV, 2B(A, H), 1 $B(A, H)^{+}, 1$

B(H), 1*C*°, 75 $C_{\phi}, 49$ CP(H), 68 $K^{\mathscr{C}}, 78$ $M_k(A), M_k(A)^+, 2$ $M_n = M_n(\mathbb{C}), 1$ $P(A, \mathscr{C}), 65$ P(H), 53 $P_{\mathscr{C}}(K), 77$ $P_k(H), 68$ S~, 113 $SP_k(H), 68$ SRξ, 51 t = transpose, 1Tr, 1

Index

A

Adjoint map, 10 *-anti-homomorphism, 2 Arveson extension theorem, 71 Atomic map, 7

B

BW-topology, 63

С

C-entangled state, 102
Positive map, 67
Choi map, 98
Choi matrix, 49
Co-k-positive map, 80
Co-k-super-positive map, 80
Completely positive, 2
Conditional expectation, 17
Conjugation, 83
Copositive map, 7
Cyclic projection, 18

D

Decomposable map, 7 Definite set, 14 Density matrix, 2 Dual cone, 75 Dual functional, 57

Е

Elementary extension, 40 Entangled state, 102 Entanglement breaking map, 64 Entanglement witness, 55 Exposed map, 47 Extension of a map, 40 Extremal map, 27 **F** Faithful map, 10

I

Indecomposable map, 7 Irreducible map, 41 Irreversible JC-algebra, 23

J

Jamiolkowski isomorphism, 49 JC-algebra, 13 Jordan homomorphism, 8 Jordan product, 13 JW-algebra, 20

K

k-block positive, 55 *k*-positive map, 2 *k*-super-positive map, 64 Kraus decomposition, 53 Ky Fan maximum principle, 116 Ky Fan norm, 116

M

Mapping cone, 63 Maximally entangled state, 52 Multiplicative domain, 14

N

Nonextendible map, 40 Normal map, 10 Null space of a map, 10

0

Operator system, 1 Order-isomorphism, 13

E. Størmer, *Positive Linear Maps of Operator Algebras*, Springer Monographs in Mathematics, DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-34369-8, © Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2013

Р

Positive map, 1 PPT-state, 97 Product state, 2 Projection map, 17 Projective norm, 57 Projective tensor product, 57 Pure map, 46

R

Radon-Nikodym, 44 Reversible JC-algebra, 16 Russo-Dye theorem, 122

\mathbf{S}

Schmidt rank, 51 Schur product, 3 Schwarz map, 14 Self-adjoint linear map, 1 Separable state, 70 SPA-physical structural approximation, 105 Spin factor, 23 Spin system, 23 State, 3 Stinespring Theorem, 5 Strong topology, 121 Super-positive map, 64 Support of a map, 10 Symmetric mapping cone, 68

Т

Transpose map, 1 Trivial extension, 40

U

Unextendible product basis, 104

V

Vector state, 34

W

Weak topology, 121